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As Benpres Holdings Corporation moves toward becoming a world
class conglomerate, it has focused investments in leading Philippine
companies such as First Philippine Holdings Corporation that advocates
clean and renewable energy development, and ABS-CBN Broadcasting
Corporation that pioneered citizen journalism in the country as well as
the inter-continental, multi-platform delivery of original digital content
to Filipino communities worldwide. The way forward is clear and bright
as companies within the Benpres group lead the way with marketoriented strategies for growth and sustainability.

ABOUT BENPRES
Benpres Holdings Corporation (PSE stock symbol: BPC) is the controlling
shareholder of leading publicly listed companies First Philippine Holdings
Corporation and ABS-CBN Broadcasting Corporation. It derives its character from
the Lopez family that for nearly 200 years has espoused the values of business
excellence, nationalism and social responsibility.
CORPORATE HISTORY
Benpres was incorporated in 1993 by the Lopez family to serve as the holding
company for investments in major development sectors such as broadcasting
and cable; telecommunications; power generation and distribution; and banking.
It added to its portfolio investments in other basic service sectors but has
since sold its interest in banking, toll roads, information technology, property
development and health care delivery.
Vision
A world class conglomerate committed to investments that improve the lives of
Filipinos
Mission
Benpres will:
1. invest in industries vital to nation-building;
2. build on its strengths and competencies in core power and media
businesses; and
3. provide the highest standard of service and value to its shareholders,
affiliates, regulators, creditors, employees and communities in which it
operates.
Values
In fulfilling its mission to serve all Filipinos, Benpres adheres to the attendant
values of nationalism, integrity, entrepreneurship and innovation, teamwork and
a strong work ethic.

Benpres Holdings
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At a Glance
Revenue

Benpres Holdings Corporation

(in Php Millions)

The flagship holding company of the Lopez family with
core investments in energy pioneer First Philippine
Holdings Corporation and media leader ABS-CBN
Broadcasting Corporation.

24,849
22,307

19,940

• Reduced debt from P16 billion to P3 billion by the
end of 2009, resulting in a one-time net gain of P7.5
billion
• Equity in net earnings of associates rose 6x to P4.198
billion, largely as a result of FPHC reporting net gains
on the partial sale of its equity in Meralco
• Net income attributable to shareholders of the
parent rose 4x to P11.901 billion
2009

4x

2008

2007

Net Income
(in Php Millions)

Net income attributable to
shareholders of the parent in
2009 versus 2008

12,694

US$285M

5,928
3,506

Face value of debt bought
back in 2009
2009

2008

2007

End of Year Debt Level

P7.5B

(Parent Company only, in Php Millions)

Net gain of Benpres from
the extinguishment of
debt in 2009

15,559

15,301

2008

2007

2,944
2009
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ABS-CBN Broadcasting Corporation

First Philippine Holdings Corporation

The largest news and entertainment content
provider in the Philippines that produces multimedia
programming for domestic and international
audiences.

The leading private sector holding company with
core investments in clean power generation and
renewable energy development, a minority stake
in power distribution and strategic investments in
manufacturing and property development.

• Consolidated revenues increased by 11% to P24.85
billion, with consumer sales accounting for 42%
• ABS-CBN Global reached 2.16 million Filipino
viewers overseas and expanded into other
platforms such as direct-to-home in Japan and
cable in Canada
• Logged growths of 7% in EBITDA to P6.514 billion,
23% in net income attributable to shareholders of
the parent to P1.702 billion, and 37% in core net
income to P1.788 billion

• Recorded a net gain of P7.2 billion on the sale
of 20 percent of Meralco
• Sold an option to sell additional 6.7 percent of
Meralco
• Net income attributable to shareholders of the
parent jumped 7x to P8.510 billion

Revenue

Revenue

(in Php Millions)

(in Php Millions)

24,849
22,307
19,940

58,873

60,248
51,213

2009

2008

2009

2007

Net Income

2008

2007

Net Income

(in Php Millions)

(in Php Millions)

1,759

12,853

11,680

1,390
1,271
5,454

2009

2008

2009

2007
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2008

2007

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Fellow shareholders:
To use a famous adage, these have indeed been times that try
men’s souls. The past few years have been challenging, to say the
least, not just to us but to the world economy. But as the right
responses have been made as we persisted not just to survive
these trying times but to regain prosperity, we are about to reap
the benefits of the good results of our efforts.
Thus, we are blessed, and thankful, that we are now able to usher
in a new decade relatively free of heavy debt problems, free of
grave threats to any of our major businesses, profitable across our
portfolio and able to look forward to resuming our entrepreneurial
and pioneering ways. This has come at considerable cost to us, but
that is, perhaps, a fair price to pay in order to extract ourselves
from the war for survival, and to place ourselves in a position
from which we can grow our businesses again. In this regard,
we thank all our stakeholders for keeping the faith and sticking
with us through the turbulence of the past years when we had to
restructure our finances.

Benpres Holdings



2009 Annual Report

THE WAY FORWARD

As our company, Benpres Holdings Corporation (Benpres),
successfully moved toward the resolution of its debt issues in 2009,
it does well to review its portfolio in earnest vis-à-vis its capital
resources and corporate goals.

development and excellence in renewable energy development.

On the other hand, our stake in ABS-CBN has been reduced
from 71 percent as of end-1993 to 57 percent as of end-2009.
Nonetheless, the value of our investment has multiplied many
times over with market capitalization of ABS-CBN increasing from
P16.5 billion to P22.2 billion in the same period, in addition to the
cash dividends paid out to shareholders in 13 out of its 17 years as
a publicly listed company.

Today, Benpres’s principal assets are its stakes in First Philippine
Holdings Corporation (FPHC) and in ABS-CBN Corporation (ABSCBN). These companies, I can say with conviction, are where
we have proven our core competence and remain to be our
strongest suits in facing the merciless onslaught of competition in a
constantly changing business milieu.

Despite tremendous competition in its industry, ABS-CBN has
proven to be strong and resilient, responding innovatively and
honorably versus personnel piracy, programming copycats and
regulatory challenges. Save for a couple of years of consolidation in
the middle of this decade, ABS-CBN has by and large delivered on
its commitments to stakeholders.

From 1993 to 2002 prior to its debt standstill, Benpres invested
P3.7 billion in FPHC to support its expansion in power generation
beginning with Bauang Private Power Corporation, to respond
to the power shortage that crippled industry and stunted the
country’s development. Later, FPHC established First Gas Power
Corporation to pioneer in power generation using natural gas,

Over the years, ABS-CBN has consistently delighted audiences

“The right responses have been made as we persisted not just to
survive these trying times but to regain prosperity, we are about to
reap the benefits of the good results of our efforts.”
with superior programs that offer production values comparable
to the best in the world. This is why it has never relinquished its
nationwide television ratings lead since 1988. In 2009, its programs
again captured the hearts and minds of viewers with ABS-CBN
copping 14 out of the top 15 regular programs of the year.

again in response to the requisite posed by natural gas sellers prior
to developing the country’s natural gas fields.
With a growing power generation portfolio, FPHC organized them
under First Gen Corporation (First Gen), now a recognized leader
in the clean, indigenous and renewable energy sector. First Gen’s
biggest investment is in Energy Development Corporation (EDC),
the country’s pioneer in geothermal energy development.

It has patiently pursued its diversification in the international arena
to serve the needs of ethnic Filipinos living in foreign lands. By the
end of 2009, ABS-CBN Global’s The Filipino Channel counted over
2.16 million Filipino viewers worldwide, continuing to be robust
despite an economic contraction in its major markets. At the core
of this loyal and eager reception is ABS-CBN’s relevant, timely and
distinct news and entertainment content that inspire, uplift and
bring out the best in every Filipino. ABS-CBN International Sales
and Distribution has been instrumental in presenting high quality
Philippine programming in North America, Europe, Australia, Asia
Pacific, and Africa. So globally accepted is ABS-CBN content that
its drama series are subtitled and dubbed in several languages
including English, Turkish, Khmer, Mandarin and French.

While FPHC in 1993 derived its value almost exclusively from its
stake in Meralco, its return to power generation has led this sector
to contribute 82 percent of revenues in 2009.
As a result of sustained investments in FPHC by Benpres, its stake
increased from 29 percent as of end-1993 to 43 percent as of end2009. Benpres has also received P2.1 billion in cash dividends from
FPHC over the years.
In 2009, FPHC refocused its portfolio by reducing its stake in
Meralco and increasing its investment in First Gen. FPHC subscribed
to the latter’s stock rights offering in the amount of P10 billion.
FPHC’s strategy of traversing the clean and green energy route
through First Gen deserves the full support of shareholders as
its power generating assets lead the way toward sustainable

Since 2008, ABS-CBN has paid dividends of up to 50% of the
previous year’s net income, consistent with its corporate policy and
as prescribed in its loan covenants.
In 2009, ABS-CBN worked to institutionalize cooperation among

Benpres Holdings
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Our media and communication companies have tracked and ably responded to all these trends, and more, dictated by their
customers. Synergy and amplification of strengths make good business and technological sense.

its various units, either content developers or delivery platforms.
The consolidation of Sky Cable Corporation (SkyCable) allows ABSCBN to better control the costs of distributing much sought after
programming content, and achieve synergy in functional areas such
as sales and marketing, operations, information technology, legal
and regulatory, human resources and organization, communications
and customer services.

To a large extent, our strategic imperatives and their corresponding
plans have been set.
On the media side of our business, we have purposefully moved to
extract the maximum benefits from offering high quality content on
multiple platforms or delivery channels. This has met with increasing
success as we capture the young, who make up as much as 80
percent of our markets.

The question uppermost in our minds and that of all our
stakeholders is, where do we go from here.

If you have money, or a hot date, or both, you go to a theater to
watch a movie. Otherwise, you download it, store it on your USB
and watch it on your laptop or netbook when it is convenient for
you to do so. If you can’t upload something you want to watch,
then you ask around your Facebook for a friend who has the file
and download it from his external drive. If you want to read a book,
download it on your Kindle…in fact, download ten books or however
many you feel you want to read soon. Who needs paper? Are you
bored waiting for a meeting or appointment? Watch a movie on
your Blackberry. Or do your e-mail. Who needs a laptop? In fact,
what you need most nowadays is connectivity and bandwidth.

Looking ahead, the first thing I would emphasize is that our battle
has shifted to a battle for market dominance. Today, the Lopez Group
remains the market leader in the power and media businesses,
competitor claims notwithstanding, and we will have to fight in order
to maintain that leadership, although we have shifted our activity
from distribution to the generation end of the power business.
There are many powerful business groups entering, or trying to
enter, into our markets. They are all flush with cash and they are
all looking for large-scale investment opportunities. They see the
opportunities where we are – power, infrastructure and media.

Our media and communication companies have tracked
and ably responded to all these trends, and more, dictated
by their customers. ABS-CBN, SkyCable and Bayan (Bayan
Telecommunications, Inc.) continue to work together to gain
efficiencies and ensure that responsive programming reach the
consumer in so-called ‘sticky’ ways. Synergy and amplification of
strengths make good business and technological sense.

We cannot prevent these groups from deploying large amounts
of capital in the pursuit of their own business aspirations. What
we need to show them, however, is that you cannot wrest market
leadership in any business simply by throwing large amounts of
money at it. You have to do it the old-fashioned way, by managing
your people for superior operating performance, by managing
your financial resources and by managing your choice and use of
technology. This is where the Lopez Group will not permit itself to be
beaten. Our adversaries may out-muscle us at times, but we should
never allow them to outperform us. We must at all times maintain
our highest standards of business excellence.

Benpres Holdings

It bears noting that Benpres investees in the media and
communications sector are listening well to the voice of their
customers, hence, their leadership in the digital realm. ABS-CBN
successfully field-tested digital terrestrial television in 2007, and
awaits only government’s decision on which platform will be used
in the Philippines. Aside from improving image clarity, the switch
to digital TV will expand the entertainment choices of viewers as
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ABS-CBN, SkyCable and Bayan continue to
work together to gain efficiencies and ensure
that responsive programming reach the
consumer in ‘sticky’ ways.

ABS-CBN, SkyCable and Bayan continue to work together to gain
efficiencies and ensure that responsive programming reach the consumer
in ‘sticky’ ways.

In the field, First Gen’s subsidiary successfully completed the
rehabilitation and upgrade of Pantabangan-Masiway, raising its
capacity from 112 megawatts to 130 megawatts.

content providers bundle relevant programming on the widercapacity digital channels to include movies, radio, and TV. SkyCable
championed digital encryption to be able to offer the fastest
residential broadband Internet service, as well as such services as
video-on-demand, high definition TV and prepaid cable TV.

local market, both in the sense of Luzon being a local market, and
in the sense of the Philippines being a local market. By winning
EDC, we have already expanded beyond Luzon.
And although it will take considerably more time, we are already
planting the seeds for our international expansion, beyond the
capacity of our local markets to absorb growth. This will take a
lot of capital and it will require choosing the right partners and
locations. That is why we have to go slowly and carefully. But
one thing is now very clear to us. EDC is an acknowledged leader
worldwide in terms of the practical exploitation and management
of geothermal fields. We have the knowhow, the track record and
the people, and we are in great demand as a partner for concession
areas waiting to be explored and developed in such diverse
locations as Chile, Indonesia and Kenya.

On the power side of our business, even as the attacks on our
ownership in Meralco grabbed our attention over the last two
years, so much went on and so much was achieved. After raising
more than US$900 million in 2008 to enable us to bid for and win
EDC, we successfully refinanced close to P20.0 billion of short-term
bridging loans to make the acquisition stick, this at a time when the
global financial markets were spinning out of control. And with the
P15.0 billion rights offering at First Gen at the beginning of 2010,
one that was oversubscribed, we brought our capital structure back
to an acceptable balance, so that we can feel that we are working
for ourselves once again, not for the banks.

Domestically, significant opportunities also exist for our power
business. We have maintained our leadership in power generation
without compromising our commitment to invest only in clean
energy. As we turn over the Bauang diesel plant in July 2010 back
to the government at the conclusion of its BOT (build-operatetransfer) term, our portfolio of power generating plants will be
even greener. We hope to replace Bauang by winning BacMan.

In the field, First Gen’s subsidiary successfully completed the
rehabilitation and upgrade of Pantabangan-Masiway, raising its
capacity from 112 megawatts to 130 megawatts. Another First
Gen subsidiary won the bid for the Tongonan and Palimpinon
geothermal power plants.
We are now well placed and well capitalized to take advantage of
opportunities that we find attractive. Having won the Tongonan
and Palimpinon power plants in Leyte and Negros, First Gen’s next
privatization target will be the BacMan plant in Albay. In this way,
we hope to be able to integrate operation of both the steam fields
and the power plants, improving and optimizing the operation and
output of both, yet protecting them as a renewable resource of
energy.

But we are also getting into wind-generated power in a big
way, with our 85 megawatt wind farm project in Ilocos Norte,
construction of which should get going later this year. Even our
manufacturing investments in joint venture with Sun Power fall
within the renewable energy space.
As EPIRA (the Electric Power Industry Reform Act) is progressively
implemented and as the local power industry is deregulated, as
the Napocor (National Power Corporation) plants are progressively
privatized and as WESM (the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market)
becomes the price barometer for power, as the global price of
oil increases – all of these will combine to change the way our

The principal reason we went for EDC in such an aggressive fashion
was the fact that we wanted a platform from which we could grow
our power generation business beyond the limited needs of the
Benpres Holdings
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
market functions. In some ways, doing business will be more
difficult. Power generators will have to vie in the open market for
fuel and expose themselves to the vagaries of international price
movements. Buyers will be smaller and more fragmented, and
credit and collection risks will have to be managed much better.

Expressway (NLEX) in our defense of Meralco, but we will continue
to look for new opportunities for major infrastructure projects. Our
sale of the NLEX was a respite, not an exit.
We are increasing our investments in First Philec Solar Corporation,
a joint venture with Sun Power, established for the purpose of
slicing the silicon wafers required for the manufacture of solar
panels. Within 2010, we will have installed around 100 machines,
capable of meeting the entire wafer requirement of Sun Power for
its Philippine plants.

On the other hand, price-setting will be much less political and
politicized, we hope. The many market imperfections and the
absence of one monolith buyer like Napocor will make the
Philippines less attractive to large, international carpetbaggers who
are only in it for the money. I like our competitive chances as a local
market leader, here for the long term, able and willing to cultivate
long term relationships with the local market, yet able to compete
with international players in performance efficiency.

We are considering the possibility of establishing a similar plant
in Malaysia, this time to serve Sun Power’s future requirements
for a large plant it is currently constructing in Malacca. Beyond
wafering, we are also looking into the possibility of a backward
integration into the production of silicon ingots for slicing. Such a
process would require a considerable amount of clean and cheap
electric power. One option would be to locate it right beside one of
our geothermal power plants. Another would be to locate it where
power is plentiful and cheap, such as in Brunei.

Where else do we go from here?
Well, the first thing I would point out is that whether we retain
a 6.7% ownership interest in Meralco, or sell down to 5%, it
will remain, value-wise, a very considerable and significant
investment in our portfolio. True, we may not have a controlling
voice in Meralco, but we will continue to have an important voice,
particularly in the context of our relationship with the Metro Pacific
group. It would be erroneous to think that we will now ignore
Meralco. On the contrary, we will continue to watch closely over a
very valuable asset and we will continue to do whatever we can to
protect and support it.

While we view First Philec Solar as a manufacturing investment
that, in a sense, grew out of our electronics manufacturing
business, we are also looking at it as the start of further investment
in the wider renewable energy space. We are of the belief that
solar power, as a clean and renewable source of electricity, will
have a very prominent role to play in the energy mix of the future,
although the extent and nature of that role is still to be clearly
defined. However that role is finally defined, we are determined to
be a player in the market.

Does this mean that we are now virtually out of the power
distribution business? My answer to that would be, not
necessarily. Part of the problem we had with Meralco was that we
could not offer something significantly advantageous or delightful
to the consumer because we had already effectively wrung out as
much productivity and efficiency as we could from the company.
Given its present franchise area and the physical condition of
the infrastructure today, driving systems losses below 9% or
thereabouts is about as efficient as a large Philippine utility can

We have a full plate of challenges before us and I am confident
that we have what it takes to be on top of our game. One of the
tools I am introducing to ensure that we will not be outperformed
is the Balanced Scorecard. It is a good way of setting individual
performance objectives and measuring performance. In its latest
iteration, it goes beyond that. It talks about developing strategic

“We will continue to invest in industries vital to nation-building. At
the same time, we will build on our strengths and competencies in
our core power and media businesses. ”
get. But would this be the case with another, smaller utility with
the potential to grow into a big utility? Probably not. There could
conceivably be opportunities to take over an inefficient utility or
utilities, and create value by getting them to run at the proficiency
level of Meralco. If such opportunities are presented, there is no
reason why we would not seriously consider them.

and operating plans and objectives at corporate, departmental
and individual levels, all aligned and consistent with the strategic
imperatives set by our Boards, and ensuring that these plans and
objectives are executed flawlessly and measured continuously.
We have promulgated the Lopez Credo, a simple iteration of our
core values, those imperishable values that we live by and make us
what we are.

I believe that we also have the track record, the knowhow and
the people to respond in a significant way to the country’s
major infrastructure needs. We had to give up the North Luzon

Benpres Holdings
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On the media side of our business, we have purposefully moved to extract
the maximum benefits from offering high quality content on multiple
platforms or delivery channels. This has met with increasing success as we
capture the young, who make up as much as 80 percent of our markets.

We are increasing our investments in First Philec Solar Corporation, a
joint venture with Sun Power, established for the purpose of slicing the
silicon wafers required for the manufacture of solar panels.

The Lopez Credo enshrines the commitment of Benpres, as well
as the bigger Lopez Group, toward investments that improve the
quality of life of every Filipino. This is why we will continue to invest
in industries vital to nation-building. At the same time, we will build
on our strengths and competencies in our core power and media
businesses. Meanwhile, the journey toward becoming a worldclass conglomerate, as envisioned, means we always must provide
the highest standard of service and value to our stakeholders—
identified as shareholders, affiliates, regulators, creditors and
employees.

The way forward is building on our strengths. Most of all, the
way forward entails patiently inculcating values of nationalism,
integrity, entrepreneurship and innovation, teamwork, and a
strong work ethic throughout the organization. Along with the
institutional practice of business excellence, good governance and
social responsibility, these values are the time-tested paths toward
corporate relevance and sustained success. With these, Benpres
and its investees shall be able to serve the country and its citizens
with honesty, justice and accountability.
Thank you for your confidence in your board and in your
management team.

In the past year, Benpres received not one but two international
awards for corporate governance. In January 2009, it was honored
as “One of the Best in Corporate Governance, Philippines” at The
Asset Asian Awards in Hong Kong. It received honorable mention
ranking as The Asset found corporate governance practices in
Benpres at par with the best Philippine companies. In June, also in
Hong Kong, it received its second international award when it was
recognized by Corporate Governance Asia as among “The Best of
Asia” for continuing to “lead the way in initiating best practices
which provide open, ethical, Asian values, fair spirit and continuing
dialogue with all stakeholders.”

Oscar M. Lopez
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

In October 2009, Benpres became the first holding company in
the country to be certified against the Investors in People (IiP)
Standard, following an assessment by IiP Philippines. Adopted from
the United Kingdom, IiP is a framework for delivering business
improvement through people and is among the tools adopted by
Benpres to concretize the company’s commitment to continuous
improvement.
The institutionalization of business excellence initiatives and
practices in Benpres and in its investees—both holding and
operating units—is one way to ensure that products and services
will continue to be relevant to and preferred by chosen markets.

Benpres Holdings
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LEADING the WAY
Your company has achieved a major breakthrough in its debt
restructuring efforts.

digit growth as its subscription revenues grew by 15% despite an
economic slowdown in most of its major markets. Star Cinema,
meanwhile enjoyed strong box office receipts for the nine movies
it produced in 2009 where two of its movies earned more than
P200 million in ticket sales. SkyCable, 65% owned by ABS-CBN,
also performed within expectations.

In August of 2009, Benpres was able to buy back U$260 million
of its debt from Avenue Capital Group, its single biggest creditor.
This debt buyback, achieved at a 35% discount off face value,
resulted in bringing down outstanding debt from US$327 million
in 2008 to US$65 million by the end of 2009.

SkyCable redefined and grew its cable TV business with the
introduction of several new products. As such, it launched

Your company is committed to building on the strengths of its core
investees, which are leading the way in their chosen markets.”
Funding for the debt buyback came from the sale of your
company’s investments in (1) the toll road business in late
2008, (2) Rockwell Land in August 2009 and (3) shares of Digital
Telecommunications, Inc.

SKYCable Starter, a low-priced product and SKYCable Select, an
a la carte service which allowed it to tap the low-end market.
It also significantly grew its broadband business and as such
captured the high-end segment of the market.

With the P7.5 billion gain from the debt buyback, your company
posted a net income attributable to equity holders of parent of
P11.9 billion, a 4x increase from the previous year’s P2.9 billion.

Bayan, meanwhile, launched the highly successful Lola Techie
campaign primarily for its DSL service but which also built Bayan
as the brand that engages and listens to customers. With the Lola
Techie campaign, Bayan saw DSL subscriptions grow by 45% in
2009. As Bayan grew subscribers for its high-margin products, it
still maintained its traditional landline business. Thus, it ended
the year with a 5% year-on-year increase in total revenues to
P6.6 billion and a 26% improvement in EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) to P2.3 billion.
However, committed payments for restructured debt led to a full
year a net loss of P451.3 million.

Operational Highlights Of Subsidiaries
And Associates

ABS-CBN earned P1.8 billion in 2009 on the back of strong airtime
revenues as it sustained its lead in national ratings and audience
share. Total revenues amounted to P24.8 billion of which airtime
revenues contributed P14.5 billion. Revenue diversification efforts
of ABS-CBN continued to reap gains as direct sales grew 18%
year-on-year to P10.4 billion. ABS-CBN Global delivered double-

Benpres Holdings
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REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Cash Dividends (in Php Mn)

Debt Level (in Php Bn)
GUARANTEED OBLIGATIONS

FPHC
FPII
ABS-CBN
OTHERS

DIRECT OBLIGATIONS
254
82
387

312
201

61

10.4

77
90*

10.3

516

7.1

6.9

8.2

8.7

402
508

TOTAL

508

508

10.0

368

254

9.4

2.9

508

971

1,275

945

823

TOTAL 20.4

19.7

15.3

15.6

2.9

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

*Scrip dividend from Leighton 		
FPII was sold in 2008 		
Others include Rockwell Land & Medical City		

First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC) reported a net
income attributable to equity holders of parent of P8.5 billion in
2009 of which P7.2 billion came from the sale of its 20% equity
in Meralco in July. In November 2009, FPHC entered into an
agreement with Metro Pacific Investments Corp. (MPIC) to grant
MPIC a call option to purchase an additional 74.7 million shares
in Meralco from FPHC, representing 6.7% equity in Meralco.
Upon the exercise of this call option, FPHC will still own 6.7%
of Meralco. With the proceeds from the sale of its equity in
Meralco, FPHC was able to reduce its outstanding debt to P11.5
billion by the end of 2009 from P18.3 billion in 2008.

P823M

Dividends received
by Benpres from
subsidiaries and
affiliates

223M

In 2009, your company received P823 million in cash dividends
from subsidiaries and affiliates.

Number of Meralco
common shares FPHC
sold in 2009

Subsidiary / Associate

P90 each

Price at which Meralco
shares were sold in July 2009

Benpres Holdings

Cash Dividends
(in PHP mn)

ABS-CBN*

402

FPHC

254

Rockwell

49

FPIP**

90

Others

28

Total

823

*Through Lopez, Inc. as interest payments for Convertible and
Nonconvertible Notes
**Scrip Dividend from Leighton
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Bayan saw DSL subscriptions grow by 45% in 2009. As Bayan grew
subscribers for its high-margin products, it still maintained its traditional
landline business.

ABS-CBN Global delivered double-digit growth as its subscription revenues
grew by 15% despite an economic slowdown in most of its major markets.

through inspiring stories that reflect the needs and wants of the
Filipino, ABS-CBN is able to recapture leadership in viewership by
Filipinos both here and abroad.

As at December 31, 2009, the following table summarizes the
contributions of the subsidiaries and affiliates to your company.
Net Income
attributable to
equity holders
of Parent
(in PHP mn)

%
Ownership

BHC Share
(in PHP
mn)

First Holdings

8,510

42.8%

4,092

ABS-CBN*

1,702

57.3%

999

Rockwell**

634

24.50%

108

Subsidiary /
Associate

In the same way, the board is keeping informed of developments
in the energy field where FPHC is heavily invested through First
Gen. In this regard, the key strength the investee brings is a
track record of efficiency and sustainability in managing clean,
indigenous and renewable assets. FPHC is also advancing in the
solar energy field through First Philippine Solar Corporation,
where the applications of business excellence programs in a
factory setting are bearing fruit in terms of filling commitments to
the rising global market for solar power.

*Held through Convertible Notes issued by Lopez Inc. The convertibility
feature of the ABS-CBN Notes qualifies as “potential voting rights” under
PAS 27. After the effect of PDRs, ownership is 58.97%
** Sold to FPHC in August 2009

Your company is committed to building on the strengths of
these core investees, which are leading the way in their chosen
markets. Benpres will continue to provide them with value adding
corporate services in support of their robust performance and
growth.

Leading The Way

As Benpres significantly reduced its debt in 2009, its focus now
is to enhance its value and returns to shareholders. Since the
company entered debt restructuring, it was constrained from
giving benefits to shareholders as creditors were given priority. In
addition, a deficit in its financial accounts prevents declaring any
dividends.

Thank you for your constant support.

Through further restructuring or refinancing of remaining debt,
your company will hopefully be placed in a position where it can
eventually pay cash dividends to stakeholders.
Earlier this year, the company’s board of directors joined the
strategic planning session of key investee ABS-CBN in order to
get a clearer view of the challenges it is facing in the increasingly
competitive industry that is broadcasting. At that session, the
board realized that ABS-CBN’s key strength is its ability to listen
and stay close to its audiences. By fostering deep family ties
Benpres Holdings

Angel S. Ong
President and Chief Operating Officer
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REVIEW of
OPERATIONS
Synergy in Media and Communications

With Benpres Holdings Corporation paring down outstanding
obligations in 2009, it continued to derive value from its
investments in leading Philippine corporations, in particular ABSCBN Broadcasting Corporation (ABS-CBN) and First Philippine
Holdings Corporation (FPHC), both recognized as trailblazers in
their respective markets.

In the media and communications group, ABS-CBN reaped the
fruits of building a strong organization focused on attaining synergy,
rationalizing its cost structure, and strengthening its public service
offerings.
ABS-CBN consolidated associate Sky Cable Corporation
(SkyCable) into its operations leading to seamless cooperation
and greater synergy between multimedia content development
and multiplatform distribution. Better performance is expected
in 2010 with new offerings that will ride on the combined
strengths of ABS-CBN, SkyCable and sister company Bayan
Telecommunications, Inc. (Bayan), counted among the country’s
leading broadband service providers.

Benpres investments in water distribution and in telecommunication
declined in value following the Asian financial contagion in 1997.
In 2002, it declared a standstill on $560M in direct and contingent
obligations. Its exit from Maynilad Water Services Inc. in 2005, and
subsequent buyback of debt funded from the sale of non-core assets,
pared down the debt to $65 million as of end-2009.
Benpres significantly reduced outstanding obligations in 2009
with the settlement of its debt to its biggest creditor, Avenue
Capital Group. The settlement with Avenue Capital Group was
funded from the sale of the company’s interests in First Philippine
Infrastructure Inc., Rockwell Land Corporation (Rockwell Land) and
shares of Digital Telecommunications Philippines Inc. (Digitel).

ABS-CBN posted a core net income of P1.787 billion in 2009, 37
percent higher than its core net income of P1.306 billion in 2008.
After PFRS (Philippine Financial Reporting Standards) 3 adjustments
relating to the consolidation of SkyCable amounting to P85 million,
the reported net income of ABS-CBN amounted to P1.702 billion or
23 percent more year-on-year (YoY).

As a result of lower debt levels as well as one-time gains, Benpres
posted a net income attributable to equity holders of the parent
of P11.9 billion in 2009. This is 4x the P2.9 billion net income
attributable to equity holders of the parent in 2008.

The media conglomerate’s revenue diversification of the company
improved as consumer sales, including SkyCable, grew 18 percent
YoY to P10.386 billion, contributing 42 percent to consolidated
revenues. Consolidated advertising revenues of P14.463 billion
contributed 58 percent as it grew 7 percent YoY. Consolidated
revenues totaled P24.849 billion and was 11 percent better than
the 2008 figure of P22.307 billion. Comparative financial results
include the contributions of SkyCable for the full year 2009 versus
three quarters in 2008.

Benpres booked a one-time gain of P7.5 billion from the
extinguishment of debt. The principal amounts settled with the
Avenue Capital Group amounted to US$252 million and P467
million.
Benpres also benefited from substantial equity in net earnings as
associate FPHC registered gains on the partial sale of its interest in
Meralco.

Benpres Holdings

Listening to the voice of Filipino audiences worldwide allowed
ABS-CBN to expand global coverage and stay on top of national
television ratings throughout the year. TNS National Urban
Philippines TV Audience Ratings showed ABS-CBN maintaining its
lead with strong, story-driven primetime offerings that balance
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The ground-breaking Boto Mo Ipatrol Mo: Ako ang Simula, launched one year
before the 2010 national and local elections, signed up over 60,000 citizenjournalists or boto-patrollers who were subsequently trained by the News and
Current Affairs group in news reporting.

original Filipino productions with adaptations of international
hit series. TNS national households data show that 14 of the top
15 programs in 2009 were on ABS-CBN. TNS is a global market
research company with headquarters in London and operations in
34 countries including China, the biggest market in the world.

24.5%

Benpres stake in Rockwell
Land acquired by FPHC

Strong programming helped ABS-CBN Global deliver double-digit
growth, as subscription revenues grew by 15 percent year-on-year
despite the economic slowdown in most of its major markets. ABSCBN Global’s International Sales and Distribution continued to be
the premier source of Philippine programming in North America,
Europe, Australia, Asia Pacific, and Africa.

P402M

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) of P6.514 billion was 7 percent higher than the 2008
EBITDA of P6.108 billion and translated into a 2009 EBITDA margin
of 26 percent.

ABS-CBN dividend payout in
2009

Benpres’ stronger balance sheet provides an opportunity to improve its
value to shareholders, creditors and associated companies.
The ground-breaking Boto Mo Ipatrol Mo: Ako ang Simula,
launched one year before the 2010 national and local elections,
signed up over 60,000 citizen-journalists or boto-patrollers who
were subsequently trained by the News and Current Affairs group
in news reporting. Thousands of citizen-journalist leads, reports
and coverage in terms of photos, text and video sent by email or
mobile phone attest to the credibility and reach of ABS-CBN.

P58.9B

FPHC’s total revenues with
Firt Gen contributing 82%

ABS-CBN continues to face many challenges, among them telephone
companies moving into content creation and distribution, and
competitors strengthening their own programming. However, the
organization is ready to meet competition head-on by creating even
more relevant and compelling content, containing cost, improving
margins especially for its direct sales businesses, and gaining more
viewers among Filipinos overseas. Group synergy and public service
remain to be key components of its strategy for business leadership.

Benpres Holdings
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As part of its service commitment to customers, Bayan Business, the
corporate solutions arm of Bayan, set quality benchmarks across the industry
by obtaining ISO 9001:2000 certification.

In 2009, SkyCable was relaunched as an information and
communications provider, offering high-speed cable broadband
under the brand Sky Broadband, low-cost international calling with
Sky Voice, while innovating on its SkyCable service with the first
prepaid cable service and the first to offer High Definition content
with SkyCable HD. SkyCable was the first and only provider that
delivered voice, Internet and a diverse selection of compelling
content to enrich and uplift the communication, entertainment and
information needs of the Filipino family.

In terms of its debt obligations under the rehab plan, Bayan paid
a total of P1.42 billion in 2009 for both principal and interest. This
brought the company’s total debt-related payments to more than
P5.92 billion since the rehab plan was implemented in July 2004.
As part of its service commitment to customers, Bayan Business,
the corporate solutions arm of Bayan, set quality benchmarks
across the industry by obtaining ISO 9001:2000 certification.
The ISO certification inspired Bayan to continue innovating as it
pursued a dynamic vision for network business communications.
TVU, an ISO-accredited certification body, found Bayan Business
compliant in the Eight Quality Management Principles that form
ISO 9001:2000, which include leadership, continual improvement
and mutually beneficial supplier relationship. This not only
solidified Bayan’s position as a leading provider of voice and data
solutions, but also assured customers and suppliers that they
could stay competitive with the help of world-class technology.
The ISO 9001:2000 represents a set of standards formulated by
the International Organization for Standardization, a network of
standards institutes spanning 157 countries. It is the definitive
guide for determining whether a quality process system can deliver
products and services that meet customer needs.

Broadband revenues saw an increase of 91 percent over the
previous year as subscriber count doubled to 24,000 year-on-year.
To improve service delivery while further countering the problem
of illegal connections, SkyCable started to roll-out aggressively its
Digital Addressable Box or Digibox to existing customers. With the
Digibox, SkyCable customers could enjoy clearer cable TV viewing
and gain access to additional digital channels. New customers
received the Digibox to take advantage of its digital features.
To widen its reach, SkyCable launched its low-priced postpaid
package, SkyCable280, which offers 22 essential channels for only
P280 per month. Since SkyCable 280 customers also received the
Digibox, they could add more channels on an a la carte basis with
over 30 channels to choose from.
Meanwhile, Bayan posted operating revenues of P6.63 billion, or
a 5 percent increase over the P6.32 billion realized in 2008. Bayan
achieved a 26 percent EBITDA growth to P2.26 billion in 2009 from
P1.76 billion the previous year. This led to P264 million in operating
income, from a loss of P222 million in 2008. The company’s net loss
shrank by 35 percent to P505 million from P777 million YoY.
Bayan’s data business, which includes DSL and other corporate data
services, grew by 28 percent in 2009 to P3.05 billion from P2.39
billion in 2008. Data business revenues accounted for about half of
Bayan’s total revenues. Bayan’s DSL business grew by 27 percent
over the previous year at P1.19 billion, with subscribers close to
100,000 by yearend.

Benpres Holdings

The wireless landline business was flat, growing by 1 percent to
P1.51 billion. Subscriber base stood at about 200,000 at the end of
2009.
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Pushing further synergy, SkyCable and Bayan piloted a video-ondemand service branded as iWantV in February 2010. The service is
provided as an online portal that offers catch-up viewing. It allows
subscribers to watch their favorite ABS-CBN shows at their own
time anytime. SkyCable and Bayan are confident that innovative
initiatives, coupled with the increased penetration of digital cable
and cable broadband, and its unique position of having access
to the latest and must-view content particularly ABS-CBN, would
strengthen further their competitive footing in the information and
communications space.
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In August 2009, FPHC acquired the 24.5 percent stake of Benpres in Rockwell Land for P1.5 billion.

Refocusing the FPHC portfolio

In the interim, MPIC gave First Philippine Utilities Corporation
(FPUC), a wholly owned FPHC subsidiary, an P11.2 billion shortterm loan covered by a promissory note which matures on June
30, 2010. The loan bears an interest rate of 5% per annum and is
secured by Meralco and First Gen Corporation shares held by FPUC.

On July 14, 2009, FPHC completed the sale of 223 million Meralco
common shares, or approximately 20 percent of the latter’s
outstanding common stock, for P20.07 billion or P90 per share. The
transaction was made pursuant to an investment and cooperation
agreement signed between FPHC and Metro Pacific Investments
Corporation (MPIC) on March 13, 2009 wherein both parties
also agreed on certain corporate governance principles, such as
the nomination of directors to the Meralco board. Among other
provisions, the parties are bound to exercise voting rights as a block
to give full effect to the cooperation arrangement in all matters
brought to the shareholders.

Part of the loan proceeds were used to fund additional investments
in First Philec Solar Corporation (FPSC), and to subscribe to the
1:1.756 stock rights offering of FPHC’s principal associate, First
Gen Corporation (First Gen). The rights offering was completed in
January 2010.
FPHC paid P10 billion for First Gen shares offered at P7 each. First
Gen owns natural gas pioneers First Gas Corporation and FGP
Corporation, and controls geothermal energy pioneer Energy
Development Corporation (EDC). FPHC also invested in FPSC, a joint
venture between associate First Philec Corporation and SunPower
Corporation (U.S.), which slices wafers for solar power systems
marketed globally.

FPHC’s one-time net gain from the Meralco sale amounted to P7.2
billion. As a result, FPHC posted a net income attributable to equity
holders of the parent amounting to P8.510 billion, or 7x the P1.192
billion the previous year.
Proceeds of the sale were used to pre-pay certain debt obligations.
FPHC paid down 50 percent of its floating rate corporate notes
totaling approximately P6.9 billion in late July 2009. The notes were
originally due on October 2012 for the dollar tranche and October
2014 for the peso tranche.

FPHC’s recurring net income (RNI) of P1.3 billion outperformed last
year’s restated bottom line of P1.2 billion. Total revenues reached
P58.9 billion from P60.2 billion. First Gen contributed 82 percent of
revenues.

FPHC continued to pay semi-annual cash dividends in favor of
holders of its P4.3 billion-Series “B” perpetual preferred shares,
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the shares. The
FPHC board approved dividend payouts in February and July 2009
totaling P375 million. The preferred shares were listed on the
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on April 30, 2008 and the dividend
rate was fixed at 8.7231 percent for five years, with dividends
payable in arrears semiannually.

The refocusing of the FPHC portfolio allows the company to
support First Gen’s thrust toward sustainable power generation
through the efficient use of clean indigenous fuels, as well as the
development of renewable energy sources. Because environmental
protection and regeneration and energy efficiency and safety are
recognized as vital for sustainability, power produced by First Gen
remains to be the most environment-friendly in the country.
First Gen’s 2,887.4 megawatts account for about 19 percent of the
country’s total installed capacity. Its plants serve all three Philippine
grids - Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao.

In August 2009, FPHC acquired the 24.5 percent stake of Benpres
in Rockwell Land for P1.5 billion. Being related parties, FPHC and
Benpres secured a fairness opinion from a third party for the
transaction. As a result of the acquisition, FPHC now owns 49
percent of Rockwell, while Meralco owns the remaining 51 percent.

Benpres Holdings

18

2009 Annual Report

First Gen’s 2,887.4 megawatts account for about 19 percent of the
country’s total installed capacity. Its plants serve all three Philippine
grids - Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao.

FPHC’s heightened support for investments in manufacturing means it will
be able to ride the global wave toward renewable energy.

Leading the Way Forward

First Gen utilizes mainly indigenous, clean and renewable energy,
except for its Bauang Power Plant which uses bunker fuel. Its
Santa Rita and San Lorenzo plants use natural gas while water
runs the Pantabangan-Masiway and Agusan mini-hydro plants.
EDC, meanwhile, is the country’s largest geothermal producer
and recognized globally for its expertise in sustainable geothermal
energy development.

As Benpres achieved significant debt reduction in 2009, its
stronger balance sheet provides an opportunity to improve its
value to shareholders, creditors and associated companies. From
a previously defensive position, a growth-oriented mode lends
support for its investees in the power sector through FPHC and
in the media and communications sector led by ABS-CBN. The
focus of FPHC associate First Gen remains to be developing clean,
indigenous or renewable energy sources, while the direction for
media and communication is to synergistically expand services and
reach more Filipinos globally.

EDC’s core net income rose 26 percent to P7.38 billion in 2009,
from P5.83 billion in 2008. The significant improvement was
attributed to higher total revenues from steam and electricity
sale and drilling services, more favorable exchange rates, and the
impact of the Renewable Energy Law on accounting treatment.
First Gen has an economic interest of 40 percent in EDC.
As of end-2009, FPHC held a 13.23 percent stake in Meralco. It
maintains a strategic presence in Meralco as it retains a 6.6 percent
stake in the electric utility, after the call option was exercised
by MPIC in March 2010. Under the investment and cooperation
agreement, FPHC will continue to be entitled to one seat in
Meralco’s 11-member board of directors for as long as its interest
does not fall below 5 percent.
FPHC’s heightened support for investments in manufacturing,
particularly for FPSC in solar systems, means it will be able to
ride the global wave toward renewable energy. FPSC enjoys an
enviable position among SunPower suppliers and has used FPHC’s
additional investments to increase capacity as well as to enhance
competitiveness through the rigorous application of leading edge
business excellence tools and financial discipline.

Benpres Holdings
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

A 2009 TNS survey, commissioned by Benpres Holdings
Corporation Group Public Relations and supervised by ABSCBN Research, showed that the public distinctly associated the
Lopez family with helping people and communities, as well as
with delivering quality products and services. The study aimed
to establish how the Lopezes, principal shareholders of the
corporation, are perceived by the general public and special
sectors, namely businessmen, government officials, and opinion
makers that include media and the academe.

company will raise support for educational and livelihood
programs evaluated to be sustainable, with a measurable impact,
and capable of being replicated across communities.

Similar to a number of prominent families in the country, the
Lopezes are strongly associated with being a “provider of
quality products.” However, according to service provider TNS,
the Lopezes are differentiated for their concern for people and
being “in the service of the Filipino.” This translates also to the
perception that the business is “not run purely for profit.” Most
mentions of their concern for people were about their donations
to foundations, charities and institutions, and the general
description, “help the poor.”

On LGFI’s mandate to synergize the group’s various CSR efforts,
a CSR Magna Carta was crafted in consultation with the heads
of foundations and CEOs of the subsidiaries and associates. The
Magna Carta embodies the group’s commitment to Lopez values
and sustainable corporate social responsibility.

Lopez Group Foundation, Inc.

Lopez Group Foundation Inc. (LGFI), established in 2004 as
the coordinative hub for Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
initiatives of the Lopez Group, continued to create group-wide
synergy in its members’ various CSR programs.

It completed its partnership with the USAID-Private Sector
Mobilization for Family Health (PRISM) in September 2009 and
entered into yet another Family Planning in the Workplace
Program partnership for another three years that would start
in 2010. Companies participating in the PRISM family health
program administered by LGFI are ABS-CBN Corporation, Bayan
Telecommunications, Inc., Sky Cable Corporation, Rockwell Land
Corporation, First Balfour, Inc., First Sumiden Circuits, Inc., Energy
Development Corporation, and Meralco.

Among corporate social responsibilty (CSR) projects, Bantay Bata
163, a project of ABS-CBN Foundation, Inc., is the most popular
among all sectors, and is strongly associated with either ABS-CBN
Corporation or the Lopez family.
Going forward, Benpres will invest in CSR projects that are
consistent with its vision to improve the lives of Filipinos. The

ABS-CBN Foundation, Inc.

As it celebrated its 20th year in 2009, ABS-CBN Foundation
Inc. (AFI) proved its mettle and extended its track record for
successful and sustainable interventions as its fully functioning
programs continued to make life better and the future brighter
for Filipino children and their families.
Under AFI’s innovative and resolute stewardship, eMedia,
Bantay Bata 163, Sagip Kapamilya,The Children’s Village, Bantay
Kalikasan, ABS-CBN Bayan Foundation, BayaniJuan (BnJ) and
Kapit Bisig Para sa Ilog Pasig (KBPIP) continue to champion the
wise use of available resources in favor of human development.
Even before typhoon Ondoy caused massive flooding in Metro
Manila and suburbs particularly east and south of the capital, the
AFI co-led KBPIP had been relocating informal dwellers to create
sufficient easement, widen and deepen the metro’s waterways.
BayaniJuan sa Calauan is a 107-hectare resettlement project
of the National Housing Authority that supports the work of
KBPIP. The AFI co-managed site brings together different sectors
to make BnJ in Calauan, Laguna a sustainable community with
homes, livelihood opportunities, educational facilities, and health
services for those relocated.

Benpres Holdings
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in the SERVICEof
the FILIPINO
In line with new trends in technology and 21st century
learning, KCFI is launching its flagship new media initiative
dubbed KCh Online in June 2010. KCh Online is a web-based
learning site intended to deepen the learning of students
through collaboration and interactive content. The site extends
student learning anytime, anywhere through streaming videos,
educational games, quizzes and other activities on the Internet.
Teachers also have the opportunity to interact with their students
as facilitators of learning, and enhance their teaching approaches
through the website.

Sagip Kapamilya (SK) extended help to more than 9,000 families
in the Bicol region that were displaced by the flooding and
landslides triggered by Typhoon Dante in May 2009. With typhoons
Ondoy and Pepeng in September to October 2009, SK received
cash donations of P217.7 million and disbursed P74.7 million for
relief operations. The remaining P143 million was earmarked for
rehabilitation. SK also received P182.7 million worth of in-kind
donations and distributed all goods for relief by yearend.
A total of 688,533 families (approximately 3.4 million individuals)
received relief and rehabilitation assistance, including 34,230
patients served by medical missions. The innovative Kapamilya
Shower-Libre Ligo, which provided free water and toiletries for
baths taken in a roving shower-van, served 3,384 persons for 12
weeks.

Recognizing the pivotal role that teachers play in the learning
environment, KCFI is also initiating a teacher effectiveness
program that would help teachers improve their approaches and
develop a more meaningful connection with their students. The
various topics on teacher effectiveness will be shown through a
soap opera entitled “Faculty Room” which will be premiered in
the coming school year 2010-2011.

Knowledge Channel Foundation, Inc.

Knowledge Channel Foundation Inc. (KCFI) marked its 10th year of
service to the Filipino youth in 2009, by signing a memorandum
of agreement with the Department of Education (DepEd) to
renew their 10-year partnership for the nationwide development
of basic education tools through the Knowledge Channel (KCh).
The agreement was formalized during the 1st Knowledge Channel
Stakeholders Awards in November 2009, where beneficiaries and
partners who have shown outstanding support to Knowledge
Channel were recognized.

Also lined up for the coming school year is KCh’s first animated
series for high school students entitled “K-High.” Aimed at
helping students learn English, Math and Science through socially
relevant issues, K-High features the everyday realities and
adventures that regular students face in their school life.
Together with the “Faculty Room” and “K-High” are more shows
to watch out for such as “Gab to Go,” which tackles English and
History integrated with values and gender equality; “Travel Pinoy”

The Lopezes are differentiated for their concern for people and being
in the service of the Filipino.
KCh is the first and only all-educational channel in the Philippines
with curriculum-based and life skills programming accessible
primarily to the public basic educational system. By end-2009,
KCh was already available to 2.9 million elementary and high
school students in nearly 2,000 schools across the Philippines
through satellite and cable TV.

focusing on Economics and History, and “Agham Aralin,” a threepart series on High School Science.
As KCFI seeks to find ways of connecting more schools, it has also
committed itself to the acquisition and development of more
relevant and engaging content which it will deliver through a
transmedia platform using television, emerging technologies, and
face-to-face interaction.

With its thrust to reach more and teach more Filipino children
and youth, KCFI is aiming to connect 8,000 more schools in the
next 10 years.

Benpres Holdings
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXISTING to LEAD
The board of directors of Benpres is composed of seven
members, two of whom are independent directors.

the Nomination and Election Committee, Compensation and
Remuneration Committee, and Risk and Management Committee;
Board self-assessment of performance and assessment of skills
and training needs of directors; the adoption of a professional
training and development program for employees and officers;
policy on disclosure of related party transactions; confidentiality
and use of material inside information; policy on conflict of
interest; environment; corporate social responsibility; and
stockholder rights.

In 2002, the board of directors of Benpres adopted the company’s
Manual of Corporate Governance to institutionalize corporate
governance principles.
The Board, management, employees, and shareholders believe
that good corporate governance is a necessary component
of sound strategic business management and improves the
economic and commercial prosperity of the corporation and its
stockholders.

Corporate Code of Conduct

In 2006, the Board approved a Corporate Code of Conduct to
govern and guide the actions of all its representatives in dealing
with its publics: shareholders, customers, joint venture partners,
suppliers and service providers, government, and creditors. The
Code covers all directors, employees, consultants, product and
service providers and all persons who act for and in behalf of
Benpres Holdings Corporation. In 2009, the Code was revised to
include additional statements on customers, suppliers and service
providers, and was incorporated into the Revised Manual on
Corporate Governance.

A copy of Benpres’s Manual of Corporate Governance was
submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
on September 2, 2002. It also now forms part of the quality
management system of Benpres as a reference and guide (RMBHC-04-01) for the conduct of all business.
Amendments to the Manual were adopted in 2009 and
submitted to the SEC on October 14, 2009. The Revised Manual
on Corporate Governance incorporated the Corporation’s Code
of Conduct, Vision, Mission, Values and Quality Policy as part of
the Manual; and strengthened provisions on board composition
and meetings; composition, duties and responsibilities of

Board meetings

Regular board meetings are held at least once a month. In 2009,
the Board had 12 meetings.

Attendance of Directors in Board Meetings
Feb 18

Mar 5

Apr 14

May 7

Jun 4

Jun 11 1

Oscar M. Lopez

P

P

P

P

P

P

Manuel M. Lopez

P

P

P

P

P

P

Eugenio Lopez III

P

Angel S. Ong

P

P

P

P

P

Washington Z. Sycip

P

P

P

Felipe B. Alfonso

P

P

P

P

P

Jul 9

Aug.6

Aug 20

Sept 15

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P
P

P

Cesar E.A. Virata2

P

Vicente T. Paterno

3

P

P

P

P

P = Present
1 Organizational Meeting
2 Elected on July 9, 2009
3 Resigned in July 2009
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P

P

P

P

P

P

Oct 13

Dec 8

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Audit Committee

Compensation and Remuneration Committee

The Audit Committee checks all financial reports against its
compliance with both the internal financial management
handbook and pertinent accounting standards, including
regulatory requirements. It performs oversight financial
management functions specifically in the areas of managing
credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the
Corporation, and crisis management. It consists of three Board
members, two of whom are independent directors. The internal
audit group of affiliate First Philippine Holdings Corporation
serves as internal auditor of Benpres. The report of the Audit
Commitee for the year ended 2009 is on page 38.
Cesar E.A. Virata
Manuel M. Lopez
Washington Z. Sycip

The Compensation Committee has established a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of
corporate officers and directors. It has three members, one of
whom is an independent director.
Oscar M. Lopez
Washington Z. Sycip
Cesar E.A. Virata

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee performs oversight financial
management functions specifically in the areas of managing
credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the
Corporation.

Chairman
Member
Member

Nomination and Election Committee

Eugenio L. Lopez III
Felipe B. Alfonso
Angel S. Ong

The Nomination and Election Committee pre-screens and
shortlists all candidates nominated to become a member of
the board of directors. Two members of the committee are
independent Board directors. The following guidelines are used
in determining the eligibility of nominees: the nature of the
business of the corporations in which he is a director; age of
the director; number of directorships/active memberships and
officerships in other corporations or organizations; and possible
conflict of interest.

The executive officers and staff members of Benpres Holdings
Corporation have been implementing a corporate risk
management program since 2002, in line with an enterprise-wide
risk management system championed by Chairman Oscar M.
Lopez.
Risks that may hinder the achievement of corporate goals
and objectives are identified and reviewed annually to ensure
mitigation measures are in place to adequately respond to and
manage such risks.

Chairman
Member
Member

Benpres Holdings

Chairman
Member
Member

Risk Management

The Nomination and Election Committee pre-screens and
shortlists all candidates nominated to become a member of
the board of directors. Two members of the committee are
independent Board directors. The following guidelines are used
in determining the eligibility of nominees: the nature of the
business of the corporations in which he is a director; age of
the director; number of directorships/active memberships and
officerships in other corporations or organizations; and possible
conflict of interest.
Oscar M. Lopez
Washington Z. Sycip
Cesar E.A. Virata

Chairman
Member
Member
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Top Risks

To manage this, the company is in constant communication
with associated companies to obtain updated financial models
of their operations, as well as how such relate to the company.
In addition, key Benpres officers are either elected as member
of the board in associated companies or sit in as observer
in management committee or board meetings of associated
companies to ensure the parent company is kept abreast of the
latest developments in said companies.

In 2009, the following risks were assessed to be most significant
and/or most likely and appropriate mitigation strategies were
prepared and/or implemented to address them:

Capital availability or cash flow (liquidity) risk

This refers to the company’s exposure to the risk of lower returns
on its investments or the necessity to borrow due to shortfalls
in cash or expected cash flows, or variances in their timing. The
restructuring plan is based on cash flows from dividends and
asset sales and these may not come in as expected.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk and
Foreign Currency Revaluation Risk

Volatility in foreign currency exchange rates may expose Benpres
to economic and accounting losses related to direct and indirect
obligations. Extraordinary fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates may affect reported operational profits and
deficit, potentially reducing the ability of associated companies to
declare dividends.

Benpres sold its stake in Rockwell Land Corporation and in
Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc. in August 2009. It bought
back US$260 million in principal debt from its biggest creditor
and continued to look for opportunities to buy back debt at a
discount.

Legal (Shareholder) risk

The risk was reduced by the debt buyback undertaken in 2007,
2008 and 2009, which directly reduced the company’s foreign
currency debt by a total of US$300 million to US$45 million. It is
also monitoring the mitigation plans of associated companies in
relation to foreign currency revaluation risk.

As the success of the restructuring process will be based on
consensual agreement, Benpres management keeps in contact
with creditors. In addition, Benpres continued to pay all its
creditors semi-annual goodwill interest payments in 2009, a
commitment unbroken since 2002. Also by end-2009, Benpres
was able to buy back a total of US$285 million worth of principal
debt.

Other risks

Since beginning the process of debt restructuring in June 2002,
Benpres shareholders have faced the risk of losing control over
the company’s financial rehabilitation should creditors file for
court-assisted corporate rehabilitation.

In 2009, the following risks mandated for assessment by IFRS
(International Financial Reporting Standards) were deemed to be
less significant and/or less likely:

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates may affect the company’s capital
availability or cash flow risk as they expose the company to
variable cash requirements in relation to debt with floating
interest rates. However, this was considered less significant in
2009 given the significant reduction in company debt.

Customer (Stakeholder) wants risk

Requirements of Benpres stakeholders vary and Benpres may be
unable to meet all requirements in a timely manner. Regulators
require compliance with rules and regulations; creditors require
the settlement of all obligations under restructuring; shareholders
require a fair return on their investment; associated companies
require financial and other forms of support; senior management
requires current and accurate information on group-wide
operations; employees require compensation and benefits.

Credit risk

Benpres has advances in associated companies but these
comprise less than 5% of assets. Trade receivables refer to
accounts under ABS-CBN, which are managed at the ABS-CBN
level. Benpres does not offer credit terms for the provision of
services as a holding company.

To mitigate this risk, Benpres continued to work with creditors
for the completion of a consensual financial restructuring.
Completing the process will pave the way to address the needs of
shareholders, employees, and associated companies. Regulatory
and senior management needs were adequately served by
Benpres officers and staff members in 2009.

Capital management

Under the proposed debt restructuring plan, cash is reserved for
debt service and working capital requirements. The company
has no material commitments for capital expenditures and has
not made any major investments since 2002. Proceeds of asset
sales are placed in short-term financial instruments under the
company’s ISO-certified Money Market Operations procedure.

Strategic information/Valuation risk

This refers to the lack of relevant and reliable valuation
information that may preclude prospective investors from making
informed assessments of the value of the firm or any of its
significant segments in a strategic context.

Benpres Holdings
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Audit Committee Statement on External Auditors

In October 2009, Benpres became the first holding company in
the country to be certified against the Investors in People (IiP)
Standard, following an assessment by IiP Philippines.

Benpres paid or accrued audit fees to its external auditors in the
past three years for professional services rendered amounted to
P950,000 in 2009, P850,000 in 2008 and P650,000 in 2007.
SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. was engaged by Benpres solely to audit
its annual financial statements. It was not engaged to provide any
other (non-audit) services for Benpres in 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Quality Management

In 2003, Benpres was certified against the standards of the
International Organization for Standardization or ISO 9001:2000
for the provision of management services in Finance and
Accounting, Public Relations, and Human Resources as a holding
company. In 2006, Benpres was re-certified for the provision of
the same management services, and added Legal Services to the
audited processes in its quality management system since. In
2009, Benpres was again certified compliant with the updated ISO
9001:2008 standard.
As part of its continuing compliance with its ISO-certified quality
management system, it adopted the following Quality Policy:
•

Benpres exists to lead in quality management practices
and adheres to good corporate governance in the
conduct of all business.

•

We shall innovate and continually pursue improvements
in all our services and processes to achieve business
excellence.

Licensed from the IiP-UK, IiP is a framework for delivering
business improvement through people. The IiP initiative is among
the tools adopted by Benpres to concretize the company’s
commitment to continuous improvement and is expected to
elevate its people management practices to global standards.
Championed in the Philippines by the People Management
Association of the Philippines (PMAP) through IiP Philippines,
there were only 16 companies certified under the standard and
officially called “Investors in People” as of the end of 2009.
Benpres received an Award of Excellence at the Asian Multimedia
Publishing Awards (AMPA) 2009 for its group-wide publication,
LopezLink, adding to its growing collection of honors for editorial
and creative excellence. Benpres, which went up against 74
entries from 44 companies in nine countries, was judged as one
of four finalists in the “Innovative corporate communications
in a multimedia world” category. The AMPA is Asia’s premier
publishing awards program that recognizes best multimedia
publishing practices and achievement by communicators in
thought leadership, technical skills and sustainable programs.
It incorporates the Asian Book Publishing Awards and the Asian
Corporate Communications Awards.
Benpres also received an Anvil Award of Merit in 2009 for
LopezLink, published by Benpres Group Public Relations. The
publication also received a Philippine Quill Award of Merit in
2008, as well as an Anvil Award of Merit and a Philippine Quill
Award of Merit in 2007. The Anvil and Quill Awards represent
excellence in the practice of corporate communications,
one of the management services provided by Benpres, as
recognized by the Public Relations Society of the Philippines
and the International Association of Business Communicators,
respectively.

Recognition

Benpres was honored as “One of the Best in Corporate
Governance, Philippines” at The Asset Asian Awards in Hong
Kong in January 2009. Benpres received honorable mention
ranking as The Asset found corporate governance practices in
Benpres at par with the best Philippine companies. The Asset
Corporate Governance Awards covered 10 regions, resulting in
54 awardees: China (11), Hong Kong (8), Taiwan (5), Thailand
(5), South Korea (3), Malaysia (3), Philippines (8), India (3),
Indonesia (4) and Singapore (4).
Benpres received its second international award for corporate
governance when it was recognized by Corporate Governance
Asia (CGA) as among “The Best of Asia” for continuing to
“lead the way in initiating best practices which provide open,
ethical, Asian values, fair spirit and continuing dialogue with
all stakeholders.” Hong Kong-based CGA is the only journal in
the region that specializes in corporate governance, giving it a
unique position to see and observe “those who have contributed
significantly to the overall development of corporate governance
during the past year.”

Benpres Holdings
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Board of Directors

MANUEL M. LOPEZ

ANGEL S. ONG

Director

OSCAR M. LOPEZ
Chairman
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Manuel M. Lopez (aged 67) has been a
director of the company since inception,
and vice chairman since 2001. He is a
in
holder of a Bachelor of Science degree
Business Administration and attended the
Program for Management Development
at the Harvard Business School. He is
the chairman of Meralco and Rockwell
,
Land, and is a director of among others
FPHC and Lopez, Inc. He was president
of Meralco from 1986 to June 2001.
He attended the two-day Briefing
on Corporate Good Governance Risk
Management of the Knowledge Institute
s
of SGV & Co. He owns 18,075,460 Benpre
shares.

President and
Chief Operating Officer

EUGENIO L. LOPEZ III
Director and Treasurer
Eugenio Lopez III (aged 57) has been
director and treasurer of the company since
inception. He received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Political Science from Bowdoin
College and a Masters degree in Business
Administration from the Harvard Business
School. He has been chairman and chief
executive officer of ABS-CBN since 1997,
and is president and director of SkyCable,
and vice chairman of the board of Bayan,
among others. He was president of ABSCBN from 1993 to 1997. He attended the
4th Corporate Governance Scorecard
for Publicly Listed Corporations in the
Philippines of the Institute of Corporate
Directors. He owns 16,829 Benpres shares.

Angel S. Ong (aged 60) was elected
director and president and chief
operating officer in 2004. He was the
Company’s EVP-chief financial officer
from 2001 to 2004 and vice president for
finance from 1998-2000. He received his
Bachelor of Science in Commerce degree
from the Philippine College of Commerce
and a Masters degree in Business
Administration from the University of the
Philippines. He is a director of ABS-CBN,
among others. He attended the five-day
Professional Directors’ Program of the
Institute of Corporate Directors. He owns
1 Benpres share.

The Directors of the Company are elected at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting to hold office
until the next succeeding annual meeting and until their respective successors have been
elected and qualified.

1. Is not a director or officer or substantial stockholder of the corporation or of its related
companies or any of its substantial shareholders (other than as an independent director of
any of the foregoing);

SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16, Series of 2002 defines independent director as “a
person who, apart from his fees and shareholdings, is independent of management and
free from any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived
to, materially interfere with his exercise of independent judgment in carrying out his
responsibilities as a director in any corporation that meets the requirements of Section 17.2
of the Securities Regulation Code and includes, among others, any person who:

2. Is not a relative of any director, officer or substantial shareholder of the corporation, any
of its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders. For this purpose, relatives
includes spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, and the spouse of such child, brother or sister;

Benpres Holdings

3. Is not acting as a nominee or representative of a substantial shareholder of the
corporation, any of its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders;
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Cesar E.A. Virata

Independent Directo

r*

WASHINGTON Z. SYCIP
Independent Director
Washington Z. SyCip (aged 88) has been
a director of the company since 1996. He
is an independent director. He received a
Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce
from the University of Sto. Tomas and a
Master of Science degree in Commerce
from Columbia University. He is chairman
of the board of trustees and board
of governors of the Asian Institute of
Management, and Honorary Chairman of
Euro-Asia Centre, INSEAD of France. He is
Director
also a member of the Board of Overseers
of the Columbia University Graduate
School of Business, and a board member
Felipe B. Alfonso (aged 72) has been
of the Joseph H. Louder Institute of
a director of the company since 1996.
Management and International Studies,
He has been EVP-Human Resource
University
of Pennsylvania. He underwent
Development since January 2001. He
the Mandatory Accreditation Programme
received a Bachelor of Laws degree from
of
the
Research
Institute of Investment
the Ateneo de Manila University and a
Masters degree in Business Administration Analysts Malaysia. He owns 1 Benpres
share.
from New York University. He has been
co-vice chairman of the board of trustees
of the Asian Institute of Management
(AIM) since September 1999. He was
AIM president from June 1990 to 1999.
He attended the Corporate Governance
Course of the Executive Education & Life
Long Learning Center of AIM. He owns 1
Benpres share.

VICENTE T. PATERNO

FELIPE B. ALFONSO

Independent Director*

Vicente T. Paterno (aged
83) was a director
of the company from 2004
until July 2009
when he resigned indepen
dent director.
He received a Bachelor of
Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering
from the
University of the Philippin
es and a Masters
degree in Business Administ
ration (with
distinction) from Harvard
University. He is
the founding chairman of
Philippine Seven
Corporation and chairma
n of Phil-Seven
Holdings Corporation. He
owns 1 Benpres
share.
*Resigned in July 2009

Cesar E.A. Virata (ag
ed 79) was elected
director of the compan
y in July 2009.
He is an independent
director. He
graduated in 1952 from
the University of
the Philippines with
Bachelor of Science
degrees in Mechanica
l Engineering
and in Business Adm
inistration (cum
laude). He received
his Masters degree
in Business Adminis
tration major in
Industrial Managem
ent in 1953 from
the University of Pen
nsylvania. Former
Prime Minister of the
Philippines (19811986) and Chairman
of the Committee
on Finance of the Bat
asang Pambansa
(1978-1986), he is now
chairman and
president of the C. Vira
ta and Associates,
Inc. Management Con
sultants, director
and corporate vice cha
irman of Rizal
Commercial Banking
Corporation, and
concurrently serves
as director and/or
chairman of such org
anizations as
RCBC Savings Bank,
Inc., RCBC Capital
Corporation, Malaya
n Insurance
Company, Inc., Great
Life Financial
Assurance Corporatio
n, BusinessWorld
Publishing Corporatio
n, Mapua Institute
of Technology, and AY
Foundation, Inc.,
among others. He atte
nded the seminar,
Corporate Governanc
e for Bank Directors,
Bank Chairmen & CEO
s of the Institute
of Corporate Directo
rs and the Bangko
Sentral ng Pilipinas.
He owns 1 Benpres
share.
*Elected in July 200
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4. Has not been employed in any executive capacity by that public company, any of its related
companies or by any of its substantial shareholders within the last five (5) years;

or substantial shareholder, other than transactions which are conducted at arms length and are
immaterial or insignificant.”

5. Is not retained as professional adviser by that public company, any of its related companies
or any of its substantial shareholders within the last five (5) years, either personally of through
his firm;

In compliance with Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, the independent directors
of Benpres are not officers nor employees of the corporation, its parent or subsidiaries, and
do not have a relationship with the corporation, which would interfere with their exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities as directors.

6. Has not engaged and does not engage in any transaction with the corporation or with any
of its related companies or with any of its substantial shareholders, whether by himself or with
other persons or through a firm of which he is a partner or a company of which he is a director

Benpres Holdings
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Executive and Corporate Officers
Oscar M. Lopez
Manuel M. Lopez
Angel S. Ong
Eugenio L. Lopez III
Elpidio L. Ibañez
Federico R. Lopez
Felipe B. Alfonso
Salvador G. Tirona
Perla R. Catahan
Pedro A. Chanco III
Nestor J. Padilla
Arthur De Guia
Cielito R. A. Diokno
Enrique I. Quiason
Maria Amina O. Amado

Nestor J. Padilla

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Vice Chairman of the Board
President and Chief Operating Officer
Treasurer
Chief of Staff with rank of
Executive Vice President
EVP – Regulatory Management
EVP – Human Resource Development
SVP – Chief Finance Officer
Group Comptroller with rank of EVP
SVP – Corporate Communications
SVP – Property Development
SVP – Manufacturing
and Portfolio Investments
Vice-President, Human Resources
Corporate Secretary
Compliance Officer

Nestor J. Padilla (aged 55) has been SVP – property development
since January 2001. He received his Bachelor of Science degree
in Business Management from the Ateneo de Manila University.
He has been president and CEO of Rockwell Land since 1995.
He is a member of the board of trustees of the Rockwell Land
Condominium Corporation and is a director of the Rockwell Club.

Arthur A. De Guia

Arthur A. DeGuia (aged 58) has been SVP – manufacturing and
portfolio investments since January 2001. His degrees include
a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the Mapua
Institute of Technology, a Master of Engineering in Industrial
Management from the Asian Institute of Thailand, and a Doctor
of Philosophy in Industrial Engineering from the University of
California (Berkeley). He has also been managing director of FPHC
since 1997.

Federico R. Lopez

Cielito R.A. Diokno

Federico R. Lopez (aged 48) has been EVP – Regulatory
Management for the company since January 2001. He is managing
director of FPHC (since September 1992), president of First
Generation Holdings Corporation (since May 2002), president of
First Gas Holdings Corporation, and a member of the board of
directors of various FPHC subsidiaries.

Cielito R.A. Diokno (aged 55) has been with the company since
1997. She received her Bachelor of Science degree in Psychology
from the University of the Philippines.

Enrique I. Quiason

Enrique I. Quiason (aged 49) has been the corporate secretary of
the company since inception. He received his Bachelor of Science
degree in Business Economics and Bachelor of Laws degree from
the University of the Philippines, and Master of Laws degree in
Securities Regulation from Georgetown University. He is a senior
partner of the Quiason Makalintal Barot Torres & Ibarra Law Office.
He is the corporate secretary of FPHC, Rockwell Land, Bayan,
SkyCable, RCPI, Sierra Tours, and Lopez, Inc. He is also assistant
corporate secretary of ABS-CBN.

Salvador G. Tirona

Salvador G. Tirona (aged 55) joined the Company as Chief Finance
Officer (CFO) in September 2005. He was formerly a director and
the CFO of Bayan. In 2003, he played a critical and strategic role as
CFO of Maynilad Water Services, Inc., particularly in implementing
its rehabilitation plan. He holds a Bachelor degree in Economics
from the University of Ateneo de Manila and a Master of Business
Administration from the same university.

Ma. Amina O. Amado

Perla R. Catahan

Maria Amina O. Amado (aged 46) has been the Compliance
Officer of the Company since 2006. She has been the Assistant
Vice President of Benpres since 2005, and has been its Assistant
Corporate Secretary since 1994. She is also the Corporate Secretary
and Assistant Corporate Secretary of various Benpres subsidiaries
and affiliates. She graduated with an A.B. Political Science degree in
1984 and a Bachelor of Laws degree in 1989 from the University of
the Philippines. She completed the academic requirements for the
Executive Masters in Business Administration program of the Asian
Institute of Management.

Perla R. Catahan (aged 56) has been EVP – Group Comptroller
effective July 2006. She holds a Bachelor of Science in Commerce
major in Accounting from Philippine College of Commerce
and a Master of Business Management from Asian Institute of
Management. She is vice president and comptroller of FPHC and a
member of the board and comptroller of directors of various FPHC
subsidiaries.

Pedro A. Chanco III

Pedro A. Chanco III (aged 60) has been SVP–Corporate
Communications since January 2001. He was vice president for
group public relations from 1995-2000. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Journalism from the University of the Philippines and
completed the Senior Business Economic Program of the University
of Asia and the Pacific.
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Family Relationships

There are no other family relationships among the directors and
officers listed above except for the following: Messrs. Oscar M.
Lopez and Manuel M. Lopez are brothers; and Mr. Eugenio Lopez
III is the nephew of Messrs. Oscar and Manuel Lopez.

Significant Employees

The names mentioned above make significant contribution to
the business and all employees are expected by the Company
to make their own contributions necessary to meet its
organizational goals.

Involvement of Directors and Officers in Certain
Legal Proceedings

The Company is not aware of any bankruptcy proceedings filed
by or against any business of which a director, person nominated
to become a director, executive officer, or control person of the
Company is a party of which any of their property is subject.
The Company is not aware of any conviction by final judgment
in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject
to a pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, of any of
its director, person nominated to become a director, executive
officer, or control person.
The Company is not aware of any order, judgment, or decree not
subsequently reversed, superseded, or vacated, by any court of
competent jurisdiction, domestic, or foreign, permanently or
temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting
the involvement of a director, person nominated to become a
director, executive officer, or control person of the Company
in any type of business, securities, commodities, or banking
activities.
The Company is not aware of any findings by a domestic or
foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the
Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or
foreign exchange or electronic marketplace or self regulatory
organization, that any of its director, person nominated to
become a director, executive officer, or control person has
violated a securities or commodities law.

Benpres Holdings
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity
and Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information

Names

Benpres common stock principally trades on the Philippine Stock
Exchange.
					
		
Stock Prices
High
Low
2010
First Quarter
P3.65
P2.65
2009
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

P1.34
2.22
3.80
4.10

P1.02
1.12
1.96
3.35

2008
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

P4.55
2.85
1.64
1.40

P2.34
1.04
0.97
0.96

2007
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

P4.40
5.30
5.70
4.80

P2.20
3.40
3.30
3.65

%

7,089,114

0.15%

Andrew Ramon L.
Montelibano

6,089,604

0.13%

Albert N. Enriquez

5,000,000

0.11%

Lopez Inc.

3,894,830

0.09%

Cora Ng Or

3,800,000

0.08%

Jordana Eden Montelibano

3,561,901

0.08%

Raphaela L. Gana

2,700,000

0.06%

Quality Investment &
Sec. Corp. A/C#017003

2,683,000

0.06%

Lao Bun Thiam &/or
Janet Dy Lao

2,280,000

0.05%

Elpidio Ibanez

1,834,217

0.04%

Dividend Information
The Company is authorized to pay dividends on the shares in
cash, in additional shares, in kind, or in a combination of the
foregoing. Dividends paid in cash are subject to approval by
the Board and no stockholder approval is required. Dividends
paid in the form of additional shares are subject to approval by
the Board and holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding
capital stock of the Company. Holders of outstanding Shares on
a dividend record date for such Shares will be entitled to the full
dividend declared without regard to any subsequent transfer of
such Shares.

Shareholder Information

There were no dividends declared for years 2009, 2008 and 2007.

The number of shareholders of record as of December 31, 2009
was 10,639. Common shares outstanding as of December 31,
2009 were 4,581,544,408.

As of December 31, 2009, Deficit (negative retained earnings) at
the Parent Company level restricts the ability to pay dividends on
common equity.

Top 20 stockholders as of December 31, 2009:
Names

No. of Shares

Manuel M. Lopez

No. of Shares

%

Lopez, Inc.

2,411,585,715

52.64%

PCD Nominee Corp.

1,272,074,656

27.77%

PCD Nominee Corp.

616,671,945

13.46%

Paul Gerard B. Del Rosario

85,351,000

1.86%

Croslo Holdings Corporation

11,512,687

0.25%

Manuel M. Lopez
&/or Ma. Teresa Lopez

10,985,000

0.24%

Oscar M. Lopez

8,597,182

0.19%

Lucio Yan

7,450,000

0.16%

Siao Tick Chong

7,128,500

0.16%

Ma. Consuelo R. Lopez

7,092,225

0.15%

Benpres Holdings
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Control And Compensation Information
Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners as at December 31, 2009

As of December 31, 2009, the Company knows of no one who beneficially owns in excess of 5% of the Company’s common stock except
as set forth in the table below:

*
*

(1) Title of Class

(2) Name and address
Record/beneficial owner

(3) Amount and nature of
beneficial ownership (indicate by
“r” or “b”)

Common

Lopez, Inc.
5/F Benpres Building, Meralco Avenue,
Ortigas Center, Pasig City

(4) % of class

2,421,213,702 r *

52.84%

Lopez, Inc. is the holding company of the Lopez family. It is owned by the respective holding companies of the family of the late Eugenio Lopez, Jr.,
Oscar M. Lopez, Manuel M. Lopez and Presentacion L. Psinakis.
Lopez, Inc. issued Shares Purchase Rights (SPURs) to certain holders which give the holders thereof the right to delivery and/or sale of common shares
of Benpres and other rights relating to certain rights (other than voting rights) benefits, distributions, payments, securities or any other property
attributable to or derived from the shares.

Security Ownership of Management as at December 31, 2009
1) Name beneficial owner

(2) Position

(3) Amount and nature of
beneficial ownership

(4) Citizenship

(5) Percent owner
of class

8,611,991 (direct)
7,457,025 (indirect)

Filipino
Filipino

0.19%
0.16%

7,090,460 (direct)
10,985,000 (indirect)

Filipino
Filipino

0.15%
0.24%

16,829 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Oscar M. Lopez

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

Manuel M. Lopez

Vice Chairman

Eugenio Lopez III

Treasurer

Felipe B. Alfonso

Director

1 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Washington Z. Sycip

Independent Director

1 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Cesar E.A. Virata

Independent Director

1 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Angel S. Ong

President and
Chief Operating Officer

1 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Perla R. Catahan

Group Comptroller

10,000 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Enrique I. Quiason

Corporate Secretary

67,317 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Pedro A. Chanco III

Senior Vice PresidentCorporate Communications

7,712 (direct)

Filipino

–%

Arthur de Guia

Senior Vice PresidentManufacturing and Portfolio
Investment

621,000 (direct)

Filipino

0.01%

Elpidio L. Ibanez

Chief of Staff

1,834,217 (direct)

Filipino

0.04%

Federico R. Lopez

Executive Vice PresidentRegulatory Management

2,857 (direct)
2,000 (indirect)

Filipino
Filipino

–%
–%

Salvador G. Tirona

Chief Finance Officer

–

Filipino

–%

Nestor J. Padilla

Senior Vice PresidentProperty Development

–

Filipino

–%

Cielito R.A. Diokno

Vice President-Human Resources

–

Filipino

–%

Maria Amina O. Amado

Compliance Officer

–

Filipino

–%

36,706,412 (direct)

Filipino

0.85%

All directors and executive
officers as a group

There have not been any arrangements that have resulted in a change in control of the Company during the period covered by this
report. The Company is not aware of the existence of any voting trust arrangement among the shareholders.

Benpres Holdings

31

2009 Annual Report

CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Parent of the Registrant and the Voting Securities Owned
Parent

No. of Shares Held

Lopez, Inc.
*

% to Total

2,421,213,702*

52.84%

9,624,230 shares representing 0.21% are covered by the SPURs issued by Lopez, Inc. to certain holders which give the holders thereof the right
to delivery and/or sale of common shares of Benpres and other rights relating to certain rights (other than voting rights, distributions, payments,
securities or any other property attributable to or derived from the shares.

The Company retains the law firm of Quiason Makalintal Barrot Torres and Ibarra for legal services. During the last fiscal year, the
Company paid Quiason Makalintal Barrot Torres and Ibarra, of which Mr. Enrique I. Quiason is a senior partner, legal fees which the
Company believes to be reasonable for the services rendered. During the last three years, Quiason Makalintal Barot Torres and Ibarra
rendered legal services in connection with the Balance Sheet Management Plan.

Executive Compensation

Information as to the aggregate compensation paid or accrued during the last two fiscal years and to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year to
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and four other most highly compensated executive officers follows (in million Php):
Year
Chief Executive Officer and four most highly
compensated executive officers:
Oscar M. Lopez
Manuel M. Lopez
Eugenio Lopez OOO
Angel S. Ong
Salvador G. Tirona (2009)
Cielito R.A. Diokno (2008)

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Bonus

Others

2008

24.67

15.43

–

2009

27.75

10.58

–

2010E

31.91

16.20

–

Year
All officers and directors
as a group unnamed

Salary

Salary

Bonus

Others

2008

37.00

17.40

–

2009

40.33

14.67

–

2010E

46.38

18.27

–

The directors receive standard per diem of P10,000 per board meeting. Salaries, bonuses and other allowances are drawn from their
respective companies who are the beneficial owners of the shares they represent.
There are no other arrangements or consulting contracts on which any director is compensated, whether directly or indirectly.
The directors do not have employment contracts. Their term of office is one year. The stockholders elect the members of the board
of directors during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.
There is no compensatory plan or arrangement for the termination, resignation, or retirement of a member of the Board.
There were no warrants or options earned in 2009, 2008 and 2007.
Details of any repricing of warrants and options - not applicable.
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Compliance with Leading Practice in
Corporate Governance
The Company has adopted a Manual of Corporate Governance to institutionalize corporate governance principles. A Compliance Officer
has been appointed who reports to the Board of Directors and monitors compliance of corporate governance matters. The Board of
Directors has created an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee and a Compensation and Remuneration Committee in accordance
with its Manual of Corporate Governance.
The Board, management, employees, and shareholders believe that good corporate governance is a necessary component of sound
strategic business management and improves the economic and commercial prosperity of the corporation and its stockholders.
The Audit Committee checks all financial reports against its compliance with both the internal financial management handbook and
pertinent accounting standards, including regulatory requirements. It performs oversight financial management functions specifically in
the areas of managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the Corporation, and crisis management. It consists
of three Board members, two of whom are independent directors. The internal audit group of an affiliate serves as internal auditor of
Benpres.
There were no deviations from the Manual of Corporate Governance reported during the year. The Company pursues initiatives to
improve corporate governance of the Company such as risk management and improvement of internal auditing processes.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
• Management’s Discussion and Analysis Of Results Of
Operations and Financial Condition
• Report of the Audit Committee
• Statement of Management’s Responsibility
for the Financial Statements
• Independent Auditor’s Report
• Financial Statements
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Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Results of Operations and
Financial Condition
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company that is
incorporated to this Annual Report by reference. Such Consolidated
Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

Development Corporation and Professional Services, Inc. (The
Medical City).

Key Performance Indicators

As a holding company, Benpres receives revenues from asset
sales and dividends from investees. Hence, the key performance
indicator with the most direct impact on Benpres is the net income
of investees. In 2009, the financial performance of investees was
within expectations. It received a total of P823 million in dividends
from investees ABS-CBN Broadcasting Corporation, First Philippine
Holdings Corporation and Rockwell Land Corporation. In August 2009,
Benpres sold its stake in Rockwell Land Corporation and shares of
Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc. (Digitel), which were part of its
portfolio in 2008.

Results of Operations of Benpres Holdings Corporation
(Benpres) and its Subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2009 compared with December 31, 2008

Subsidiary and Associates

ABS-CBN’s net income remained strong at P1.759 billion, from P1.390
billion in 2008. Consolidated revenues were up by 11 percent YoY to
P24.849 billion from P22.307 billion. Despite weak TV adspend, ABSCBN’s airtime revenues were flat, shedding just 7 percent year-onyear to P14.463 billion from P13.511 billion.
First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC) registered consolidated
revenues of P58.873 billion in 2009. This is slightly lower than the
P60.248 billion in consolidated revenues the previous year. Net
income attributable to equity holders of the Parent was P8.510 billion
or 7x the P1.192 billion the previous year.

Benpres

Benpres Holdings Corporation (Benpres) posted consolidated
revenues of P24.849 billion in 2009, 11 percent more than 2008
consolidated revenues of P22.307 billion. Net income attributable
to equity holders of the Parent reached to P11.901 billion or 4x
the P2.920 billion the previous year, while net income grew 3.6x
to P12.694 billion from P3.506 billion. The bottomline results were
primarily due to a P7.5 billion-gain on the extinguishment of debt as
Benpres bought back the equivalent of P12.615 billion in principal
debt. The buyback led to the reversal of accrued interest and
financing charges, and lower debt levels resulted in lower finance
costs (-15 percent) year-on-year (YoY) and higher interest income (+93
percent).
Also contributing to the higher net income was the company’s
share in earnings of First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC),
which substantially increased because of the sale of its 20 percent
ownership (common stock) in Meralco. Equity in net earnings of
associates rose 6x to P4.198 billion from P650 million YoY, as FPHC
reported an P8.957 billion gain on the sale of investments in shares of
stock. FPHC sold 223 million Meralco shares in 2009 for P20.07 billion.
It sold an additional 74.7 million Meralco shares, or 6.6 percent of
Meralco, in March 2010 for P22.41 billion.
Gain on sale of investments decreased by 92 percent to P277 million
on the sale in 2009 of company’s stakes in Rockwell Land Corporation
and Digitel. This compares with a gain on sale of P3.337 billion from
the sale in 2008 of its interests in First Philippine Infrastructure
Benpres Holdings

Airtime (+7 percent) and Sales and services (+19 percent), Sale of
goods (+2 percent) and License fees (no change YoY) represent ABSCBN Broadcasting Corporation (ABS-CBN) revenues consolidated into
Benpres. General and administrative expenses (+17 percent), Cost of
sales and services (+18 percent), Production costs (2%), and Agency
commissions, incentives and co-producers’ share (+5 percent) also
reflect ABS-CBN accounts.
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Bayan Telecommunications, Inc. (Bayan) had total revenues of
P6.63 billion, 5 percent higher than P6.32 billion the previous year.
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization or
EBITDA increased by 26 percent to P2.22 billion from P1.76 billion.
Operating income recovered to P264 million from a loss of P222
million in 2008. Net loss decreased by 35 percent to P505 million from
P777 million, while Bayan remained current on its restructured debt
obligations. Bayan paid P452 million in principal and interest in 2009,
bringing total debt payments to P4.67 billion since July 2004 when its
rehabilitation plan was approved by the Court.

Liquidity and Capital Resources of Benpres
(Consolidated) for the year ended December 31, 2009
compared with December 31, 2008

As of December 31, 2009, the company’s total assets stood at
P54.031 billion, 3 percent lower than P55.677 billion as of end-2008.
Current assets decreased by 30 percent to P12.415 billion from
P17.791 billion, the P5.31 billion-Notes receivable (-100 percent)
and P583 million-Available-for-sale (AFS) investments-current (-100
percent) were used to buy back debt. Cash and cash equivalents
rose by 5 percent with ABS-CBN incurring new debt. Trade and other
receivables (+12 percent), Program rights and other intangible assets
(-34 percent), Inventories (-25 percent) and Other current assets-net
(+24 percent) represent ABS-CBN assets consolidated into Benpres.

2009 Annual Report

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Noncurrent assets increased by 10 percent to P41.616 billion from
P37.886 billion, with most items representing ABS-CBN accounts as
follows: Investments in and advances to associates (+22 percent);
Property and equipment (no change); Goodwill (+11 percent);
Program rights and other intangibles (+16 percent); Deferred tax
assets (+6 percent); AFS-investments-noncurrent (+27 percent);
Investment properties (-5 percent); and Other noncurrent assets (no
change).

(In Millions)

Long-term
Commercial Papers
(LTCP)
Eurobond
7.875% Notes
BayanTel

PhP

US$

875

1,514

45

150

–

167

Results of Operations of Benpres Holdings Corporation
(Benpres) and its Subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared with December 31, 2007
Benpres

Benpres Holdings Corporation (Benpres) registered consolidated
revenues of P22.31 billion in 2008, 12 % better than P19.94 billion in
2007. Net income, however, decreased by 41% to P3.51 billion from
P5.93 billion the previous year. Net income attributable to the equity
holders of the Parent amounted to P2.92 billion (-45%) compared to
P5.37 billion in 2007.

Total stockholders’ equity at yearend increased by 78 percent to
P29.628 billion from P16.623 billion. Unrealized gain on fair value
adjustments of AFS investments (-80 percent), Share in equity
adjustment from translation (-18 percent) and Share in unrealized
gain on fair value of AFS investments (-50 percent) represent accounts
of associates FPHC (for First Gen Corporation) and ABS-CBN (for
SkyCable) consolidated into Benpres.

Airtime (-1%), Sales and services (+56%), Sale of goods (+17%) and
License fees (-100%) represent ABS-CBN Broadcasting Corporation
(ABS-CBN) revenues while General and administrative expenses
(+23%), Cost of sales and services (+52%), Production costs (-3%),
Agency commissions, incentives and co-producers’ share (-2%), and
Other income (-100%) reflect primarily ABS-CBN accounts.
Foreign exchange losses amounted to P2.21 billion, versus the
previous year’s foreign exchange gains of P3.24 billion. The peso
depreciated against the dollar in 2008, closing the year at P47.52,
from P41.28 at the end of 2007 and P49.03 at the end of 2006.

Retained earnings grew 4x to P15.640 billion from P3.739 billion,
given the net income posted in 2009.
In 2009, Benpres voluntarily made payments on its direct and
contingent obligations that are covered in its proposed Balance Sheet
Management Plan (BSMP). Pending agreement with its creditors on
the BSMP, the company offered to make payments semi-annually
based on the following rates:

Equity in net earnings of associates plunged by 77% to P650.00
million from 2007’s P2.84 billion, as First Philippine Holdings
Corporation (First Holdings) posted a 73% decline in profits on the
back of high finance costs related to its higher debt levels during the
year, as well as foreign exchange losses.

At 6-month LIBOR plus a spread of 1.0% on all of its US
dollar obligations but shall not exceed 6% p.a.; and
At 6-month PDST-F rate plus a spread of 1.0% on all of its
peso obligations but shall not exceed 9% p.a.

Gain on sale of investment in an associate (+100%) of P3.33 billion
represents the sale of the company’s 49% stake in FPIDC.
Generally low interest rates paid on debt in 2008 accounted for the
decrease in Finance costs (-4%), and increase in interest income
(+11%).

As of December 31, 2009, Benpres had US$45 million and P875
million in direct and contingent obligations.

Benpres Holdings

US$

Contingent Obligations

Trade and other payables decreased by 19 percent to P10.127 billion.
Of this amount, P2.507 billion accounts for the accrual of interest on
Benpres’s remaining obligations (lower debt) based on contracted
rates. The rest of the item or P7.620 billion represents ABS-CBN
trade and other payables. Also ABS-CBN accounts are the following
items: Interest-bearing loans and borrowings-net of current portion
(+10 percent); Accrued pension obligation (no change); Deferred tax
liabilities (-19 percent); and Other noncurrent liabilities (+50 percent).

2.

PhP

At Dec 31, 2008

Direct Obligations

Estimated liabilities from guarantees and commitments was
extinguished with the buyback of debt in 2009 from the Avenue Asia
Group and other creditors, and Current portion of interest-bearing
loans and borrowings decreased by 64 percent for the same reason.
Income tax payable shed less than 1 percent.

1.

At Dec 31, 2009
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Associates

from P18.98 billion with the sale of Benpres’s stakes in Professional
Services, Inc. (The Medical City) and FPIDC during the year.

ABS-CBN’s net income remained strong at P1.39 billion, 9% up from
P1.27 billion in 2007. Consolidated revenues were up by 12% YoY to
P22.31 billion from P19.94 billion. Despite weak TV adspend, ABSCBN’s airtime revenues were flat, shedding just 1% year-on-year to
P13.51 from P13.60 billion.
First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC) registered consolidated
revenues of P78.57 billion in 2008. This is slightly higher than the
P55.00 billion in consolidated revenues the previous year. Net income
attributable to equity holders of the Parent was at P1.19 billion, lower
by 73 % from P4.48 billion in 2007.
Bayan Telecommunications, Inc. (Bayan) had total revenues of P6.32
billion, 15% higher than P5.52 billion the previous year. Earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization or EBITDA
decreased by 75% to P1.10 billion YoY from P4.37 billion. Revenue
growth was driven by an 11% gain in voice services to P3.8 from P3.37
billion, with a 123% hike for Bayan Wireless Landline.
Sky Cable Corporation (SkyCable) posted a 37% decline in net profits
YoY to P112 million from P178 million (before Deferred Income Tax
Set-up of P376 million), mainly driven by higher financing costs and
due also to significant investments in deploying its digital platform
which affected its depreciation expenses. Consolidated EBITDA,
however, grew to P911 million from P874 million.
Rockwell Land Corporation revenues were flat at P3.51 billion, up
by 1% from P3.47 billion the previous year. This was attributed to a
strong growth in residential condominium sales which accounted
for 80% of total revenues. The balance was contributed by retail and
cinema operations. Net income increased by 27% YoY to P603 million
from P476 million. Total assets grew by 1%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources of Benpres
(Consolidated) for the year ended December 31, 2008
compared with December 31, 2007

As of December 31, 2008, the company’s total assets stood at P55.68
billion, 15% higher than P48.35 billion as of end-2007. Current assets
increased by 57 % to P17.79 billion from P11.36 billion, as Cash and
cash equivalents rose by 43% with ABS-CBN incurring new debt.
Notes receivables of P5.31 billion accounts for Benpres’s investment
in Red Vulcan papers. Red Vulcan holds shares in Energy Development
Corporation on behalf of First Holdings associate First Gen. Trade and
other receivables (+2%), Program rights and other intangible assets
(+43 %) and Other current assets (-29%) represent ABS-CBN assets
consolidated into Benpres.

Trade and other payables added 15% to P12.48 billion. Of this
amount, P5.86 billion accounts fir the accrual of interest on Benpres’s
obligations based on contracted rates on principal debt, a 14%
increase from P4.52 billion in 2007. The rest of the item or P6.62
billion represents ABS-CBN trade and other payables. Also ABS-CBN
accounts are the following items: Income tax payable (9x); Interestbearing loans and borrowings-net of current portion (+54%); Accrued
pension obligation (+98%); Deferred tax liabilities (+100%); and Other
noncurrent laiabilities (4x).
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings increased by 27%, representing
unrealized foreign exchange losses, as the principal debt was revalued
at a less favorable peso-dollar rate as of end-2008.
Total stockholders’ equity at yearend increased by 3% to P16.62
billion from P16.15 billion. Unrealized gain on fair value adjustments
of available-for-sale (AFS) investments fell by 65% with the decline in
the market value of Digitel stock to P0.96 per share as of end-2008
from P1.84 per share as of end-2007. Share in equity adjustment
from translation (+61%) and Share in unrealized gain on fair value of
AFS investments (-70%) represent accounts of associates FPHC (for
First Gen Corporation) and ABS-CBN, respectively, consolidated into
Benpres.
Retained earnings grew by 4.6x to P3.746 billion from P819 million,
given the net income posted in 2008.
In 2008, Benpres voluntarily made payments on its direct and
contingent obligations that are covered in its proposed Balance Sheet
Management Plan (BSMP), pending agreement with its creditors
(see Note 1b of the consolidated Financial Statements, attached and
incorporated herein by reference).

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There are no changes in and disagreements with the external
auditors on accounting and financial disclosures.

Noncurrent assets increased by 2% to P37.89 billion from P36.99
billion, with most items representing ABS-CBN accounts as follows:
Long-term receivables (-100%); Property and equipment (+53%);
Goodwill (15x); Program rights and other intangibles (+30%); Deferred
tax assets (3x); and Other noncurrent assets (+58%). Investments in
and advances to associates-net decreased by 25% to P14.27 billion
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Report of the Audit Committee
For the year ended December 31, 2009

To Our Stockholders:
The purpose of the Audit Committee (Committee) is to represent and assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
by reviewing the financial information which will be provided to the shareholders and others, the system of internal controls which
management and the Board of Directors have established, the performance and selection of independent accountants, and the
Company’s audit and financial reporting and risk management processes. The Committee operates under a written Audit Committee
Charter.
As of December 31, 2009, the Committee has three members comprising of two independent directors and one executive director. Its
Chairman, an independent director, attended the last two annual general stockholders’ meeting.
The Committee had six meetings in 2009, three of which included separate executive sessions of the Committee with the audit
engagement partner of the independent registered public accounting firm, the internal auditor, management and among the Committee
members themselves relative to the review and approval of the independent auditors’ plan and the audited financial statements for
2009. The other three meetings relate to the regulatory periodic financial filings and the risk management plan presentations.
In accordance with its charter, the Committee reviewed and approved the independent auditors’ plan for the audit of Benpres’ 2009
financial statements, including the critical issues related to the audit of the financial statements as presented by the audit engagement
partner.
The Committee reviewed the Company’s annual audited financial statements and related disclosures, including (a) the quality as
well as acceptability of the accounting principles applied in the financial statements and (b) new accounting standards, significant
estimates, judgments, uncertainties and accounting policies relating to significant financial statement items and discussed them with
the independent auditors and with management, which has the primary responsibility for the financial statements. The Company’s
independent auditor is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of the company’s audited financial statements with the
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.
This report is respectfully submitted on behalf of the Committee of the Board.

Cesar E.A. Virata
Chairman, Audit Committee
April 12, 2010
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Statement of Management’s
Responsibility for Financial Statements

The management of Benpres Holdings Corporation is responsible for all information and representations contained in the consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2009. The financial
statements have been prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and reflect amounts that are based on the
best estimates and informed judgment of management with appropriate consideration to materiality.
In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal controls to ensure
that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities
are recognized. The management likewise discloses to the company’s audit committee and to its external auditors: (i) all significant
deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect its ability to record, process, and report financial
data; (ii) material weaknesses in the internal controls; and (iii) any fraud that involves management or other employees who exercise
significant roles in internal controls.
The Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements before such statements are approved and submitted to the
stockholders of the Company. SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have examined the
consolidated financial statements of the Company in acccordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and have expressed their
opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination, in their report to the Board of Directors and Stockholders.

OSCAR M. LOPEZ
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Angel S. Ong
President and Chief Operating Officer

Salvador G. Tirona
Salvador G. Tirona
SVP - Chief Finance Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Statements
Financial Position
BENPRES
HOLDINGSof
CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31
2008
2009

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 6, 32 and 33)
Notes receivable (Notes 7, 32 and 33)
Trade and other receivables - net (Notes 8, 25, 26, 32 and 33)
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets - current (Notes 15, 32 and 33)
Inventories - at net realizable value (Note 9)
Program rights and other intangible assets - current (Note 17)
Other current assets (Notes 10 and 33)
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Investments in and advances to associates - net (Notes 1, 4, 12 and 25)
Property and equipment - net (Notes 3, 13 and 20)
Investment properties - net (Note 14)
AFS financial assets - noncurrent (Notes 15, 32 and 33)
Program rights and other intangible assets - noncurrent (Note 17)
Goodwill (Notes 4 and 16)
Deferred tax assets (Note 31)
Other noncurrent assets - net (Notes 18, 22 and 25)
Total Noncurrent Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Notes 19, 20, 25, 32 and 33)
Income tax payable
Current portion of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
(Notes 1, 20, 25, 32 and 33)
Estimated liabilities from guarantees and commitments
(Notes 1, 12, 25, 32 and 33)
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - net of current portion
(Notes 1, 20, 25, 32 and 33)
Accrued pension obligation (Note 22)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 31)
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 19 and 21)
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Equity
Capital stock (Note 23)
Additional paid-in capital
Unrealized gain on AFS financial assets (Note 15)
Cumulative translation adjustments (Notes 32 and 33)
Share in equity adjustment from translation of an associate (Note 12)
Share in unrealized gain on AFS financial assets of associates (Note 12)
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Minority Interests (Note 23)
Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

(Amounts in Millions)

=4,454
P
–
5,722
–
169
949
1,121
12,415

P4,222
=
5,310
5,105
583
226
1,440
905
17,791

17,336
15,135
63
470
2,524
2,373
642
3,073
41,616
P
=54,031

14,267
15,169
66
371
2,171
2,144
603
3,095
37,886
=55,677
P

=10,127
P
487

=12,482
P
490

3,558

9,774

–
14,172

6,905
29,651

8,352
790
512
577
10,231

7,594
792
633
384
9,403

4,581
6,766
59
(80)
(4,366)
4
15,640
22,604
7,024
29,628
=
P54,031

4,581
6,766
299
(113)
(5,317)
8
3,739
9,963
6,660
16,623
=55,677
P

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Statements
of Income AND SUBSIDIARIES
BENPRES HOLDINGS
CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

2009

Years Ended December 31
2008
2007

(Amounts in Millions, Except Earnings Per Share Amounts)

REVENUE
Airtime
Sales of services
Sale of goods
License fees (Note 34)

=14,463
P
9,865
521
–
24,849

=13,511
P
8,283
513
–
22,307

P
=13,605
5,298
489
548
19,940

2,819

2,676

2,701

22,030

19,631

17,239

6,287

6,154

6,493

6,744

5,698

3,002

8,999

7,779

7,744

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
General and administrative expenses
(Notes 8, 13, 22, 25, 26 and 34)
Gain on extinguishment of debt (Notes 12 and 20)
Gain on sale of investments - net (Notes 12 and 15)
Finance costs (Notes 20, 30 and 33)
Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 12)
Interest income (Notes 6, 7, 11 and 30)
Other income (expense)
(Notes 10, 11, 12, 18, 25, 30 and 34)

(6,721)
7,522
277
(1,461)
4,198
377

(5,741)
498
3,337
(1,713)
650
195

(5,736)
194
79
(1,793)
2,841
175

188
4,380

(464)
(3,238)

3,421
(819)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

13,379

4,541

6,925

972
63
1,035

957
40
997

=
P12,694

=3,506
P

=
P5,928

=11,901
P
793
=12,694
P

=2,920
P
586
=3,506
P

=
P5,365
563
=
P5,928

P2.5976
=
2.5959

P0.6373
=
0.6371

P
=1.171
1.170

LESS AGENCY COMMISSIONS, INCENTIVES
AND CO-PRODUCERS’ SHARE (Note 29)
NET REVENUE
PRODUCTION COSTS
(Notes 13, 17, 22, 25, 27 and 34)
COST OF SALES AND SERVICES
(Notes 13, 17, 22, 25, 28 and 34)
GROSS PROFIT

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX
(Note 31)
Current
Deferred
NET INCOME
Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
Minority interests
Earnings per Share attributable to Equity Holders
of the Parent (Note 24)
Basic
Diluted

799
(114)
685

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Benpres Holdings

43

*SGVMC213025*�
2009 Annual Report

Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Statements
Comprehensive
Income
BENPRES
HOLDINGSof
CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2009

Years Ended December 31
2008
2007
(Amounts in Millions)

NET INCOME

=3,506
P

=
P5,928

920
33

(2,070)
58

(2,835)
(160)

20

(54)

13

(985)

(592)

(214)

745
733
–
–
–

49
(2,609)
–
–
–

76
(3,120)
89
(30)
59

733

(2,609)

(3,061)

=
P12,694

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Share in equity adjustment from translation of an associate
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Share in unrealized loss on fair value adjustments of AFS
financial assets of associates
Unrealized gain on fair value adjustments
of AFS financial assets (Note 15)
Realized loss on fair value adjustments
of AFS financial assets (recognized in current income)
Cash flow hedges (Note 33)
Income tax effect
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME,
NET OF TAX
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX

P
=13,427

=897
P

P
=2,867

Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Minority interests

=12,641
P
786

P274
=
623

P
=2,346
521

=13,427
P

=897
P

P
=2,867

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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At January 1, 2008
Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared by a subsidiary
Decrease in minority interests (Note 23)
Acquisition of treasury shares of a subsidiary
At December 31, 2008

At January 1, 2009
Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared by a subsidiary
Acquisition of treasury shares of a subsidiary
Increase in minority interests (Note 23)
At December 31, 2009

P
=4,581
–
–
–
–
P
=4,581

Capital Stock
(Note 22)

= 4,581
P
–
–
–
–
= 4,581
P

Capital Stock
(Note 23)

P
=6,766
–
–
–
–
P
=6,766

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

P
= 6,766
–
–
–
–
P
= 6,766

(P
= 113)
33
–
–
–
(P
= 80)

(P
= 5,317)
951
–
–
–
(P
= 4,366)

=
P8
(4)
–
–
–
=
P4

=
P842
(543)
–
–
–
=
P299

(P
=172)
59
–
–
–
(P
=113)

(P
=3,204)
(2,113)
–
–
–
(P
=5,317)

=
P57
(49)
–
–
–
=
P8

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Share in
Unrealized
Unrealized
Share
Gain on
Gain on
Fair Value
in Equity
Fair Value
Adjustments
Adjustment
Adjustments
of AFS
Cumulative
from
of AFS
Investments
Translation
Translation
Investments
(Note 12)
(Note 12)
Adjustments
(Note 15)
(Amounts in Millions)

P
= 299
(240)
–
–
–
=
P59

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Share
Share in
in Equity
Unrealized
Unrealized
Adjustment
Gain on
from Gain (Loss) on
Additional AFS Financial
Cumulative
Translation AFS Financial
Assets
Paid-in
Assets
Translation of an Associate
(Note 12)
(Note 15) Adjustments
(Note 12)
Capital
(Amounts in Millions)

FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS IN THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

BENPRES
HOLDINGS
ANDended
SUBSIDIARIES
For
each of
the threeCORPORATION
years in the period
December 31, 2009
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

=
P819
2,920
–
–
–
P
=3,739

Retained
Earnings
(as restated)

P
= 3,739
11,901
–
–
–
=
P15,640

Retained
Earnings

P
=9,689
274
–
–
–
P
=9,963

Total

P
= 9,963
12,641
–
–
–
P
= 22,604

Total

P
=16,154
897
(275)
(101)
(52)
P
=16,623

Total Equity

P
= 16,623
13,427
(285)
(177)
40
P
= 29,628

Total Equity

*SGVMC213025*�

P
=6,465
623
(275)
(101)
(52)
P
=6,660

Minority
Interests
(Note 23)

P
= 6,660
786
(285)
(177)
40
P
= 7,024

Minority
Interests
(Note 23)

At December 1, 2007
Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared by a subsidiary
Acquisition of treasury shares of a subsidiary
Decrease in minority interests (Note 23)
At December 31, 2007

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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P
=4,581
–
–
–
–
P
=4,581

Capital Stock
(Note 23)
P
=6,766
–
–
–
–
P
=6,766

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
=
P980
(138)
–
–
–
=
P842

(P
=70)
(102)
–
–
–
(P
=172)

(P
=419)
(2,785)
–
–
–
(P
=3,204)

=
P51
6
–
–
–
=
P57

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Share in
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gain on
Gain on
Share
Fair Value
Fair Value
in Equity
Adjustments
Adjustments
Adjustment
of AFS
of AFS
Financial
Financial
from
Cumulative
Assets
Assets
Translation
Translation
(Note 12)
(Note 15)
Adjustments
(Note 12)
(Amounts in Millions)

-2-

(P
=4,546)
5,365
–
–
–
=
P819

Retained
Earnings

=
P7,343
2,346
–
–
–
P
=9,689

Total

P
=13,584
2,867
(149)
(127)
(21)
P
=16,154

Total Equity

*SGVMC213025*�

P
=6,241
521
(149)
(127)
(21)
P
=6,465

Minority
Interests
(Note 23)

Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Statements
of Cash Flows
BENPRES HOLDINGS
CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2009

Years Ended December 31
2008
2007
(Amounts in Millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax
Adjustments for:
Gain on extinguishment and acquisition of debt (Note 20)
Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 12)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 13 and 17)
Finance costs (Note 30)
Interest income (Note 30)
Gain on sale of investments (Notes 12 and 15)
Net unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains)
Reversal of estimated liabilities from guarantees
and commitments (Note 30)
Reversal of allowance (provision) for impairment losses
on investments and advances to related parties - net
(Note 30)
Others
Operating income before working capital changes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables
Pension liability (Note 22)
Net cash flows from operations
Payments of income taxes
Net cash flows from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of:
Investment in an associate (Note 12)
AFS financial assets
Property and equipment
Notes receivable (Note 7)
Additions to:
Notes receivable (Note 7)
Property and equipment (Notes 14 and 36)
Intangible assets (Notes 16 and 36)
Investments and advances
Acquisitions of minority interests (Note 4)
Cash acquired from business combination (Note 4)
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent assets
Dividends and interest received from associates (Note 12)
Interest received
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities

= 13,379
P
(7,522)
(4,198)
3,558
1,461
(377)
(277)
13

=4,541
P

=
P6,925

(498)
(650)
3,269
1,713
(195)
(3,337)
2,428

(194)
(2,841)
2,498
1,793
(175)
(79)
(3,360)

–

(1,082)

–

–
1
6,038

(22)
213
6,380

(241)
593
4,919

(632)
(347)

310
(538)

(74)
(55)

452
(18)
5,493
(611)
4,882

(1,099)
242
5,295
(1,000)
4,295

(1,237)
178
3,731
(359)
3,372

1,500
676
89
5,310

5,861
600
78
–

–
(2,365)
(970)
–
–
–
73
303
392
5,008

(5,310)
(2,142)
(954)
–
(1,354)
837
(636)
577
127
(2,316)

–
104
33
–
–
(708)
(1,073)
(425)
(27)
–
(974)
1,064
175
(1,831)

(Forward)
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2009

Years Ended December 31
2008
2007
(Amounts in Millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Availments of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Payments of:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance costs
Estimated liabilities from guarantees
and commitments
Decrease in:
Other noncurrent liabilities
Minority interests
Payments for the termination of cross currency swaps
and interest rate swaps (Note 33)
Net cash used in financing activities

=1,300
P

=2,756
P

=
P3,295

(4,549)
(1,179)

(1,243)
(1,141)

(2,569)
(748)

(5,215)

(7)

(1,203)

(964)
–

(98)
(5)

–
(599)

(393)
(1,721)

2
–
–
(9,641)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

249

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(17)

1,380
(120)

(180)
173

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

4,222

2,962

2,969

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

=
P4,454

=4,222
P

=
P2,962

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Benpres Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

NotesBENPRES
to Consolidated
StatementsAND SUBSIDIARIES
HOLDINGS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information and Status of Operations
a. Corporate Information
Benpres Holdings Corporation (Benpres or the Parent Company) is incorporated in the
Philippines. The Parent Company is involved in management and investment holdings of
subsidiaries and associates. The subsidiaries are mainly involved in the business of
broadcasting and entertainment. The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to as “the Company”. The Company’s associates are involved in
telecommunications, and power generation and distribution. The Company disposed of its
equity interests in an associate involved in real estate development and roads and tollways in
2009 and 2008, respectively (see Notes 12b and 12c).
The Parent Company is a 52.84% owned subsidiary of Lopez, Inc. (Lopez), a Philippine entity
and the ultimate parent company.
The common shares of the Parent Company were listed in November 1993 and have since
been traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).
The registered office address of the Parent Company is 4th Floor, Benpres Building, Meralco
Avenue, Pasig City.
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors (BOD) on April 12, 2010, as reviewed and recommended for approval by the Audit
Committee on March 22, 2010.
b. Balance Sheet Management Plan (BSMP)
In 2002, the Parent Company defaulted on its principal and interest payments on its long-term
direct obligations (see Note 20) and had guarantees and commitments to Bayan
Telecommunications Holdings Corporation (Bayantel), an associate (see Note 12d).
The BSMP was created by the Parent Company in June 2002 to address all the outstanding
financial obligations of the Parent Company, including its guarantees and commitments to
Bayantel. The BSMP involves a series of activities, including restructuring of debt and
disposal of non-core assets, with the aim of reducing the outstanding financial obligations of
the Parent Company.
Under the BSMP, all the outstanding financial obligations of the Parent Company as of
May 31, 2002 were proposed to be restructured and since December 2002, the Parent
Company has been making good faith semi-annual interest payments on its financial
obligations. Interest for the US dollar obligations is based on 6-month LIBOR rate plus 1%
and for the Philippine Peso obligation is based on 6-month PDST-F rate plus 1%, while
interest paid on indirect obligations are treated as advance payment of principal based on the
original contracted terms.
On March 13, 2003, the stockholders granted full authority to the BOD to negotiate with the
creditors without the need for prior approval from the stockholders. The BOD has the
authority to take all actions and matters necessary and desirable for the restructuring of the
Parent Company’s financial obligations under the BSMP. The Parent Company appointed
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-2Ferrier Hodgson Corporate Advisory (WA) Pty Ltd. as its financial adviser to assist the Parent
Company in addressing its long-term direct and indirect obligations. To facilitate the overall
process for the financial restructuring of the Parent Company, the Benpres Creditors’
Committee was formed by the creditors. On December 19, 2008, the Parent Company
circulated to its creditors a Term Sheet containing Primary Financial and Commercial Terms
and Obligations for the restructuring of Benpres financial obligations (Term Sheet). The
primary financial terms of the restructuring include the following, among others:
�

Bullet payments of the principal amount of the Existing Obligations on Principal
Repayment Date that is 12.5 years from Effective Date (the date on which such Signing
Creditors’ accept the terms and conditions set out in the Term Sheet), subject however to
the Parent Company’s right to refinance its outstanding obligations or conduct Debt
Buyback in its sole and absolute discretion in any amount and at any time up to and
including the Principal Repayment Date.
The Existing Obligations include the long-term direct and indirect obligations of the
Parent Company.

�

Interest will be fixed at 4% per annum (gross of tax) for US$ Obligations and fixed at 7%
per annum (gross of tax) for Philippine Peso Obligations.

�

Subject to availability of cash, the Parent Company may make an offer to buyback all or
any part of the Existing Obligations at a price that is no more than 60% of the principal
amount.

�

Priority of cash flows for payment of debt is in the following order: (1) operating
expenses; (2) interest payments due to creditors; (3) any buyback proposal at the Parent
Company’s discretion, and; (4) bullet principal repayment on the Principal Repayment
Date.

Pursuant to the Term Sheet, the Parent Company may endeavor to dispose of its investments
in associates.
In connection with the BSMP, the Parent Company disposed of certain non-core assets or
equity interests in various investments and settled certain borrowings:

�

In 2007, the Parent Company officially exited from the business of Maynilad Water
Services, Inc. (Maynilad Water) and wrote off the guaranteed obligations of the Parent
Company. Maynilad Water was a subsidiary of the Company until July 20, 2005, when
the Company lost its power to govern the financial and operating policies of Maynilad
Water pursuant to the delivery to the Rehabilitation Receiver of Maynilad Water of an
irrevocable proxy appointing Metropolitan Water Works and Sewerage System (MWSS)
or any of MWSS’s authorized representative as its proxy to attend, in the Company’s
stead, all meetings of Maynilad Water, and to vote all of the Benpres shares, specifically
for the purpose of carrying out, or ensuring the completion of the capital restructuring of
Maynilad Water.

�

In November 2007, the Parent Company and Lopez together settled the US$43 million
worth of debt held by Asian Infrastructure Fund (AIF), of which they are co-obligors. The
debt was settled for US$32 million with the Parent Company paying US$26 million and
Lopez paying US$6 million (see Note 12d).
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In 2008, the Parent Company disposed of its equity interest in First Philippine
Infrastructure, Inc. (FPII) to Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (MPIC) (see Note
12c) and certain AFS investments (see Note 15).

�

In 2009, the Parent Company disposed of its equity interest in Rockwell Land Corporation
(Rockwell) to First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC) (see Note 12b) and all its
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets in Digital Telecommunications Philippines, Inc.
(Digitel) (see Note 15).

�

On August 21, 2009, the Parent Company purchased from Avenue Capital Group,
US$252 million and =
P467 million of principal of its own debts or debts guaranteed by it,
at an overall price of 65% of the principal amount of those debts. The purchase price was
settled in full. In 2009, the Parent Company purchased US$23 million, of its 7.875%
Notes from various creditors, at an overall price of 60% of the principal amounts. The
Parent Company also purchased from various creditors P
=178 million of Long-term
Commercial Papers (LTCP) at 60% of the principal amount (see Note 20).

Long-term direct obligations of the Parent Company that are due for payment as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 amounted to P
=2,950 million and P
=8,642 million, respectively
(see Note 20). As of April 12, 2010, four (4) creditors holding US$5.3 million (P
=245 million)
of outstanding debt accepted the Term Sheet.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Parent
Company will continue to operate as a going concern even if there exists some uncertainty in
the restructuring of the remaining debt of the Parent Company.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
derivative financial instruments and AFS financial assets that have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Parent Company. All values are rounded to the nearest million peso,
except when otherwise indicated.
Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards Council (FRSC). PFRS includes statements named PFRS, Philippine Accounting
Standards (PAS), and Philippine Interpretations issued by the FRSC.
Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for
the following new, amended and improved PFRSs and Philippine Interpretations which were
adopted as of January 1, 2009.
New Standards and Interpretations
�
�
�

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised)
PFRS 8, Operating Segments
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�
�

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers

Amendments to Standards
�
�
�
�
�
�

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1 Amendments Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on on Liquidation
Amendments to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and
PAS 27 Amendments - Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate
Amendments to PFRS 2 Amendments - Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
Amendments to PFRS 7 Amendments - Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
Improvements to PFRS (2008)
Improvements to PFRS (2009), with respect to the amendment to the Appendix to PAS 18,
Revenue

Standards or interpretations that have been adopted and that are deemed to have an impact on the
financial position or performance of the Company are described below.
�

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of
changes in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes
in equity presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity. In addition, the standard
introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of recognized income
and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Company has
elected to present two linked statements.

�

Amendments to PFRS 8, Operating Segments
PFRS 8 replaced PAS 14, Segment Reporting, upon its effective date. The Company
concluded that the operating segments determined in accordance with PFRS 8 are the same as
the business segments previously identified under PAS 14. PFRS 8 disclosures are shown in
Note 5, including the related revised comparative information.

�

PFRS 7 Amendments - Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
The amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, require additional
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements related
to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three-level fair
value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognized at fair value. In addition, a
reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for level 3 fair value measurements
is now required, as well as significant transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The
amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to
derivative transactions and financial assets used for liquidity management. The fair value
measurement disclosures are presented in Note 33. The liquidity risk disclosures are not
significantly impacted by the amendments and are presented in Note 32.
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PAS 18, Revenue
The amendment adds guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an
entity is acting as a principal or as an agent. The features to consider are whether the entity
(a) has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service; (b) has inventory risk; (c) has
discretion in establishing prices; and (d) bears the credit risk.
The Company has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria. The revenue
recognition policy has been updated accordingly.

Standards and Interpretations Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2009
The Company will adopt the following standards and interpretations enumerated below when
these become effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption
of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its
financial statements.
New Standards and Interpretations
�

PFRS 3, Business Combinations (Revised), and PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements (Amended)
The revised standards are effective for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009 with
earlier applications permitted. PFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the
accounting for business combinations occurring after this date. Changes affect the valuation
of non-controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and
subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in
stages. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognized, the reported results in
the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results. PAS 27 (Amended) requires
that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted
for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will
no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the
amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the
loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes introduced by PFRS 3 (Revised) must be applied
prospectively while PAS 27 (Revised) must be applied retrospectively subject to certain
exceptions. These will affect future acquisitions and transactions with minority interest.

�

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
This interpretation, effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2012, covers
accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of
real estate directly or through subcontractors. The interpretation requires that revenue on
construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, except when such contract
qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts or
involves rendering of services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of
completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and
where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis will
also be accounted for based on stage of completion.
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Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners
This interpretation is effective for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009 with early
application permitted. It provides guidance on how to account for non-cash distributions to
owners. The interpretation clarifies when to recognize a liability, how to measure it and the
associated assets, and when to derecognize the asset and liability.

Amendments to Standards
�

Amendments to PAS 39 - Eligible Hedged Items
The amendment to PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, effective
for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009, clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial instrument
as a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in
particular situations.

�

Amendments to PFRS 2 - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
The amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payments, effective for financial years beginning on
or after January 1, 2010, clarify the scope and the accounting for group cash-settled sharebased payment transactions.

Improvements to PFRS 2009. The omnibus amendments to PFRSs issued in 2009 were issued
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The amendments are
effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2010, except when otherwise stated.
The Company has not yet adopted the following amendments and anticipates that these changes
will have no material effect on the financial statements.
�

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, clarifies that the contribution of a business on formation of a
joint venture and combinations under common control are not within the scope of PFRS 2
even though they are out of scope of PFRS 3 (Revised). The improvement is effective for
financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

�

PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that the
disclosures required in respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5. The disclosure requirements
of other PFRS only apply if specifically required for such non-current assets or discontinued
operations.

�

PFRS 8, Operating Segments, clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be
reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the chief
operating decision maker.

•

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, clarifies that the terms of a liability that could
result, at anytime, in its settlement by the issuance of equity instruments at the option of the
counterparty do not affect its classification.

•

PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, explicitly states that only expenditure that results in a
recognized asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities.
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PAS 17, Leases, removes the specific guidance on classifying land as a lease. Prior to the
amendment, leases of land were classified as operating leases. The amendment now requires
that leases of land are classified as either ‘finance’ or ‘operating’ in accordance with the
general principles of PAS 17. The amendments will be applied retrospectively.

•

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets, clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill,
acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as defined in PFRS 8 before
aggregation for reporting purposes.

�

PAS 38, Intangible Assets, clarifies that if an intangible asset acquired in a business
combination is identifiable only with another intangible asset, the acquirer may recognize the
group of intangible assets as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful
lives. It also clarifies that the valuation techniques presented for determining the fair value of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are not traded in active markets are
only examples and are not restrictive on the methods that can be used. The improvement is
effective for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

•

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, clarifies the following:
-

that a prepayment option is considered closely related to the host contract when the
exercise price of a prepayment option reimburses the lender up to the approximate present
value of lost interest for the remaining term of the host contract.

-

that the scope exemption for contracts between an acquirer and a vendor in a business
combination to buy or sell an acquiree at a future date applies only to binding forward
contracts, and not derivative contracts where further actions by either party are still to be
taken.

-

that gains or losses on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction that subsequently results
in the recognition of a financial instrument or on cash flow hedges of recognized financial
instruments should be reclassified in the period that the hedged forecast cash flows affect
profit or loss.

�

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives, clarifies that it
does not apply to possible reassessment at the date of acquisition, to embedded derivatives in
contracts acquired in a business combination between entities or businesses under common
control or the formation of joint venture. The improvement is effective for financial years
beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

�

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation, states
that, in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, qualifying hedging instruments may
be held by any entity or entities within the group, including the foreign operation itself, as
long as the designation, documentation and effectiveness requirements of PAS 39 that relate to
a net investment hedge are satisfied. The improvement is effective for financial years
beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

Change in Presentation of Consolidated Statement of Income. In 2009, the Company changed the
presentation of its consolidated statement of income to present gross profit. The 2008 and 2007
consolidated statements of income were revised to conform with the 2009 presentation.
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The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company as of
December 31 each year. Control is normally evidenced when the Parent Company owns, either
directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of an entity’s capital stock.
The following are the subsidiaries, which the Parent Company has direct control of, as of
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

ABS-CBN Broadcasting Corporation (ABS-CBN)
and Subsidiaries (see Note 4)*
Bayanmap Corporation (Bayanmap)

Country
of Incorporation
Philippines
Philippines

Principal Activities
Broadcasting and film
distribution
Information service
provider

Functional
Currency
Philippine peso

Percentage
of Ownership
57.3

Philippine peso

51.0

* After the effect of Philippine Depository Receipts (PDRs) convertible to common shares, percentage of ownership is 58.97% in 2009,
58.5% in 2008 and 58.3% in 2007.

The following are the entities in which the Parent Company has indirect control through its
subsidiary, ABS-CBN, as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:
Place of
Company
Incorporation
ABS-CBN Global Ltd.(ABS-CBN Cayman Islands
Global)(a)(h)
ABS-CBN Europe Ltd.
United Kingdom
(ABS-CBN Europe)(b)(h)
ABS-CBN Japan,
Japan
Inc.(ABS-CBN Japan)(c)(h)
Dubai, UAE
ABS-CBN Middle East
FZ-LLC(ABS-CBN
(h)
Middle East)
ABS-CBN Middle East LLC(h) Dubai, UAE
E-Money Plus, Inc.
Philippines

Functional
Principal Activities
Currency
Holding company
United States Dollar
(USD)
Cable and satellite
Great Britain Pound
programming services
(GBP)
Cable and satellite
Japanese Yen (JPY)
programming services
Cable and satellite
USD
programming services

ABS-CBN Global Hungary Kft.
(ABS-CBN Hungary)(d)(h)(j)
ABS-CBN International(e)(h)

Budapest, Hungary

ABS-CBN Australia Pty. Ltd.
(ABS-CBN Australia)(e)(h)(i)
ABS-CBN Telecom North
America, Inc.(e)(h)(i)
ABS-CBN Canada, ULC
(ABS-CBN Canada)(e)(h)(i)
ABS-CBN Global
Remittance Inc.(d)(h)(i)
ABS-CBN Global Netherlands
B.V.(ABS-CBN
Netherlands)(d)(h)
ABS-CBN Center for
Communication Arts, Inc.(f)
ABS-CBN Global Cargo
Corporation(d)
ABS-CBN Film Productions, Inc.
(ABS-CBN Films)
ABS-CBN Interactive, Inc.
(ABS-CBN Interactive)
ABS-CBN Multimedia, Inc.
(ABS-CBN Multimedia)
ABS-CBN Integrated and Strategic
Property Holdings, Inc.
ABS-CBN Publishing, Inc.
(ABS-CBN Publishing)
Culinary Publications, Inc.

Victoria, Australia

California, USA

California, USA

Indirect Ownership
Through ABS-CBN
2008
2007
2009
100.0 100.0 100.0
100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

Trading
Services - money
remittance
Holding company

USD
Philippine Peso

100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

USD

100.0

–

–

Cable and satellite
programming services
Cable and satellite
programming services
Telecommunications

USD

100.0

98.0

98.0

Australian Dollar
(AUD)
USD

100.0

98.0

98.0

100.0

98.0

98.0

Canadian Dollar
(CAD)
USD

100.0

98.0

98.0

100.0

–

–

Amsterdam,
Netherlands

Cable and satellite
programming services
Services - money
remittance
Intermediate holding and
financing company

European Monetary
Union (EUR)

100.0

–

–

Philippines

Educational/training

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

USD

100.0

–

–

Philippines

Non-vessel operations
common carrier
Movie production

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

Services - interactive media Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

Digital electronic content
distribution
Real estate

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

Print publishing

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippines

Print publishing

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

70.0

Canada
California, USA
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Company
ABS-CBN Shared Service Center
PTE. Ltd.(h)(k)(l)
Creative Programs, Inc. (CPI)

Place of
Incorporation
Singapore
Philippines

Professional Services for
Television & Radio, Inc.
Sarimanok News Network, Inc.

Philippines
Philippines

Star Recording, Inc.

Philippines

Star Songs, Inc.
Studio 23, Inc. (Studio 23)

Philippines
Philippines

Principal Activities
Services-support
Content development and
programming services
Services - production

Functional
Currency
Singapore Dollar
(SGD)
Philippine Peso

Indirect Ownership
Through ABS-CBN
2008
2007
2009
–
100.0 100.0
100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso

100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

TV Food Chefs, Inc.

Philippines

Roadrunner Network, Inc.
(Roadrunner)
Sky Cable Corporation
(Sky Cable)(n) (see Note 4a)
Bright Moon Cable
Networks, Inc.
Cavite Cable Corporation
Cepsil Consultancy and
Management Corporation
HM Cable Networks, Inc.
HM CATV, Inc.
Hotel Interactive Systems, Inc.
Isla Cable TV, Inc.
Satellite Cable TV, Inc.
Sunvision Cable, Inc.
Sun Cable Holdings,
Incorporated (SCHI)
Tarlac Cable Television
Network, Inc.
JMY Advantage Corporation
Suburban Cable Network, Inc.
Discovery Cable, Inc.
Home-Lipa Cable, Inc.
Pilipino Cable Corporation
(PCC)
Bisaya Cable Television
Network, Inc.
Moonsat Cable Television, Inc.
Sun Cable Systems Davao, Inc.
Telemondial Holdings, Inc.(g)
First Ilocandia CATV, Inc.(m)
Mactan CATV Network, Inc.(m)
Pacific CATV, Inc.(m)
Cebu Cable Television, Inc.(m)
Davao Cableworld Network,
Inc.

Philippines

Content development and
programming services
Audio and video
production and
distribution
Music publishing
Content development and
programming services
Digital film archiving and
central library, content
licensing and
transmission
Services - restaurant and
food
Services - post production

Philippines

Cable television services

Philippine Peso

79.3

65.3

–

Philippines

Cable television services

Philippine Peso

79.3

65.3

–

Philippines
Philippines

Cable television services
Cable television services

Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso

79.3
79.3

65.3
65.3

–
–

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services

Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso

79.3
79.3
79.3
79.3
79.3
79.3
79.3

65.3
65.3
65.3
65.3
65.3
65.3
65.3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Philippines

Cable television services

Philippine Peso

79.3

65.3

–

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services

Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso

75.3
73.7
55.5
47.6
79.3

62.0
60.7
45.7
39.2
65.3

–
–
–
–
–

Philippines

Cable television services

Philippine Peso

79.3

65.3

–

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services
Cable television services

Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso
Philippine Peso

79.3
79.3
79.3
72.2
72.2
72.2
50.8
47.6

65.3
65.3
65.3
59.4
59.4
59.4
41.8
39.2

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

The Big Dipper Digital Content & Philippines
Design, Inc. (Big Dipper)

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)

Philippine Peso

100.0

100.0

100.0

Philippine Peso

98.9

98.9

98.9

With branches in the Philippines and Taiwan
With branches in Italy and Spain
Subsidiary of ABS-CBN Europe
Incorporated and started commercial operations in 2009
Through ABS-CBN Global in 2008 and 2007
Nonstock ownership interest
Subsidiary of SCHI
Considered as foreign subsidiary
Subsidiary of ABS-CBN International
With a branch in Luxembourg
Incorporated in 2008 and started commercial operations in 2009
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- 10 (l)
(m)
(n)

With a regional operating headquarters in the Philippines
Subsidiary of PCC
Pertains to the interest of ABS-CBN, the Parent Company has direct ownership of 6.6%. The effective interest of the Company is
53.3% and 45.1% in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same financial reporting year as
the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
All significant intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions that are recognized in assets and liabilities, are eliminated
in full on consolidation. Unrealized gains and losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be
recovered.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company.
Control is achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing
whether an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity.
Consolidation of subsidiaries ceases when control is transferred out of the Company. The results
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated
statement of income from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.
As a result of the conversion of Sky Cable Note in 2008, the related accounts of Sky Cable and its
subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial statements effective March 15, 2008
(see Note 4a).
Minority Interests
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by
the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separate from the equity attributable to
equity holders of the Parent Company.
Acquisition of minority interests is accounted for using the parent entity extension method,
whereby, the difference between the fair value of the consideration and the carrying value of the
share in the net assets acquired is recognized in goodwill.
The proportionate amount of the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities upon acquisition of
a consolidated subsidiary and any subsequent changes in equity of a consolidated subsidiary
attributable to a minority shareholder’s interest are shown separately as “Minority interests”
account in the consolidated statement of financial position. A minority shareholder’s interest in
the results of operations of a subsidiary is shown as “Minority interests” account in the
consolidated statement of income. Any losses applicable to a minority shareholder in a
consolidated subsidiary in excess of the minority shareholder’s equity in the subsidiary are
charged against the minority interest to the extent that the minority shareholder has binding
obligation to, and is able to, make good of the losses.
Business Combination and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase accounting method. This involves
recognizing identifiable assets (including previously unrecognized intangible assets) and liabilities
(including contingent liabilities and excluding future restructuring) of the acquired business at fair
value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition
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- 11 costs. The minority interest is measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Business combinations achieved in stages are accounted for as separate step
acquisition. Any additional acquired share of interest does not affect previously recognized
goodwill.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Company’s cash-generating units or group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Company are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Company at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation in determining the gain or loss on
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus
cumulative exchange differences arising from the translation and goodwill is recognized in the
consolidated statements of income.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
Functional and Presentation Translation. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Philippine Peso, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Parent Company. Each
entity determines its own functional currency, which is the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity, and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
The functional currency of all the subsidiaries, except foreign subsidiaries, is the Philippine Peso.
The functional currencies of the foreign subsidiaries are disclosed under the Basis of
Consolidation section. As of financial reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Company (the Philippine Peso) at
the rate of exchange ruling at reporting date and, their statements of income are translated at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising from the
translation are taken directly to “Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations” in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income and “Cumulative translation adjustments”
account within the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial position. Upon
disposal of any of these foreign subsidiaries, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in equity
relating to that particular foreign subsidiary will be recognized in the consolidated statement of
income.
Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially
recorded in the functional currency exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
exchange rate at financial reporting date. All differences are taken to the Consolidated Statement
of Income. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
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- 12 are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Nonmonetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition. Financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on trade date
basis. Derivatives are recognized on trade date basis.
Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments. All financial assets and liabilities are recognized
initially at fair value. The initial measurement of financial instruments includes transaction costs,
except for financial instruments which are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL,
held to maturity (HTM) investments, AFS financial assets and loans and receivables. Financial
liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities at
amortized cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were
acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market. The Company determines the
classification of its instruments at initial recognition and where allowed and appropriate, reevaluates this designation at every financial reporting date.
Determination of Fair Value. The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in
organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices or dealer price
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction
for transactions costs, that are active at the close of business at the reporting date. When current
bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction provides evidence
of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic
circumstances since the time of the transaction.
For investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using reference to similar instruments for which
observable prices exist, discounted cash flows analyses, and other relevant valuation models.
“Day 1” Profit or Loss. Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the
fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” profit or loss) in
the consolidated statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of
asset. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the
transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income
when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction,
the Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” profit or loss amount.
Financial Assets or Liabilities at FVPL. Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL include financial
assets and liabilities held for trading, financial assets and liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, and derivative instruments, unless these are designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge.
Financial assets and liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling and repurchasing in the near term.
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- 13 Financial assets or liabilities may be designated at initial recognition as at FVPL if any of the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognizing gains or losses on a
different basis; (ii) the assets or liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, or liabilities or
both which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial instrument contains an embedded
derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is
clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.
Financial assets or liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are accounted for in the consolidated
statement of income. Interest earned or incurred and dividend income are recorded as income or
expense, respectively while dividend income is recorded as other income according to the terms of
the contract or when the right of payment has been established.
The Company’s embedded derivatives are classified under this category (see Notes 10 and 33).
Except for these embedded derivatives, there are no other financial assets and liabilities at FVPL.
Loans and Receivables. Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These are not entered into with the
intention of immediate or short-term resale, are not classified as financial assets at FVPL and are
not designated as AFS financial assets or HTM investments.
After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that
are integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included in interest income in
the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income as provision for doubtful accounts.
Loans and receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within 12 months from financial
reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.
This category includes the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, trade and other
receivables, and advances to associates.
HTM Investments. Quoted nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities are classified as HTM investments when the Company has the positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not
included in this category. After initial measurement, HTM investments are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is
computed as the amount initially recognized minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially
recognized amount and the maturity amount, less allowance for impairment. This calculation
includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. Gains and
losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the investments are
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.
The Company has no HTM investments as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.
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- 14 AFS Financial Assets. AFS financial assets are those nonderivative financial assets that are
designated as AFS or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. These are
purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes
in market conditions.
After initial recognition, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. The effective yield
component of debt securities classified as AFS financial assets, as well as the impact of
restatement on foreign currency-denominated debt securities classified as AFS, is reported in the
consolidated statement of income. The unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair valuation
of AFS financial assets are presented as other comprehensive income until the investment is
derecognized or determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported in the other comprehensive income is included in the consolidated statements of income.
Assets under this category are classified as current assets if management intends to sell these
financial assets within 12 months from financial reporting date. Otherwise these are classified as
noncurrent assets.
The Company’s AFS financial assets include investments in quoted and unquoted ordinary
common shares.
Other Financial Liabilities. Financial liabilities are classified under this category if these are not
held for trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings.
Other liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by
taking into account any related issue costs, discount or premium. Gains or losses are recognized
in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through
the amortization process.
Expenditures incurred in connection with availments of long-term debt are deferred and amortized
using effective interest method over the term of the loans. Debt issue costs are netted against the
related long-term debt allocated correspondingly to the current and noncurrent portion.
The Company’s other financial liabilities at amortized cost include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing loans and borrowings, estimated liabilities from guarantees and commitments,
obligations for program rights and customers’ deposits.
Embedded Derivatives
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as derivative if all
the following conditions are met: (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded
derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristic of the host contract; (b) a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of the
derivative; and (c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not measured at FVPL.
The Company assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host
contracts when the Company first becomes party to the contract. Re-assessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.
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- 15 Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each financial reporting date whether a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired.
Loans and Receivables. For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Company first
assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at
amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
If in case the receivable has proven to have no realistic prospect of future recovery, any allowance
provided for such receivable is written off against the carrying value of the impaired receivable.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases and
the increase or decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reversed by adjusting the
allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed
its amortized cost at the reversal date.
A provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Company will not be able to
collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the
receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognized
when they are assessed as uncollectible.
Likewise, it was also established that accounts outstanding for less than a year should have no
provision for impairment but accounts outstanding over a year should have a 100% provision,
which was arrived at after assessing individually significant balances. Provision for individually
non-significant balances was made on a portfolio or group basis after performing the regular
review of the age and status of the individual accounts and portfolio/group of accounts relative to
historical collections, changes in payment terms and other factors that may affect ability to collect
payments.
AFS Financial Assets. For AFS financial assets, the Company assesses at each financial assets
reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, an objective evidence of impairment include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition
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- 16 cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognized in the consolidated statement of income, is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments
are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income. Increases in fair value after
impairment are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Assets Carried at Cost. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted
equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an
unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Asset. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:
�

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

�

the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

�

the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Company could be required to repay.
Financial Liability. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statements of income.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements,
and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial
position.
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- 17 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost is determined on
the weighted average method. NRV of inventories that are for sale, is the selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the costs of marketing and distribution. NRV of inventories not
held for sale is the current replacement cost. Unrealizable inventories are written off.
Preproduction Expenses
Preproduction expenses, included under “Other current assets” account in the consolidated
statement of financial position, represent costs incurred prior to the airing of the programs or
episodes. These costs include talent fees of artists and production staff and other costs directly
attributable to production of programs. These are charged to expense upon airing of the related
programs or episodes. Costs related to previously taped episodes determined not to be aired are
charged to expense.
Investments in Associates
The Company’s investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence but not
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the
associate (including share in other comprehensive income) less any impairment in value.
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not
amortized. The consolidated statements of income reflects the share on the results of operations of
an associate. When the Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Company does not recognize further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. Where
there has been a change recognized as other comprehensive income of the associate, the Company
recognizes its share in any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
The financial reporting dates of the associates and the Company are identical and the associates’
accounting policies conform to those used by the Company for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Unrealized intercompany profits arising from the transactions with the
associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, except land, are carried at cost (including capitalized interest), excluding
the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation, amortization and accumulated
impairment in value. Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.
Subscriber’s initial installation costs, including materials, labor and overhead costs are capitalized
as part of distribution equipment (included in the “Television, radio, movie and auxiliary
equipment” account) and depreciated over a period no longer than the depreciation period of the
distribution equipment. The costs of subsequent disconnection and reconnection are charged to
the current operations.
Unissued spare parts and supplies represent major spare parts that can be used only in connection
with the distribution equipment. Unissued spare parts and supplies are not depreciated but tested
for impairment until these become available for use. These are included in the “Other equipment”
account.
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- 18 When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the
property and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.
Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line method over the property and
equipment’s useful lives. The useful lives of the Company’s assets are estimated as follows:
Asset Type
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Television, radio, movie and auxiliary equipment
Other equipment

Number of Years
5 to 10 or term of the lease,
whichever is shorter
15 to 40 or term of the lease,
whichever is shorter
5 to 15
2 to 11

Each component of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to
the total cost of the item of property and equipment is depreciated separately.
The property and equipment’s residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.
Construction in progress represents equipment under installation and building under construction
and is stated at cost which includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Construction in
progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and available for
operational use.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in the consolidated statements of income in the year the asset is
derecognized.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization in
the case of intangible assets with finite lives, and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortization period and method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least
at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amortization on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement
of income in those expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortized. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
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- 19 A summary of the policies applied to ABS-CBN’s acquired intangible assets is as follows:

Intangible Asset

Useful Lives

Program Rights

Finite (license term
or economic life,
whichever is
shorter)

Amortization
Method Used
Amortized on the
basis of program
usage, except for
program rights of
CPI, which is
amortized on a
straight-line
method over the
license term or
economic life,
whichever is
shorter.
Expired program
rights are fully
amortized on the
date of expiry.
Unaired program
rights with no
definite expiration
date are amortized
after 5 years from
acquisition date
(i.e., equally over
the next five years)

Impairment
Testing/
Recoverable
Amount Testing
If the remaining
expected benefit
period is shorter
than the
Company’s initial
estimates, the
Company
accelerates
amortization of the
purchase price or
license fee.

Current and
Noncurrent
Portion
Based on the
estimated year of
usage except CPI,
which is based on
license term

Program rights are
written off when no
future economic
benefits are
expected to flow
from the assets.

Story, Music and
Publication Rights

Finite (useful
economic benefit)

Amortized on the
basis of the useful
economic life

If the remaining
expected benefit
period is shorter
than the
Company’s initial
estimates, the
Company
accelerates
amortization of the
cost.

Based on the
estimated year of
usage

Movie In-process

Finite

No amortization,
recognized as
expense upon
showing

If the unamortized
film cost is less
than the fair value
of the film, the
asset is written
down to its
recoverable
amount.

Based on the
estimated year of
usage
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Amortization
Method Used

Impairment
Testing/
Recoverable
Amount Testing

Current and
Noncurrent
Portion

Intangible Asset

Useful Lives

Video Rights and
Record Master

Finite (six months
or 10,000 copies
sold of video discs
and tapes,
whichever comes
first)

Amortized on the
basis of number of
copies sold.

If the remaining
expected benefit
period is shorter
than the
Company’s initial
estimates, the
Company
accelerates
amortization of the
cost.

Current

Customer
Relationships
(see Note 4a)

Finite - 25 years

Amortized on a
straight-line basis
over the estimated
customer service
life

If the remaining
expected benefit
period is shorter
than the
Company’s initial
estimates, the
Company
accelerates
amortization of the
cost.

Noncurrent

Cable Channels CPI

Indefinite

No amortization

Annually and more Noncurrent
frequently when an
indication of
impairment exists

Production and
Distribution
Business - Middle
East

Finite - 25 years

Amortized on a
straight-line basis
over the period of
25 years

If the remaining
expected benefit
period is shorter
than the
Company’s initial
estimates, the
Company
accelerates
amortization of the
cost.

Noncurrent

Investment Properties
Investment properties, except land, are measured at cost, including transaction costs, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The carrying amount includes the cost of
replacing part of an existing investment property at the time the cost is incurred if the recognition
criteria are met, and excludes day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Land is stated at
cost less any impairment in value.
Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party
or ending of construction or development. Transfers are made from investment property when,
and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or
commencement of development with a view to sale.
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- 21 For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property or inventories, the cost of
property for subsequent accounting is its carrying value at the date of change in use. If the
property occupied by the Company as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Company accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property and equipment” up to the date of change in use.
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or
disposal.
Tax Credits
Tax credits from government airtime sales availed under Presidential Decree (PD) No. 1362 are
recognized upon actual airing of government commercials and advertisements. These are included
under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is an indication that property
and equipment, investment properties, program rights and other intangible assets with finite lives
and tax credits may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The fair value less costs to sell is the
amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s-length transaction. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
For nonfinancial assets, other than goodwill and cable channels, an assessment is made at each
financial reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income. After such a reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in
future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific nonfinancial assets:
Goodwill and Cable Channels. Goodwill and cable channels are reviewed for impairment,
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
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- 22 cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash generating units) to which the goodwill and cable channels
has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in subsequent increases in its
recoverable amount in future periods. The Company performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill and cable channels as of December 31 of each year.
Investments in Associates. After application of the equity method of accounting, the Company
determines whether it is necessary to recognize any additional impairment loss with respect to the
Company’s net investment in the associate. The Company determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the investments in associates are impaired. If this is
the case, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the impairment in the
consolidated statement of income.
Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Incremental costs incurred directly
attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as deduction from proceeds, net of
tax. Proceeds and/or fair value of considerations received in excess of par value, if any, are
recognized as additional paid-in capital.
Revenue
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. The
Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is
acting as principal or agent. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognized:
�

Airtime revenue is recognized as income on the dates the advertisements are aired. Such
revenues are adjusted for agency commissions, incentives, and co-producers’ share for
presentation in the consolidated statement of income. The fair values of barter transactions
from advertising time exchanged for program materials, merchandise or service are included
in airtime revenue and the related accounts. Payments received before broadcast (pay before
broadcast) for customers without credit terms are initially recognized as liability and are
included as part of “Trade and other payables” account in the consolidated statement of
financial position. These are applied against receivables upon airing and recognition of
related revenue. Pay before broadcast for customers with credit terms are credited directly to
“Trade receivables” under “Trade and other receivables” account in the consolidated statement
of financial position. These are recognized as income on the dates the advertisements are
aired.

�

Sale of services include:
a. Subscription fees which are recognized as follows:
DTH Subscribers and Cable Operators. Subscription fees are recognized under the
accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the agreements.
Share in DirecTV Subscription Revenue. Subscription revenue from subscribers of
DirecTV who subscribe to the “The Filipino Channel” is recognized in accordance with
the Deal Memorandum, as discussed in Note 34.
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- 23 Subscription Revenue from ABS-CBN Now. Subscription revenue from online streaming
services of Filipino-oriented content and programming is received in advance (included as
“Deferred revenue” under “Trade and other payables” account in the consolidated
statement of financial position) and is deferred and recognized as revenue over the period
during which the service is performed.
Cable Subscribers. Subscription fees are recognized under the accrual basis in accordance
with the terms of the agreements. Subscription fees billed or collected in advance are
deferred (included as “Deferred revenue” under “Trade and other payables” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position) and recognized as revenue when service is
rendered.
b. Telecommunications revenue is recognized when earned. These are stated net of the share
of the other telecommunications carriers, if any, under existing correspondence and
interconnection agreements. Interconnection fees and charges are based on agreed rates
with the other telecommunications carriers.
Income from prepaid phone cards are realized based on actual usage hours or expiration of
the unused value of the card, whichever comes earlier. Income from prepaid card sales for
which the related services have not been rendered as of financial reporting date is
presented as “Other payables” under “Trade and other payables” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
c. Channel lease revenue is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
d. Income from film exhibition is recognized, net of theater shares on the dates the film are
shown.
e. Income from TV rights and cable rights are recognized on the dates the films are
permitted to be publicly shown as stipulated in the agreement.
f.

Pay-per-view fees are recognized on the date the movies or special programs are viewed.

g. Short-messaging-system/text-based revenue, sale of news materials and Companyproduced programs, included under “Sale of Services” account in the consolidated
statement of income, are recognized upon delivery.
�

Sale of goods is recognized when delivery has taken place and transfer of risks and rewards
has been completed. These are stated net of sales discounts, returns and allowances.

�

License fees earned from DirecTV are recognized upon migration of the DTH subscribers of
ABS-CBN International to DirecTV. The additional license fees for each migrated subscriber
that will remain for 14 consecutive months from the date of activation, will be recognized on
the 14th month (see Note 34e).

Other income is recognized as follows:
�

Royalty income, included under “Sale of Services” account in the consolidated statement of
income, is recognized upon rendering of service based on the terms of the agreement and is
reduced to the extent of the share of the composers or co-publishers of the songs produced for
original sound recording.
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- 24 �

Income and related costs pertaining to installation of decoders and set-top boxes which has no
stand alone value without the subscription revenue are aggregated and recognized ratably over
the longer of subscription contract term or the estimated customer service life. These are
presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets” (under “Deferred charges”) and “Trade and
other payables” account (under “Deferred revenue”), respectively, in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

�

Connection /reconnection/disconnection fees, included as part of “Other income” account in
the consolidated statements of income are recognized when the services are rendered.

�

Management fees, included as part of “Other income” account in the consolidated statement of
income, are recognized based on the terms of the management agreement.

�

Rental income, included as part of “Other income” account in the consolidated statement of
income, is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

�

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield on the
asset.

�

Dividends, included as part of “Other income” account in the consolidated statement of
income, are recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.

Agency Commissions, Incentives and Co-producers’ Share
These represent deductions from gross airtime revenues in the consolidated statement of income.
Agency commissions are recognized at a standard rate of 15% (see Note 29).
Incentives include early payment and early placement discounts as well as commissions paid to
the Company’s account executives and cable operators. Early payment discount is recognized
upon payment. Early placement discount, which represents discount given to agencies and
advertisers as a result of early request for telecast order, is recognized upon airing.
Co-producers’ share on revenues of specific programs is recognized upon airing.
Leases
The determination whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at the inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Company as a Lessee
Finance Leases. Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at
the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly against the consolidated statements of income.
Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset
and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain ownership by
the end of the lease term.
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- 25 Company as a Lessor
Operating Leases. Leases where the Company retains substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Cost and Expense Recognition
Cost and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other
than those relating to distribution to equity participant. Cost and expenses other than those with
specific policies are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year these are
incurred.
Channel License Fees
Channel license fees included under “Cost of sales and services” account in the consolidated
statements of income are charged to operations in the year these fees are incurred.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized
as an interest expense under “Finance costs” in the consolidated statements of income.
Customers’ Deposits
Customers’ deposits, included as part of “Other noncurrent liabilities” account in the consolidated
statement of financial position, are initially recognized at fair value. The discount is recognized as
deferred credits and amortized over the estimated remaining term of the deposit using the effective
interest method.
Asset Retirement Obligation
The net present value of legal obligations associated with the retirement of an item of property and
equipment that resulted from the acquisition, construction or development and the normal
operations of property and equipment is recognized in the period in which it is incurred and a
reasonable estimate of the obligation can be made. This is included as part of “Other noncurrent
liabilities” account in the consolidated statement of financial position. The related asset retirement
cost is capitalized under “Property and equipment” account in the consolidated statements of
financial position and is being depreciated on a straight-line basis.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.
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- 26 Pension Costs
The Company has funded (the Parent Company, ABS-CBN and Sky Cable) and unfunded (other
subsidiaries), noncontributory defined pension benefit plans, except for ABS-CBN International
which has a defined contribution pension plan. The cost of providing benefits under the defined
benefit plan is determined separately for each plan using the projected unit credit method of
actuarial valuation. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the
previous financial reporting year exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and
the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognized over the expected
average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans.
The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period
until the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the
introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately.
The defined benefit asset or liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation (using a discount rate based on Philippine bonds) and actuarial gains and losses not
recognized reduced by past service cost not yet recognized, and the fair value of plan assets out of
which the obligations are to be settled directly. If such aggregate is negative, the asset is measured
at the lower of such aggregate or the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses
and past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.
For ABS-CBN International, the defined contribution pension plan is composed of the
contribution of ABS-CBN International or employee (or both) to the employee’s individual
account. These contributions generally are invested on behalf of the employee through American
Funds. Employees ultimately receive the balance in their account, which is based on contributions
plus or minus investment gains or losses. The value of each account will fluctuate due to changes
in the value of investments.
The amount of the Company’s contribution to the defined contribution pension plan is recognized
as expense in the period incurred.
Income Taxes
Current Income Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at
reporting date.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not
in the consolidated statements of income.
Deferred Income Tax. Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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- 27 Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including
asset revaluations. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income
tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover
(NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused tax credit
from excess MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. Deferred income tax,
however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit.
Deferred income tax liabilities are not provided on nontaxable temporary differences associated
with investments in domestic subsidiaries and associates. With respect to investments in other
subsidiaries and associates, deferred income tax liabilities are recognized except where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax
assets are measured at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted as at reporting date.
Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside the profit or loss is recognized in
correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
and not in the consolidated statements of income.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same tax authority.
Retained Earnings
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders and reduced by dividends on capital stock. Dividends on capital stock are recognized as a
liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Company’s stockholders.
Dividends for the year that are approved after the financial reporting date are dealt with as an
event after the financial reporting date.
Retained earnings may also include effect of changes in accounting policy as may be required by
new standards’ transitional provisions.
Earnings Per Share (EPS) Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends and stock split.
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- 28 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net income attributable to the equity
holders of the Parent Company and the weighted average number of shares outstanding are
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares from the conversion of Perpetual
Convertible Bonds. The number of common shares is the weighted average number of common
shares plus the weighted average number of common shares which would be issued upon the
conversion of all the dilutive potential common shares into common shares. For calculation
purposes, Perpetual Convertible Bonds are deemed to have been converted into common shares at
the date of issuance of the convertible bonds.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Event after Reporting Date
Post yearend events that provide additional information about the Company’s financial position at
financial reporting date (adjusting events) is reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Post yearend events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated
financial statements when material.
Segment Reporting
For management purposes, the Company’s operating businesses are organized and managed
separately according to nature of business activities. Such business segments are the bases upon
which the Company reports its operating segment information. The Company operates in three
geographical areas where it derives its revenue.
Financial information on segment reporting is presented in Note 5 - Segment Information.
3. Management’s Use of Judgments and Estimates
The Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared under PFRS require management to
make judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and related notes. Future events may occur which will cause the judgments and
assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any change in judgments
and estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
Determination of Functional Currency. The Parent Company and all other subsidiaries and
associates, except for foreign subsidiaries of ABS-CBN, have determined that their functional
currency is the Philippine Peso. The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic
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- 29 environment in which the Parent Company and all other subsidiaries and associates, except for
foreign subsidiaries, operate. The Philippine Peso is the currency that mainly influences the sale of
goods and services as well as the costs of selling goods and providing services.
For foreign subsidiaries and an associate, management has determined that the currency that reflects
the underlying transactions, events and conditions of their operations is a currency other than
Philippine Peso. Thus, the accounts of foreign subsidiaries and an associate were translated to
Philippine Peso for purposes of consolidation to the Company’s accounts.
Significant Influence on Investment in an Associate. In 2008, the Parent Company assigned its voting
rights to the equity interest in shares of stock of First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPHC) to
Lopez under a Voting Trust Agreement (VTA). The VTA provides that the Parent Company is
entitled to the dividends to be declared on the equity ownership and that Lopez shall vote to effect the
election of, and continuance in office, as directors of FPHC, the individuals listed in the VTA. Based on
the VTA, the Company’s significant influence over FPHC still exists. Accordingly, the Company
continues to classify these shares of stock held as investment in an associate.
Leases. The evaluation whether an arrangement contains a lease is based on its substance. An
arrangement is, or contains a lease when the fulfillment of the arrangement depends on a specific
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys the right to use the asset.
ABS-CBN has entered into operating lease arrangements as a lessor and as a lessee. Such
contracts are accounted for as operating leases when ABS-CBN, as a lessee, has determined that
the lessor retains substantial risks and benefits of ownership of these properties, while as a lessor,
ABS-CBN retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets adjudged due
to the following circumstances:
�
�
�

the lease term is only for a limited number of years;
lease is renewable but there is no purchase option at a significant discount as of date; and
the lease payments represents solely compensation for use of asset rather than for purchase of
the assets.

ABS-CBN has also entered into finance lease agreements covering certain property and
equipment. Such contracts are accounted for as finance leases when ABS-CBN has determined
that it bears substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of said properties
adjusted due to the following circumstances:
�
�
�

the lease term represents substantially the full economic life in years of the asset under lease;
lease is renewable and there is currently a purchase option at a significant discount which the
Company is likely to exercise; and
the lease payments represents amortization for purchase of the assets.

The carrying amount of property and equipment under finance leases amounted to =
P155 million
and P
=220 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 13).
Financial Assets not Quoted in an Active Market. The Company classifies financial assets by
evaluating, among others, whether the asset is quoted or not in an active market. Included in the
evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in an active market is the determination on whether
quoted prices are readily and regularly available, and whether those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s-length basis.
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- 30 Estimates
The key assumptions concerning future and other key sources of estimation at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Revenue Recognition. ABS-CBN’s telecommunications revenue recognition policies require the use
of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of revenue and receivables.
Revenue is stated net of the share of the other telecommunications carriers, but the definite amounts
of the net share are determined subsequent to the reporting date. Thus, the Company initially
estimates the amount based on history of sharing.
The difference between the amount initially recognized and actual settlement or actual billing is taken
up in the accounts in the next period. However, there is no assurance that such use of estimates will
not result in material adjustments in future periods.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments. PFRS requires that certain financial assets and liabilities
(including derivative instruments) be carried at fair value, which requires the use of accounting
estimates. The fair values of financial instruments of short-term nature and those that are
subjected to monthly repricing are estimated to approximate their carrying amounts. For certain
financial instruments which are not quoted in an active market, fair values are assessed to be the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at risk-free rates applicable to the financial
instrument. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are set out in Note 33.
While significant components of fair value measurement are determined using verifiable objective
evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, volatility rates), the timing and amount of
changes in fair value would differ using a different valuation methodology. Any change in the fair
values of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) directly affect the
consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company reviews its loans and receivables, including
unbilled receivables, at each financial reporting date to assess whether an allowance for impairment
should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income. In particular, judgment by management
is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level
of allowance required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual
results may differ, resulting in future changes in the allowance.
The Company evaluates specific balances where management has information that certain amounts
may not be collectible. In these cases, the Company uses judgment, based on available facts and
circumstances, and a review of the factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts including, but
not limited to, the age and status of the receivables, collection experience and past loss experience.
The review is made by management on a continuing basis to identify accounts to be provided with
allowance. These specific reserves are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received
affects the amount estimated. In addition to specific allowance against individually significant
receivables, the Company also makes a collective impairment allowance against exposures which,
although not specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default
than when originally granted. This collective allowance is based on historical default experience,
current economic trends, changes in customer payment terms and other factors that may affect the
Company’s ability to collect payments. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period
would differ if the Company made different judgments or utilized different methodologies. An
increase in allowance for doubtful accounts would increase the recorded operating expenses and
decrease current and noncurrent assets.
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- 31 The allowance is established by charges to income in the form of provision for doubtful accounts.
Provision for doubtful accounts amounted to P
=357 million in 2009, =
P195 million in 2008 and
=102 million in 2007 (see Note 26). Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful
P
accounts, amounted to P
=5,722 million and P
=5,105 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 amounted to
=596 million and =
P
P440 million, respectively (see Note 8).
Advances to associates, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to nil and P
=4 million as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 12).
Net Realizable Value of Inventories. Inventories are carried at NRV whenever net realizable value
of inventories becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence,
changes in price levels or other causes. Inventory items identified to be obsolete and unusable are
written off and charged as expense in the period such losses are identified.
Provision for decline in value of inventory amounted to =
P5 million in 2009, =
P22 million in 2008
and P
=15 million in 2007. Inventories at NRV amounted to =
P169 million and =
P226 million as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 9).
Estimated Useful Lives of Property and Equipment, Investment Properties and Intangible Assets. The
useful life of each item of the Company’s property and equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets with finite life is estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be
available for use. Estimation for property and equipment and investment properties is based on a
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar
assets while intangible assets with finite life, estimated life is based on the life of agreement covering
such intangibles. The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically and updated if
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of these assets. However, it is possible that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about by
changes in the aforementioned factors. The amount and timing of recording the depreciation and
amortization for any year, with regard to the property and equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets would be affected by the changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in
the estimated useful life of any property and equipment, investment properties or intangible assets
would increase the recorded expenses and decrease current and noncurrent assets.
There is no change in the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment, investment properties
and intangible assets during the year. The carrying values of property and equipment, investment
properties and intangible assets with finite life are as follows (see Notes 13, 14 and 17):
2009

2008

P
=15,135

=15,169
P

3,013
63

3,151
66

(Amounts in Millions)

Property and equipment (Note 13)
Program rights and other intangible assets
(excluding cable channels) (Note 17)
Investment properties (Note 14)
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- 32 Asset Retirement Obligation. Determining asset retirement obligation requires estimation of the costs
of dismantling installations and restoring leased properties to their original condition. While it is
believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of such costs are reasonable, significant changes
in these assumptions may materially affect the recorded expense or obligation in future periods.
Asset retirement obligation amounted to =
P18 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively
(see Note 21).
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets. The Company assesses impairment on nonfinancial assets
(enumerated in the table below), other than goodwill and cable channels, whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable or that the
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. The factors that
the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:
�
�
�

significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business;
and
significant negative industry or economic trends.

The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds it
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is computed using the value in use approach.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The carrying values of nonfinancial assets that are subjected to impairment testing when certain
impairment indicators are present and annually for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are as
follows:
2009

2008

P
=17,336
15,135
2,561

=14,263
P
15,169
2,681

3,013
63

3,151
66

(Amounts in Millions)

Investments in shares of stock of associates
(see Note 12)
Property and equipment (see Note 13)
Tax credits with tax credit certificates (see Note 18)
Program rights and other intangible assets
(excluding cable channels) (see Note 17)
Investment properties (see Note 14)

Nonfinancial assets with indicators of impairment have been tested for impairment. In 2008, Sky
Cable provided an impairment loss for tax credits amounting to =
P100 million (see Note 18). No
impairment loss was recognized in 2009 and 2007.
Impairment of Goodwill and Cable Channels. The Company performs impairment testing annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Company to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those future cash flows.
The impairment on goodwill and cable channels is determined by comparing: (a) the carrying amount
of the cash-generating unit; and (b) the present value of the annual projected cash flows for five years
and the present value of the terminal value computed under the discounted cash flow method. The
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
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- 33 calculation using cash flow projections which were based on financial budgets approved by senior
management of the subsidiaries covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in the
impairment test of goodwill and cable channels are as follows:
a. Gross Revenue
On the average, gross revenue of the subsidiaries over the next five years were projected to
grow in line with the economy or with nominal Gross Domestic Product. This assumes that
the market share of the subsidiaries in their respective industries will be flat on the assumption
that the industries also grow at par with the economy. Historically, advertising spending
growth had a direct correlation with economic growth. A 0-5% perpetuity growth rate was
assumed at the end of the five-year forecast period.
b. Operating Expenses
On the average, operating expenses were projected to increase at a single-digit growth rate and
at a slower pace than revenue.
c. Gross Margins
Increased efficiencies over the next five years are expected to result in margin improvements.
d. Discount Rate
The discount rate used to arrive at the present value of future cash flows was the Company’s
Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC). WACC was based on the appropriate weights of
debt and equity, which were multiplied with the assumed costs of debt and equity. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections were 9.63% and 10.38% in 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
No impairment loss was recognized in 2009 and 2008. In 2007, provision for impairment loss on
goodwill amounted to P
=22 million. The carrying amount of goodwill as December 31, 2009 and 2008
amounted to P
=2,373 million and P
=2,144 million, respectively (see Note 16). The carrying amount of
cable channels amounted to =
P460 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 (see Note 17).
Impairment of AFS Investments. The Company treats AFS investments as impaired when there has
been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where objective evidence of
impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. The
Company treats “significant” generally as 20% or more of the original cost of investment unless the
market has been particularly volatile, in which case a higher decline in fair value may still be regarded
as not significant. On the other hand, the Company treats “prolonged” as greater than 12 months. In
addition, the Company evaluates other factors, including normal volatility in share price for quoted
equities and the future cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equities.
Based on results of testing by management, no impairment loss was recognized in 2009, 2008 and
2007. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, AFS investments amounted to =
P470 million and
=954 million, respectively (see Note 15).
P
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. However, there is
no assurance that sufficient future taxable profit will be generated to allow all or part of the deferred
income tax assets to be utilized. The Company has determined that based on the levels of forecasted
future taxable profit, certain items of deductible differences are not realizable, thus not recognized.
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- 34 The net recognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 amounted to
=642 million and P
P
=603 million, respectively. Unrecognized deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 amounted to P
=2,211 million and P
=2,354 million, respectively
(see Note 31).
Present Value of Pension Obligation. The cost of defined benefit obligation is determined using
the projected unit credit method of actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves making
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on plan assets, future salary rate
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans,
such estimates are subject to uncertainty.
The expected rate of return on plan assets was based on average historical premium on plan assets.
The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine bonds with
terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout as of financial reporting date
(see Note 22).
Contingencies. The Company is currently involved in various legal proceedings. The Company’s
estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation
with outside counsel handling defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential
results. The Company currently does not believe these proceedings will have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated financial position and performance. It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of
strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 35).
4. Transfer of Media Interest, Business Combination, Acquisition and Re-organization
On April 24, 1998, as approved by the National Telecommunications Commission (NTC) on
March 16, 1998 and the creditors of the Parent Company on April 21, 1998, the Parent Company
transferred its ownership in ABS-CBN and Sky Vision Corporation (Sky Vision) to Lopez. The
transfer included 553,457,304 shares of ABS-CBN at its market value of =
P16.50 per share
equivalent to =
P9,132 million and 162,463,400 shares of Sky Vision at its book value of P
=2.75 per
share equivalent to P
=447 million in exchange for cash of P
=75 million and Convertible and
Nonconvertible Notes (Lopez Notes) of =
P9,504 million (Convertible Notes of =
P5,504 million and
Nonconvertible Notes of =
P4,000 million). The Lopez Notes are secured by a pledge of the shares
transferred and all subsequent shares distributed to Lopez by reason of its holdings of ABS-CBN
and Sky Vision shares. After the transfer, Lopez assumed all voting rights associated with the
shares. The ABS-CBN and Sky Vision shares were also released from negative pledge covenants
included in the terms of outstanding LTCPs.
The Lopez Notes are payable on April 24, 2013 (Maturity Date). Lopez has the option to redeem
the Lopez Notes at any time, subject to certain conditions provided for in the Agreement by both
parties. The Parent Company has the option to convert the Convertible Lopez Notes into
553,457,304 shares of ABS-CBN and 162,463,400 shares of Sky Vision (Conversion Quantity) at
a conversion price of =
P5,504 million until Maturity Date or redemption date, as the case may be.
The conversion quantity and price are subject to adjustments as provided for in the Agreement.
The Lopez Notes may be repaid in whole or in part on or before the Maturity Date. The Lopez
Notes are terminated on any earlier date if the Convertible Lopez Notes have been properly
converted and Lopez has satisfied its obligations with respect to Convertible Lopez Notes. The
Lopez Notes bear an annual interest of 1.5%, subject to adjustments as agreed by both parties.
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- 35 As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the outstanding Lopez Notes amounted to =
P9,463 million and
=8,821 million, respectively. The underlying shares totaled 446,800,022 ABS-CBN shares in
P
2009 and 2008 [including 568,415 Philippine Depositary Receipts (PDRs) in 2009 and 2008], and
162,463,400 Sky Vision shares in 2009 and 2008.
As of April 12, 2010, the shares of stock in ABS-CBN and Sky Vision are still under the name of
Lopez. Consequently, Lopez has the power to vote over those shares. The Parent Company has
not exercised its option to convert the Lopez Notes into ABS-CBN and Sky Vision shares,
respectively.
ABS-CBN
ABS-CBN is incorporated in the Philippines. Its core business is television and radio
broadcasting. Its subsidiaries and associates are involved in the following related businesses:
cable and direct-to-home (DTH) television satellite distribution and telecommunications services
overseas, movie production, audio recording and distribution, video/audio post production, and
film distribution. Other activities of the subsidiaries include merchandising, internet and mobile
services and publishing.
The convertibility feature of the Lopez Notes pertaining to ABS-CBN qualifies as “potential
voting rights” under PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Under PAS 27,
the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by another entity, are considered when assessing whether an
entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity.
Consequently, for financial reporting purposes, ABS-CBN is considered a subsidiary of the Parent
Company (see Note 2). Accordingly, the Lopez Notes pertaining to ABS-CBN is eliminated for
consolidation purposes.
Condensed consolidated financial information of ABS-CBN before intercompany eliminations
follow:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Net assets

P
=11,279
23,541
(8,477)
(10,190)
P
=16,153
2009

Revenue
Costs and expenses
Net income

2008

=10,120
P
22,923
(8,535)
(9,361)
=15,147
P
2007

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=24,849
(23,090)
P
=1,759

P22,307
=
(20,917)
=1,390
P

P
=19,940
(18,669)
P
=1,271

Sky Vision
Sky Vision is a holding company of various subsidiaries mainly involved in cable television
services in Metro Manila and in certain provincial areas in the Philippines.
The convertibility feature of the Lopez Notes pertaining to Sky Vision qualifies as “potential
voting rights” under PAS 28, Investments in Associates. Under PAS 28, the existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
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- 36 rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether an entity has significant
influence. Consequently, for financial reporting purposes, Sky Vision is considered an associate
of the Parent Company, which is accounted for under the equity method (see Note 12e).
a. Conversion of Sky Cable Note issued to ABS-CBN and outstanding advances by ABS-CBN
and Parent Company and Consolidation of Sky Cable Corporation (Sky Cable)
On June 30, 2004, Sky Vision and Sky Cable (“Issuer”) issued a Convertible Note (Sky Cable
Note) to ABS-CBN amounting to US$30.0 million (equivalent to =
P1,581 million). The
amount for conversion also includes advances and of the Parent Company to Sky Cable
amounting to =
P253 million.
The Sky Cable Note was subject to interest of 13.0% compounded annually and matured on
June 30, 2006. The principal and accrued interest as of maturity date is mandatorily converted
into common shares of the Issuer, based on the prevailing USD to Philippine Peso exchange
rate on maturity date, at a conversion price equivalent to a 20% discount of: (a) the market
value of the shares, in the event of a public offering of the Issuer before maturity date; (b) the
valuation of the shares by an independent third party appraiser that is a recognized banking
firm, securities underwriter or one of the big three international accounting firms or their
Philippine affiliate jointly appointed by Lopez and the Parent Company (collectively referred
to as Benpres Group) and Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company and Mediaquest
Holdings, Inc. (collectively referred to as PLDT Group) pursuant to the Master Consolidation
Agreement dated July 18, 2001, as amended or supplemented.
The Sky Cable Note does not specifically state that interest shall accrue after June 30, 2006 in
the event that the Sky Cable Note is not converted for any reason. Thus, no interest was
charged after June 30, 2006.
As of December 31, 2007, the conversion price of the Sky Cable Note was not yet been
determined. Based on the provisions of the Sky Cable Note, the conversion of the Sky Cable
Note cannot be completed without the determination of the conversion price, which in turn
depends on the valuation of Sky Cable by an independent third party. Thus, ABS-CBN and
the Parent Company did not convert the Sky Cable Note at that time without such valuation.
The conversion date was effectively extended until the final valuation of Sky Cable.
On May 20, 2008, the Benpres Group and the PLDT Group acknowledged the fairness and
reasonableness of the valuation for Sky Cable as of March 15, 2008. Based on this final
valuation, ABS-CBN’s Sky Cable Note of =
P2,499 million, including advances and interest of
=918 million, had an equivalent subscription of 269,645,828 Sky Cable shares, representing
P
65.3% effective interest in Sky Cable. On the other hand, the Parent Company’s advances to
Sky Vision amounting to =
P253 million had an equivalent subscription of 27,264,843 Sky
Cable shares, representing 6.6% effective interest in Sky Cable. Consequently, for financial
reporting purposes, effective March 15, 2008, Sky Cable is considered as a subsidiary of
ABS-CBN. The combined interest of the Parent Company and ABS-CBN in Sky Cable is
71.8% while the effective interest of the Company in Sky Cable is 45.1%.
On December 23, 2008, ABS-CBN, the Parent Company, SkyVision and Sky Cable entered
into an Assignment Agreement, where ABS-CBN and the Parent Company assigned the Sky
Cable Note and advances in Sky Cable to Sky Vision in consideration of PDRs to be issued by
Sky Vision upon approval by the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) of
the increase in the authorized capital stock of Sky Cable. Pursuant to this Assignment
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- 37 Agreement, Sky Vision is contractually bound to issue the PDRs to ABS-CBN and the Parent
Company upon issuance of the underlying Sky Cable shares to Sky Vision.
The PDRs will grant ABS-CBN and the Parent Company the right, upon payment of the
exercise price and subject to certain other conditions, the delivery of Sky Cable shares or the
sale of and delivery of the proceeds of such sale of Sky Cable shares. The PDRs may be
exercised at any time by ABS-CBN and the Parent Company, thus, providing potential voting
rights to ABS-CBN and the Parent Company. Any cash dividends or other cash distributions
in respect of the underlying Sky Cable shares are received by Sky Vision. After deducting
administrative expenses for the maintenance of the PDR structure, Sky Vision shall distribute
the proceeds to ABS-CBN and the Parent Company.
While Sky Vision is the legal owner of the subscription to the 65.3% effective interest in Sky
Cable, effectively, ABS-CBN and the Parent Company has the economic interest over the
underlying Sky Cable shares by virtue of the PDRs. The voting rights will remain with Sky
Vision as legal owner. However, by virtue of the PDRs, ABS-CBN and the Parent Company
have economic benefits over the underlying Sky Cable shares and voting rights upon exercise
of the PDRs.
The 296,910,671 Sky Cable shares were issued to Sky Vision in October 2009. However, as
of April 12, 2010, the PDRs of Sky Vision have not yet been issued to ABS-CBN and the
Parent Company.
The conversion of Sky Cable Note in 2008 was considered as a business combination and
=2,752 million was
accounted for using purchase method. Accordingly, the consideration of P
allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on the fair values at conversion date.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Sky Cable at the date of conversion
and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the conversion were:
Fair Value
Recognized
on Conversion

Carrying
Value

(Amounts in Millions)

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment
Customer relationships
Other noncurrent assets
Trade and other current liabilities
Long-term debt
Due to related parties
Deferred tax liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities
Net assets
Combined interest*
Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising from the acquisition
Consideration

=
P837
394
603
4,960
607
1,378
(2,562)
(2,920)
(674)
(615)
(213)
1,795
71.9%
1,290
1,462
=
P2,752

=837
P
394
603
3,548
–
1,468
(2,562)
(2,920)
(674)
–
(213)
=
P481

* For purposes of computing goodwill, the combined interest represents 65.3% direct equity interest
of ABS-CBN and 6.6% direct equity interest of the Parent Company.
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- 38 There is no cash outflow on the conversion of Sky Cable Note.
From the date of conversion of the Note up to December 31, 2008, Sky Cable has contributed
=29 million to the net income of ABS-CBN. If the combination had taken place at the
P
beginning of 2008, the net income of ABS-CBN for the year ended December 31, 2008 would
have been =
P1,441 million and revenue would have been =
P25,868 million.
On February 19, 2009, the BOD of ABS-CBN approved the additional conversion of
=1,798 million loan to Sky Cable and P
P
=900 million advances to Sky Vision to PDRs covering
278,588,814 Sky Cable shares at conversion price of P
=9.69 a share. The conversion was
considered an acquisition of minority interest. Upon conversion of the foregoing loan and
advances, the effective interest of the Company increased from 45.1% to 53.3%.
On March 2, 2009 by virtue of a separate Assignment Agreement, ABS-CBN assigned the
=1,798 million loan to Sky Vision. As a consideration for the assignment, Sky Vision agreed
P
to issue PDRs which shall be convertible into Sky Cable shares. The terms of the agreement
are similar to the Assignment Agreement discussed in the foregoing. On March 2, 2009, the
effective interest of ABS-CBN in Sky Cable increased from 65.3% to 79.3%. As of
April 12, 2010, the additional PDRs of Sky Vision has not yet been issued to ABS-CBN.
b. Acquisition of Minority Interest of PCC
On May 23, 2008, Sky Vision acquired the minority interest in PCC through the purchase of
all the common shares in and convertible notes and advances of Sun Cable Holdings,
Incorporated (SCHI) for a cash payment of P
=1,248 million and an assumption of the
outstanding loan obligation of Telemondial Holdings, Inc. (THI) in the amount of
=100 million. SCHI owns THI, which in turn owns the minority interest in PCC. On the
P
same date, Sky Vision and Sky Cable agreed that such shares and debt shall be transferred to
Sky Cable. Consequently, for financial reporting purposes, PCC became a wholly owned
subsidiary of Sky Cable as of that date. On December 23, 2008, Sky Vision assigned all its
common shares in SCHI to Sky Cable pursuant to this agreement. The difference between the
fair value of the consideration transferred and liability assumed and the carrying value of the
minority interest in PCC, amounting to =
P558 million, is recognized as goodwill (see Note 16).
c. Acquisition of Minority Interest in ABS-CBN International
In December 2009, ABS-CBN acquired from Bayan Telecommunications, Inc. (BTI) its 2%
interest in ABS-CBN International for US$6 million (P
=277 million) which is payable over a
period of three years beginning January 2010 until December 2012 or as may be extended for
a longer period as agreed by both parties. The parties also agreed that ABS-CBN shall have
the option to pay the consideration by way of the following products and services of
ABS-CBN which may be availed by BTI during the payment term:
�

commercial advertising airtime for BTI’s products and services;

�

sponsorship in various ABS-CBN-produced programs and/or ABS-CBN-organized
special events;

�

co-branded marketing and promotional campaigns; and

�

other media-related projects.
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- 39 The excess of the consideration over the carrying value of the minority interest in ABS-CBN
International amounting to P
=229 million was recognized as goodwill in the 2009 consolidated
statement of financial position (see Notes 16 and 25).
As of December 31, 2009, payable arising from the transaction amounted to P
=277 million.
The current portion amounting to =
P92 million was presented as part of “Due to related parties”
in the “Trade and other payables” account (see Note 19) while the noncurrent portion
amounting to =
P185 million was presented as part of “Due to a related party” in the “Other
noncurrent liabilities” account (see Notes 21 and 25).
In December 2009, ABS-CBN assigned its 2% share in ABS-CBN International to ABS-CBN
Global in exchange for additional common shares in ABS-CBN Global. Consequently,
ABS-CBN Global became the 100% owner of ABS-CBN International. This assignment has
no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
d. Re-organization of ABS-CBN Global
On January 7, 2009, ABS-CBN Hungary was incorporated to be the holding company of
certain international subsidiaries. On May 19, 2009 and June 19, 2009, ABS-CBN Hungary
incorporated ABS-CBN Netherlands and established a branch in Luxembourg, respectively,
which are intended to conduct the management of other business enterprises within the
ABS-CBN Group.
In December 2009, ABS-CBN Global transferred its 100% ownership interest in ABS-CBN
International to ABS-CBN Hungary in exchange for the issue of a US$81 million equity note
and the assumption of an existing US$5 million note by ABS-CBN Hungary. Consequently,
ABS-CBN Hungary became the new holding company for ABS-CBN International as of
December 31, 2009. This has no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
5. Segment Information
Segment information is prepared on the following bases:
Business Segments
For management purposes, the Company’s main businesses are investment holdings and
broadcasting and entertainment. Broadcasting and entertainment is further segmented into three
business activities - broadcasting, cable and satellite, and other businesses. This segmentation is
the basis upon which the Company reports its primary segment information.
Broadcasting segment is principally the television and radio broadcasting activities which generate
revenue from sale of national and regional advertising time.
Cable and satellite business primarily develops and produces programs for cable television,
including delivery of television programming outside the Philippines through its DTH satellite
service, cable television channels and blocked time on television stations. In 2008, as a result of
the conversion of Sky Cable Note issued to ABS-CBN (see Note 4a), the cable and satellite
business include cable television services of Sky Cable and its subsidiaries in Metro Manila and in
certain provincial areas in the Philippines.
Other businesses include movie production, consumer products and services. The Company’s
remaining activity includes information service.
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- 40 Geographical Segments
Although the Company is organized into three business activities, it operates in three major
geographical areas. In the Philippines, its home country, ABS-CBN is involved in broadcasting,
cable operations and other businesses. In the United States and in other locations (which includes
Middle East, Europe, Australia, Canada and Japan), ABS-CBN operates its cable and satellite
operations to bring television programming outside the Philippines.
Inter-segment Transactions
Segment revenue, segment expense and segment results include transfers among business
segments and geographical segments. The transfers are accounted for at competitive market
prices charged to unrelated customers for similar services. Such transfers are eliminated in
consolidation.
Management monitors operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit and
loss in the consolidated financial statements.
On a consolidated basis, the Company’s performance is evaluated based on consolidated net
income for the year and earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA). Net income for the year is measured consistent with consolidated net income in the
consolidated financial statements.
The following table shows the reconciliation of the consolidated EBITDA to consolidated net
income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:
2009
Consolidated EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of intangible assets*
Interest expense
Interest income
Provision for income tax
Consolidated net income
for the year

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

2007

P
=17,969
(2,272)
(1,234)
(1,461)
377
(685)

P9,089
=
(1,859)
(1,171)
(1,713)
195
(1,035)

P
=10,866
(1,227)
(1,096)
(1,793)
175
(997)

P
=12,694

=3,506
P

=
P5,928

* Excluding amortization of story, music and publication rights, movie in-process and video rights
and record master.
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Other Segment Information
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization
Noncash expenses other than depreciation
and amortization

Operating liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Obligations under finance lease
Total liabilities

Assets and Liabilities
Operating assets
Investments in and advances to associates
Deferred tax assets
Total assets

EBITDA

Results
Operating results
Equity in net earnings of associates
Interest income
Finance costs
Foreign exchange losses/gains and others net
Other income - net
Income tax
Net income

Revenue
External revenue
Intersegment-revenue
Total revenue

(438)
2,966
(2)
=2,111
P

1,106
7,234
(1)
= 11,902
P
3,250
(55)
(11)
P
=4,658

(P
= 209)
2,830
63
(1,210)
(14)
778
(437)
= 1,014
P

= 1,015
P
(2)
420
(746)
(78)
694
(628)
=966
P

=1,399
P
5
192
(618)
175
503
(596)
=
P1,089

P
=1,513
12
71
(589)
56
73
(221)
= 856
P

= 1,110
P
–
43
(205)
(62)
302
(184)
=20
P

=141
P
–
33
(210)

=8,054
P
204
=8,258
P

=13
P
–
17
663

=2
P
–
14
486
223

=
P–
–
18
96

= 1,128
P
1,098
2,035

218

=1,380
P
1,183
1,909

= 2,743 =
P
P12,185 P
=11,801 P
= 6,560
4,788
2,945
8,967
8,615
7,531
7,446
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
180
284
= 5,688 P
P
=21,152 P
=20,416 =
P14,271 P
=12,518

333

P
=710
907
1,850

P
=4,294
5,095
–
381
P
=9,770

200

= 1,195
P
(100)
1,225

= 5,776
P
3,059
491
14
= 9,340
P

295

=775
P
370
1,126

=5,404
P
2,774
551
31
=8,760
P

123

=
P260
667
355

P
=2,069
–
–
40
P
=2,109

P
=4,704
–
42
P
=4,746

(4)
63
(245)
=
P52

=
P191
–
72
(25)

P
=4,736
128
P
=4,864

33

P75
=
154
284

= 810
P
–
5
–
815

= 2,631
P
–
44
= 2,675
P

38
151
(91)
663

= 563
P
–
3
(1)

= 1,544
P
663
= 2,207
P

19

P70
=
174
217

=807
P
–
–
–
=807
P

=2,200
P
–
48
=2,248
P

114
100
(138)
=193
P

=116
P
–
3
(2)

=1,581
P
113
=1,694
P

9
(477)
65
(P
= 773)

(P
= 37)
–
(372)
39

=–
P
(989)
(P
= 989)

2009

–
(228)
(82)
=211
P

=551
P
–
(138)
108

=–
P
(363)
(P
= 363)

Elimination
2008

2009

Consolidated
2008
2007

= 2,278
P
4,198
378
(1,461)

= 17,969
P

–
1,195
(522)
7,759
(25)
(685)
(P
= 62) P
= 13,662

=
P485
–
(35)
35

3,448
78
(997)
P
=5,929

P
=2,175
2,842
175
(1,792)

=9,089 P
P
=10,866

(464)
3,834
(1,034)
=3,501
P

=2,039
P
645
194
(1,713)

=
P– =
P24,849 =
P22,307 =
P19,941
(372)
–
–
–
(P
= 372) P
= 24,849 P
=22,307 =
P19,941

2007

34

=
P65
169
276

=
P1,680
–
–
–
=
P1,680

–

–

–
–

=–
P

=–
P

815

= 2,400
P
1,152
3,558

1,195

=2,238
P
1,727
3,269

713

P
=1,035
1,743
2,499
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–

–

P
=–

(P
= 3,956) (P
= 2,450) (P
= 1,780) =
P11,933 P
=20,734 =
P18,064
(1,820) (1,820)
–
11,715
17,367
13,710
17
82
–
513
633
–
–
–
–
194
315
421
(P
= 5,759) (P
= 4,188) (P
= 1,780) P
= 24,355 =
P39,049 =
P32,195

P
=2,708 (P
= 5,860) (P
= 3,674) (P
= 1,771) =
P35,480 P
=40,807 =
P29,186
12,270
18,974
–
(8,767) (6,646) (3,513) 17,331
56
–
–
–
643
603
185
P
=2,764 (P
= 14,627) (P
= 10,320) (P
= 5,284) P
= 53,454 =
P53,680 =
P48,345

27
89
(120)
=
P192

=
P195
–
4
(3)

P
=1,668
169
P
=1,837

Broadcasting and Entertainment
Cable Satellite
Other Businesses
2007
2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007
(Amounts in Millions)

=
P– =
P13,354 =
P12,672 P
=13,537 P
= 9,951
–
88
46
75
238
=
P–
13,442 P
=12,718 P
=13,612 =
P10,189

Broadcasting
2009
2008

P1,343
=
=8,410 P
P
=3,286 =
P22,203 P
=20,816 P
=20,259 P
= 15,163 =
P13,055
17,290
12,226
18,930
8,808
6,690
3,557
–
–
–
–
–
31
42
87
568
513
= 18,633 =
P
P20,636 P
=22,216 P
= 31,042 =
P27,548 P
=23,903 =
P15,731 P
=13,568

(P
= 168)
640
104
(991)

=–
P
–
=–
P

(P
= 373)
4,200
284
(548)

=–
P
–
=–
P

Investment Holding
2009
2008
2007

Business Segment Data
The following tables present revenue and income information and certain assets and liabilities information regarding business segments for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2009:
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= 2,191
P
1,152

= 35,655
P
8,808
533
= 44,996
P

Assets
Segment assets
Investment in associate
Deferred tax assets
Total assets

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment
Intangible assets

= 19,565
P
988
= 20,553
P

Revenue
External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Total revenue

2009

=2,036
P
1,727

=31,990
P
6,690
544
=39,224
P

=17,785
P
363
=18,148
P

Philippines
2008

P
=826
1,743

P
=28,677
3,557
165
P
=32,399

P
=15,940
372
P
=16,312

2007

= 69
P
–

= 2,767
P
–
95
= 2,862
P

= 3,186
P
–
= 3,186
P

2009

=73
P
–

=3,155
P
–
59
=3,214
P

=2,613
P
–
=2,613
P

United States
2008

=
P132
–

P
=2,351
–
19
P
=2,370

P
=2,603
–
P
=2,603

2007

= 139
P
–

= 1,575
P
–
15
= 1,590
P

= 2,098
P

= 2,098
P

=117
P
–

=926
P
–
–
=926
P

=1,908
P
–
=1,908
P

Others
2009
2008
(Amounts in Millions)

=
P77
–

=
P163
–
–
=
P163

P
=1,397
–
P
=1,397

2007

=–
P
–

(P
= 5,860)
(8,767)
–
(P
= 14,627)

=–
P
(988)
(988)

2009

=–
P
–

(P
= 3,674)
(6,646)
–
(P
= 10,320)

=–
P
(363)
(P
= 363)

Eliminations
2008

=
P–
–

2009 Annual Report

= 2,399
P
1,152

= 34,137
P
41
643
= 34,821
P

= 24,849
P
–
= 24,849
P

2009

=2,226
P
1,727

=32,397
P
44
603
=33,044
P

=22,306
P
–
=22,306
P

Consolidated
2008

P
=1,035
1,743

P
=25,901
44
184
P
=26,129

P
=19,940
–
P
=19,940

2007

*SGVMC213025*�

(P
= 5,290)
(3,513)
–
(P
= 8,803)

=
P–
(372)
(P
= 372)

2007

Geographical Segment Data
The following tables present revenue and expenditures and certain assets information regarding geographical segments of ABS-CBN for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2009.
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- 43 6. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2009

2009

P
=1,693
2,761
P
=4,454

=1,475
P
2,747
=4,222
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Cash on hand and in banks
Short-term investments

Cash in banks earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Short-term investments are made
for varying periods of up to 90 days depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Company, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
Interest earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P
=338 million, =
P116 million and
=140 million, in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 30).
P
7. Notes Receivable
The notes receivable in 2008 represents a portion of the Staple Financing of Red Vulcan Holdings
Corporation which the Parent Company purchased in November 2008 through the Parent
Company’s trust account with a local bank. The notes receivable matured in May 2009.
Interest income earned from notes receivable amounted to P
=39 million in 2009 and =
P49 million in
2008.
8. Trade and Other Receivables
2009

2008

P
=3,170
786
1,318
473
130
211
230
6,318
596
P
=5,722

=2,537
P
992
1,061
274
189
178
314
5,545
440
=5,105
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Trade:
Airtime
Subscription fees
Others
Advances to suppliers
Due from related parties (see Note 25)
Advances to employees and talents
Others
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 60 to 90 days term upon receipt of
invoice by the customer.
Advances to suppliers, employees, talents and other receivables are usually settled within one
year.
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- 44 Movements of allowance for doubtful accounts follow:
Trade
Subscription
Airtime
Fees

Others

(Amounts in Millions)

Nontrade

Total

Balance at January 1, 2009
Provisions (see Note 26)
Write-offs and others
Balance at December 31, 2009

P
=281
93
(36)
P
=338

P
=94
158
(153)
P
=99

P
=26
33
(12)
P
=47

P
=39
73
–
P
=112

P
=440
357
(201)
P
=596

Balance at January 1, 2008
Provisions
Effect of business combination
(see Note 4a)
Write-offs and others
Balance at December 31, 2008

P
=205
55

=
P61
118

=
P22
18

=
P31
4

=
P319
195

148
(162)
=
P26

29
(25)
=
P39

1,690
(1,764)
=
P440

34
(13)
P
=281

1,479
(1,564)
=
P94

Airtime receivables include unbilled airtime arising from advertisements which have been aired
during the year but billing or acceptance by the customer has been delayed due to time lag in
completing all required documents. Invoicing normally takes around seven days from airing.
Subscription receivables include unbilled subscription fees, where revenue has been accrued based
on the rates in the subscription agreements multiplied by the estimated number of subscribers
based on the latest report from the cable providers. Billing has been delayed due to 30 to 60 days
lag in the submission of actual subscribers report from cable providers.
The aging analysis of the unbilled receivables follow:
2009

2008

P
=894
146
16
P
=1,056

=706
P
120
64
=890
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Less than 30 days
31–60 days
61–90 days

9. Inventories at NRV
Inventories consist mainly of materials and supplies of ABS-CBN, cable, construction and
installation supplies of Sky Cable and records and other consumer products held for sale by its
subsidiaries. The cost of inventories carried at NRV amounted to =
P367 million and P
=440 million
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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- 45 10. Other Current Assets
2009

2008

P
=386
412
–
323
P
=1,121

=287
P
374
16
228
=905
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Prepaid taxes
Preproduction expenses
Derivative assets (see Note 33)
Prepaid expenses and others

Prepaid expenses include payments for rentals, transponder services and other various projects.
11. Long-term Receivables from Sky Cable
On September 20, 2007, in relation to the acquisition by ABS-CBN of 66% of Sky Cable Debt
from third party creditors as discussed in Note 20, Sky Cable issued two Promissory Notes to
ABS-CBN in the aggregate amount of P
=1,798 million thus, making ABS-CBN the eventual lender
on record of Sky Cable. The loan pays monthly interest at 3mPDST-F plus 1% with a final
maturity of September 2016, as amended on February 21, 2008 (see Note 20). The Promissory
Notes are further governed by the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement dated
July 2, 2004. In 2008 and 2007, interest income amounted to =
P13 million and =
P25 million,
respectively (see Note 30). In 2009, no interest income was accrued since the long-term
receivables were converted to Sky Vision PDRs.
This amount of support of ABS-CBN to Sky Cable was compliant with the Senior Credit
Agreement (SCA) and the First Amendment Agreement dated September 14, 2007 between and
among ABS-CBN and the relevant parties of the SCA, which increased previous threshold of
advances and guarantees that can be extended by the Parent Company to Sky Cable from
=400 million to =
P
P2,250 million.
In December 2008, ABS-CBN purchased additional Sky Cable Debt for a consideration of
=103 million or 55% of the principal amount of =
P
P188 million. The receivable from Sky Cable
pays monthly interest at 3mPDST-F plus 1% with final maturity on September 2016.
The long-term receivables from Sky Cable were initially measured and recognized at their fair
value at inception date. Discounts, which represent the difference between the nominal value and
fair value of the receivables, amounting to P
=85 million and =
P374 million in 2008 and 2007,
respectively, are accreted over the term of the receivables using the effective interest method.
Accretion of the discounts, included as part of interest income, amounted to =
P9 million and
=10 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 30).
P
In 2008, upon consolidation of Sky Cable to ABS-CBN, the long-term receivables from Sky Cable
totaling =
P1,546 million were eliminated and the difference between the carrying value of Sky
Cable’s debt and the carrying value of ABS-CBN’s long-term receivables from Sky Cable
amounting =
P309 million was recognized as gain (see Note 30).
As discussed in Note 2a, on February 19, 2009, the BOD of ABS-CBN approved the conversion
of the =
P1,798 million loan and =
P900 million advances to 278,588,814 Sky Vision PDRs covering
278,588,814 Sky Cable shares at a conversion price of =
P9.69 per share upon conversion of the
foregoing loan and advances.
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- 46 On March 2, 2009, by virtue of a separate Assignment Agreement, ABS-CBN assigned the
=1,798 million long-term to Sky Vision. As a consideration for the assignment, Sky Vision
P
agreed to issue to ABS-CBN 185,662,775 PDRs which shall be convertible into 185,662,775 Sky
Cable shares. The terms of the agreement are similar to the Assignment Agreement discussed in
the foregoing.
The remaining long-term receivable from Sky Cable as of December 31, 2009 of =
P113 million
was eliminated upon consolidation of Sky Cable to ABS-CBN.
12. Investments in and Advances to Associates
The percentage of ownership of the Company in the following associates incorporated in the
Philippines, are as follows:
Bayantel*
FPHC
Amcara Broadcasting Network, Incorporated (Amcara)
Star Cinema Productions, Inc.
Sky Vision (see Note 4)
Rockwell Land Corporation (Rockwell)

Principal Activities
Telecommunications
Investment holdings
Services
Movie production
Investment holdings
Real estate

2008
47.3
43.1
49.0
45.0
22.3
24.5

2009
47.3
42.8
49.0
45.0
22.3
–

*The Parent Company has 1% direct equity interest in Bayantel Telecommunications Inc., a subsidiary of Bayantel.

Investments
This account consists of:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Investments in associates (see Notes 1 and 3)
Advances to associates - net of allowance for
impairment losses P
=3,458 million in 2009 and
=3,389 million in 2008 (see Note 25)
P

P
=17,336

=14,263
P

–
P
=17,336

4
=14,267
P

2009

2008

P
=17,290
–

=12,503
P
1,712

–
46
P
=17,336

–
48
=14,263
P

Details of investments in shares of stock of associates follow:
(Amounts in Millions)

FPHC
Rockwell
Bayantel - net of allowance for impairment losses
of =
P558 million
Others
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- 47 Movements of investments in shares of stock of associates follow:
2009

2008

P
=5,813
(1,535)
4,278

P8,154
=
(2,341)
5,813

13,701
4,198
(254)
(109)
(116)
17,420

13,958
650
(577)
(10)
(320)
13,701

(4,366)

(5,308)

(Amounts in Millions)

Acquisition costs:
Balance at beginning of year
Disposal
Balance at end of year
Accumulated equity in net earnings:
Balance at beginning of year
Equity in net earnings
Dividends received
Loss on dilution of equity interest
Disposal and others
Balance at end of year
Share in equity adjustment from translation in an
associate
Share in unrealized gain on fair value adjustments
of AFS financial assets of associates

4
P
=17,336

57
=14,263
P

Information about and major transactions of significant associates and indirect associates:
a. FPHC
FPHC is involved in management and investment holdings of subsidiaries and associates that
are engaged in, but not limited to, power generation and power distribution, real estate
development, manufacturing and construction, financing and other services industries. In
2009, the Parent Company sold its equity interest in Rockwell to FPHC (see Note 12b). In
2008, FPHC, together with the Parent Company, disposed of its investment in road and
tollways business (see Note 12c).
The common shares of FPHC are listed and traded in the PSE. The closing stock price of
FPHC is =
P48 per share and =
P15.25 per share as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Voting Trust Agreement. On December 4, 2008, the Company appointed Lopez as its voting
trustee with respect to its share in FPHC. Pursuant to the VTA, the Company transfers and
deposits with Lopez the stock certificates covering the original shares in FPHC for the purpose
of duly vesting to Lopez the rights and powers set forth in the VTA.
Management believes that based on certain conditions in the VTA, the Company’s significant
influence over FPHC still exists. Accordingly, the Company continues to classify these shares
of stocks held as investment in an associate.
Acquisition of minority interests. On November 17, 2008, First Gen, a subsidiary of FPHC,
completed the divestment of its 60% equity stake in FG Hydro in favor of EDC for a total
consideration of =
P4.3 billion ($85.2 million). FG Hydro and EDC were entities that were then
under the common control of First Gen. As a result of the divestment, First Gen’s direct
voting and effective economic interests in FG Hydro after the transaction are 40% and 64%,
respectively.

Benpres Holdings

95

*SGVMC213025*�
2009 Annual Report

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- 48 First Gen accounts for acquisition of minority interests using the entity concept method. An
equity reserve amounting to =
P893 million was recorded in the equity section of the 2008
consolidated statement of financial position. In 2009, the equity reserve was reversed as a
result of discontinued operations.
The Parent Company accounts for the acquisition of minority interests using the parent entity
extension method. The Company aligns the policies in the consolidated financial statements.
As a result, the Parent Company’s share in the equity reserves was recognized in profit or loss
as a reduction in net earnings in FPHC amounting toP
=385 million. In 2009, the reversal of
equity reserve by FPHC was recognized as additional equity in net earnings amounting to
=385 million.
P
Condensed consolidated financial information of FPHC follows:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Net assets

P
=41,448
107,356
(29,443)
(59,475)
P
=59,886
2009

Revenue
Costs and expenses
Net income

P
=58,873
(46,020)
P
=12,853

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

P78,565
=
(73,111)
=5,454
P

P46,041
=
180,966
(53,442)
(104,418)
=69,147
P
2007
P
=54,996
(43,316)
P
=11,680

b. Rockwell
Rockwell is engaged in real estate development, sale or lease of residential and commercial
lots and units and lease of mall facilities.
On August 20, 2009, the Parent Company sold its entire 24.5% stake to FPHC, consisting of
1,525,953,672 common and 673,750,000 preferred shares in Rockwell for P
=1,500 million.
The Share Purchase Agreement includes a one year claw back period wherein:
•

In the event that within 1 year from the date of sale, FPHC sells or disposes all or part of
the shares at a price at least greater than 112% of the price paid by FPHC to Benpres,
FPHC will pay Benpres in cash 50% of the difference as contingent upward price
adjustment.

•

In the event that FPHC sells or disposes all or part of the shares within the said 1 year
period at less than P
=1,500 million, Benpres will pay FPHC in cash an amount equal to
50% of the difference between P
=1,500 million and the lower subsequent price.

The sale resulted in a loss on sale amounting to =
P156 million and is recognized in the
consolidated statements of income.
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- 49 Condensed financial information for Rockwell follows:
2009

2008

P
=4,753
7,294
(1,704)
(2,927)
P
=7,416

=5,399
P
6,829
(3,097)
(2,149)
=6,982
P

2008

2007

P3,506
=
(2,911)
=595
P

P
=3,467
(2,991)
=476
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Net assets
2009
Revenue
Costs and expenses
Net income

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=4,083
(3,448)
P
=635

c. FPII and FPIDC
On November 13, 2008, the Parent Company and FPHC completed the sale of their equity
interest in FPII to MPIC. Under the transaction, MPIC acquired the roads and tollways
business of the Parent Company and FPHC.
The aggregate consideration of the sale is =
P12.3 billion, inclusive of the Parent Company’s
share at 48.1% amounting to =
P6.0 billion. The aggregate consideration is equivalent to a price
per FPII share of =
P2.47. MPIC paid the Parent Company and FPHC cash amounting to
=11.8 billion and assumed the liabilities and advances amounting to P
P
=500 million. The Parent
Company’s share in cash is P
=5.8 billion and liabilities assumed by MPIC is P
=237 million. The
Parent Company recognized gain on sale amounting to P
=3.2 billion, net of transaction cost of
=141 million, and is presented under “Gain on sale of investments” in the 2008 consolidated
P
statement of income.
Under the Share Purchase Agreement, Benpres and FPHC:
(1) Granted to MPIC the option to acquire from First Balfour, Inc., the company which
awarded the Tarlac-La Union Toll Expressway Project, in consideration of the
reimbursement to FPHC and/or First Balfour, Inc. of documented advances or equity
contributions which amounted to =
P25 million as of the date of the Share Purchase
Agreement, including the condition that the exercise of the option shall be subject to the
right of first refusal of the shareholders of Private Infra Development Corporation;
(2) Granted to MPIC the option to acquire all of FPHC’s rights and interests and assume all of
FPHC’s obligations, under all agreements with the Bases Convention Development
Authority (BCDA) in respect of the operation and maintenance of the Subic-Clark-Tarlac
Extension at no additional costs, including the condition that the exercise of the option is
subject to obtaining the necessary consents of FPHC’s consortium partners and the
BCDA;
(3) Caused the distribution to FPII stockholders of record as of the Closing Date, through a
declaration of scrip dividends, all of FPIDC’s rights to receive any share in the gains
realized by Leighton Asia Limited (LAL) on any sale of its shares.
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- 50 On December 16, 2009, the Company received =
P90 million as its share in the scrip dividends
received from LAL. The amount is recorded as part of others in “Other income” account
(see Note 30).
d. Bayantel
Bayantel and Radio Communications of the Philippines, Inc. (RCPI), a subsidiary of Bayantel,
are duly enfranchised to provide telecommunications services of all types under Republic Act
(RA) No. 7925, “An Act to Promote and Govern the Development of Philippine
Telecommunications and the Delivery of Public Telecommunications Services.”
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Parent Company’s total investments, deposits in and
advances to Bayantel (before any allowance for impairment losses and accumulated equity in
net losses) amounted to P
=12,067 million and P
=13,614 million, respectively.
Guarantees on Redemption of the Convertible Preferred Shares. Under the Guarantee, the
Parent Company agreed to advance to each holder, on behalf of Bayantel, such amount that
the holder is entitled to receive from Bayantel with respect to the dividend payments. These
advances amounted to US$27 million (equivalent to =
P1,277 million) as of December 31, 2008.
Pursuant to this Guarantee, the Parent Company and Bayantel entered into an Indemnity
Agreement where Bayantel agreed to indemnify the Parent Company in the event that it is
required to pay the guaranteed obligations. Under the Indemnity Agreement, Bayantel shall
indemnify and keep the Parent Company indemnified by paying the guaranteed obligations
actually paid within 45 days from the date of such payment. Bayantel shall also indemnify the
Parent Company for all costs, liabilities, losses and expenses that it may incur by reason of, in
connection with, or in relation to the guarantee.
Advances made by the Parent Company effective November 2002 bear interest at LIBOR plus
1% on the value of the convertible preferred shares as of May 31, 2002.
The convertible preferred shares were subject to mandatory redemption on January 8, 2003 at
US$50 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends and a final dividend that will provide
holders with an effective annual yield of 6.5% compounded annually from issue date to the
date of redemption. The Parent Company, pursuant to the guarantee, has likewise guaranteed
full payment of the convertible preferred shares at its accreted value at maturity date. On
January 8, 2003, Bayantel and the Parent Company were unable to redeem the shares.
By virtue of the Parent Company’s guarantees and commitments to Bayantel, the Parent
Company recognized the indirect obligations as “Estimated liabilities from guarantees and
commitments” amounting to US$145 million as of December 31, 2008, with equivalent
Philippine Peso amount of P
=6,905 million. In 2008, the accumulated payments made to
convertible preferred shares of Bayantel were charged to the estimated liabilities from
guarantees and commitments.
As of December 31, 2009, all of the Company’s guarantees and commitments to Bayantel
were purchased from Avenue Asia Group at a discount (see Note 1) resulting in the
recognition of gain amounting to P
=1,690 million, which was recorded under “Gain on
extinguishment of debt” in the consolidated statement of income. Accordingly, the
Company’s guarantees and commitments to Bayantel ceased as of December 31, 2009. The
ownership over the Bayantel’s convertible preferred shares was transferred to the Company.
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Company and Lopez have entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement (SA) with certain
shareholders (option holders) of Bayantel where the shareholders have the option to require
the Parent Company and Lopez to purchase shares of Bayantel (option shares) from them
under certain conditions. The options can be exercised upon the occurrence of certain events
specified in the SA or in 2002, whichever comes first. The purchase price of the option share
shall be the greater of the aggregate cost price in US dollars of the relevant option shares paid
by the shareholders thereof amounting to an initial investment of approximately US$20
million plus interest at the US Prime Rate compounded annually from the date of the relevant
purchase to the date of the exercise of the option or the fair market value of the option share.
The Parent Company has provided the following amounts for certain Bayantel options due on
October 24, 2002 before payments made on December 2, 2002:
1) Amount owed to Chase Manhattan Bank (Chase) - US$6 million as of commencement
date of BSMP; and
2) Amount owed to AIF - US$43 million as of commencement date of BSMP.
On November 29, 2007, the Parent Company and Lopez together settled the US$43 million
worth of debt held by AIF, of which they are co-obligors. The debt was settled for
US$32 million, with the Parent Company paying US$26 million and Lopez paying US$6
million. The payment effectively resulted in the transfer of the underlying Bayantel shares,
which the Parent Company has fully provided for and reversal of the corresponding allowance
for impairment losses amounting to =
P457 million in 2007 (see Note 30). The shares were
actually transferred to the Parent Company on January 30, 2008. These shares were included
in the renewal of the VTA between Lopez and the Parent Company, where voting rights in
Bayantel were assigned by the Parent Company to Lopez.
Voting Trust Agreement. The Parent Company has an existing VTA with Lopez, as renewed
on June 12, 2008, where the Parent Company assigned the voting rights in Bayantel to Lopez.
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the voting rights assigned to Lopez is 21.92%. For
financial reporting purposes, Lopez retained control of Bayantel and continues to consolidate
Bayantel in its consolidated financial statements.
Equity in Net Earnings/Losses of Bayantel. Starting in 2001, the Parent Company
discontinued the recognition of its share in the losses of Bayantel. The accumulated losses in
Bayantel reduced the carrying value of the Parent Company’s investment in Bayantel to zero.
If Bayantel subsequently reports profits, the Parent Company will resume recognizing its
share on these profits if the Parent Company’s share on the cumulative unrecognized net
profits exceeded the cumulative unrecognized net losses. The net cumulative unrecognized
net losses amount to =
P11,470 million and =
P11,158 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
Status of Operations. Bayantel has increased its revenue level primarily because of its data
services. Data services include corporate and wholesale data services and the Digital
Subscriber Line service. The growth in data service resulted from a combination of increasing
demand for internet bandwidth and data connectivity from corporate customers, carriers and
consumer market and the successful implementation of Bayantel’s data expansion and
technology upgrading programs.
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- 52 Subscriber base for the Local Exchange Carrier (LEC) remained the same as in the previous
year while that of the Wireless Local loop (WLL) has marginally increased. Bayantel’s joint
agreement with Multi-Media Telephony, Inc. (MTI) remained in place and this provided wider
coverage for selling WLL in Metro Manila. The decline in local and long distance services
resulted from the declining average revenue per subscriber for LEC and WLL and the
emergence of alternative products.
Bayantel still has a deficit of =
P28.1 billion in 2009 and P
=27.7 billion in 2008 and a capital
deficiency of =
P16.0 billion and =
P15.6 billion as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively,
due to losses arising from its US Dollar debt and preferred shares subject to mandatory
redemption. However, because of the positive operating cash flows and the results of
Bayantel’s Rehabilitation Plan (Plan), Bayantel has continued to meet its loan service
requirements.
The Plan, which was reviewed and evaluated by a court appointed receiver (Receiver), was
approved by the Pasig Regional Trial Court (Court) in a decision dated June 28, 2004
(Decision). Pursuant to the Plan, the level of sustainable debt was reduced to US$325 million
payable for over a period of 19 years and the unsustainable debt will be converted into an
appropriate instrument that shall not be a financial burden for Bayantel. Moreover, a
Monitoring Committee (MC) was formed composing of representatives from all classes of the
restructured debt and the Receiver’s role was limited to monitoring and overseeing the
implementation of the Plan.
The Court approval, however, covers only claims against Bayantel and did not include RCPI.
Notwithstanding, the Court enjoined Bayantel to procure the restructuring of RCPI’s debt
under the same terms and conditions. As of December 31, 2009, Bayantel has successfully
restructured all of RCPI’s debt pursuant to the Decision.
There are appeals filed by majority of the creditors for the review of the Decision. The
unsecured creditors are seeking for the increase in the level of sustainable debt from
$325.0 million to $471.0 million to be repaid in 12 years. The secured creditors, on the other
hand, are appealing the pari-passu decision of the Court. Except for the appeal on pari-passu
filed by a secured creditor, Philippine National Bank (PNB), all the appeals were consolidated.
The consolidated appeals were dismissed by the Court of Appeals for lack of merit in 2006.
The appeals were filed with the Supreme Court and are still pending resolution as of
December 31, 2009.
Condensed consolidated financial information of Bayantel follows:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Net capital deficiency attributable to equity
holders of Bayantel
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P
=2,775
13,693
(16,676)
(15,810)

P2,864
=
14,904
(16,486)
(16,848)

(P
=16,018)

(P
=15,566)
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Revenue
Costs and expenses
Net income (loss)

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

=7,947
P
(10,476)
(P
=2,529)

P
=7,543
(7,994)
(P
=451)

2007
P
=10,776
(7,453)
=
P3,323

e. Sky Vision
Equity in Net Earnings/Losses of Sky Vision. The Parent Company discontinued the
recognition of its share in the losses of Sky Vision starting 2005. The accumulated losses in
Sky Vision reduced the carrying value of the Parent Company’s investment in Sky Vision to
zero. If Sky Vision subsequently reports profits, the Parent Company will resume recognizing
its share on these profits if the Parent Company’s share on the cumulative unrecognized net
profits exceeded the cumulative unrecognized net losses. The net cumulative unrecognized
net losses amounted to P
=50.1 million and P
=64.2 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.
Condensed consolidated financial information of Sky Vision follows:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Net equity (capital deficiency) attributable to equity
holders of Sky Vision
2009

P2,734
=
14,904
(16,500)
(17,041)

P
=85,530

(P
=15,903)

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=2,055
(1,420)
P
=635

Revenue
Costs and expenses
Net income (loss)

P
=4,571
266,222
(77,656)
(107,607)

=7,831
P
(10,696)
(P
=2,865)

2007
=
P10,868
(7,540)
=
P3,328

Advances to Associates
Details of this account follow:
2009

2008

P
=3,428

=3,359
P

–
–
3,428
3,428
P
=–

–
4
3,363
3,359
=4
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Bayantel
Sky Vision - net of accumulated equity in net losses
of =
P203 million in 2007; converted in 2008
(see Note 4a)
Others
Allowance of impairment losses (see Note 25)
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- 54 The following table shows the movement of allowance for doubtful accounts:
2008

2009

(Amounts in Millions)

Beginning balance
Provision for the year
Write-off
Ending balance

=3,753
P
181
(575)
=3,359
P

P
=3,359
69
–
P
=3,428

Provision for impairment losses of advances to Bayantel amounting to =
P69 million, =
P181 million
and =
P216 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, are shown as part of losses on investments
and advances to related parties.
13. Property and Equipment

2009
Cost
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals/retirements
Reclassifications
Translation adjustments
Balance at end of year
Accumulated, Depreciation
and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation and amortization
Disposals/retirements
Reclassifications
Translation adjustments
Balance at end of year
Net Book Value

2008
Cost
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Effect of business combination
(see Note 4a)
Disposals/retirements
Reclassifications and other
adjustments
Balance at end of year
Accumulated, Depreciation
and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation and amortization
Disposals/retirements
Reclassifications and other
adjustments
Balance at end of year
Net Book Value

Land
Buildings
and Land
and
Improvements Improvements

Television,
Radio,
Movie and
Auxiliary
Other
Equipment
Equipment
(In Millions)

Construction
in Progress

Total

= 834
P
–
–
–
–
834

P
= 10,263
23
–
51
(4)
10,333

P
= 11,458
1,383
(369)
138
(46)
12,564

P
= 5,076
596
(239)
108
(266)
5,275

P
= 168
398
–
(297)
28
297

P
= 27,799
2,400
(608)
–
(288)
29,303

11
–
–
(1)
–
10
P
= 824

3,177
492
–
1
(1)
3,669
P
= 6,664

5,999
1,245
(243)
–
(7)
6,994
P
= 5,570

3,443
534
(277)
–
(205)
3,495
P
= 1,780

–
–
–
–
–
–
P
= 297

12,630
2,271
(520)
–
(213)
14,168
P
= 15,135

Land
Buildings
and Land
and
Improvements Improvements
P
=639
53

P
=10,058
71

78
–

102
(44)

64
834

76
10,263

10
–
–

2,679
491
–

1
11
=823
P

7
3,177
P
=7,086
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Television,
Radio,
Movie and
Auxiliary
Other
Equipment
Equipment
(In Millions)
=
P6,178
912
4,218
(110)
260
11,458
5,178
902
(99)
18
5,999
P
=5,459

P
=3,892
689
547
(129)
77
5,076
3,085
466
(112)
4
3,443
P
=1,633

Construction
in Progress

Total

=
P90
513

P
=20,857
2,238

15
(1)
(449)
168
–
–
–
–
–
P
=168

4,960
(284)
28
27,799
10,952
1,859
(211)
30
12,630
P
=15,169
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- 55 Carrying values of certain property and equipment pledged as collateral to secure ABS-CBN, Sky
Cable and PCC’s long-term debt (see Note 20) are as follows.
2009
P
=7,482
492
P
=7,974

ABS-CBN
Sky Cable and PCC
Net book value

2008
=8,852
P
3,340
=12,192
P

Unamortized borrowing costs capitalized as part of property and equipment amounted to
=856 million and P
P
=907 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. No borrowing
cost was capitalized in 2009 and 2008.
Property and equipment includes the following amounts where ABS-CBN and ABS-CBN
International are lessees under a finance lease (see Note 34):
2009

2008

P
=675
(520)
P
=155

P724
=
(504)
=220
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Cost - capitalized finance lease
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value
14. Investment Properties

This account pertains to a parcel of land purchased by ABS-CBN International, with a two-storey
house constructed thereon, located in Redwood City, California. The real property which was
acquired in July 2008 at a purchase price of US$1.4 million (P
=67 million) was intended to be held
by ABS-CBN International as investment property. To fund the acquisition, ABS-CBN
International availed of a loan from Citibank North America amounting to US$1.05 million
(P
=50 million) (see Note 20).
Cost and related accumulated depreciation of investment properties are as follows:
2009
Building

Land
Cost:
Balance at beginning of year
Translation adjustments
Balance at end of year
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation
Balance at end of year
Net book value
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(Amounts in Millions)
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P
=33
(1)
32

P
=34
(1)
33

P
=67
(2)
65

–
–
–
P
=32

1
1
2
P
=31

1
1
2
P
=63
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Land

2008
Building

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

Cost Balance at beginning and
end of year
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation
Balance at end of year
Net book value:

P
=33

=
P34

=
P67

–
–
–
=
P33

–
1
1
=
P33

–
1
1
=
P66

2009

2008

P
=–
470
59

=583
P
371
299

15. AFS Financial Assets
(Amounts in Millions)

AFS financial assets:
Current
Noncurrent
Unrealized gain on AFS financial assets

Current AFS financial assets in 2008 consist mainly of investment in Digitel with a fair market
value of =
P583 million as of December 31, 2008. Noncurrent AFS financial assets represent
investments in ordinary shares and therefore have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. AFS
equity investments with a carrying value of P
=15 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, were
pledged as part of the collateral to secure ABS-CBN’s long-term debt (see Note 20).
In 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Parent Company disposed some of its AFS financial assets resulting
in a gain on sale of P
=428 million, =
P137 million and P
=79 million, net of direct costs, respectively.
All the Digitel shares were sold in 2009.
On November 12, 2008, ABS-CBN Global, a subsidiary, purchased a total of 2,524,488 shares of
Series P common stock of Multiply, Inc. (Multiply), a Delaware, US corporation engaged in
independent social networking site, equivalent to 5% equity interest. ABS-CBN Global purchased
the investment at US$1.98 per share for an aggregate purchase price of US$5 million. The Stock
Purchase Agreement provides that during the two-year period immediately following the Initial
Closing date, Multiply may issue additional 1,964,051 shares of Series P common stock at a the
same price per share as the original purchase for an aggregate purchase price of up to US$3.9
million, in exchange for in-kind contributions of marketing and advertising supplied by ABS-CBN
Global, intended to be used to acquire new users of Multiply’s services.
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2008

2009

(Amount in Millions)

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year
Effect of business combination (see Note 4a)
Excess of acquisition cost over the carrying
value of minority interest in PCC and
ABS-CBN International
(see Notes 4b and 4c)
Balance at end of year
Less accumulated impairment loss Balance at beginning and end of year

P
=2,166
–

=146
P
1,462

229
2,395

558
2,166

22
P
=2,373

22
=2,144
P

Goodwill arose from the following business combination and acquisitions of minority interests:
2008
=1,462
P
558
–
104
13
7
=2,144
P

2009
P
=1,462
558
229
104
13
7
P
=2,373

Sky Cable
PCC
ABS-CBN International
ABS-CBN
ABS-CBN Interactive
ABS-CBN Multimedia

Goodwill pertaining to investment in Roadrunner amounting to =
P22 million was fully provided
with an allowance for impairment loss.
17. Program Rights and Other Intangible Assets
2009

Program
Customer
Rights Relationships
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Amortization and write-off
Translation adjustment
Balance at end of year
Less current portion
Noncurrent portion

= 2,410
P
996
(1,028)
–
2,378
909
= 1,469
P

Benpres Holdings

P
= 538
–
(46)
–
492
–
P
= 492

105

Production
and
Distribution
Cable
Business Channels Middle East
CPI
(Amounts in Millions)
P
= 460
–
–
–
460
–
P
= 460

P
= 110
–
(6)
(4)
100
1
P
= 99

Others
P
= 93
156
(206)
–
43
39
P
=4

Total
P
= 3,611
1,152
(1,286)
(4)
3,473
949
P
= 2,524
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Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Effect of business combination
(see Note 4a)
Amortization and write-off
Translation adjustment
Balance at end of year
Less current portion
Noncurrent portion

Program
Rights

Customer
Relationships

P
=2,025
1,555

=
P–
–

–
(1,170)
–
2,410
1,354
=
P1,056

Production
and
Distribution
Cable
Channels Business Middle East
CPI
(Amounts in Millions)

607
(69)
–
538
–
P
=538

Others

Total

P
=460
–

P
=100
–

=
P87
172

P
=2,672
1,727

–
–
–
460
–
P
=460

–
(5)
15
110
–
P
=110

–
(166)
–
93
86
=
P7

607
(1,410)
15
3,611
1,440
=
P2,171

Costs and related accumulated amortization of intangible assets, excluding program rights, are as
follows:

Cost
Accumulated
amortization
Net book value

Customer
Relationships
= 607
P
(115)
P492
=

2008

2009
Production
and
Cable Distribution
Business Channels CPI Middle East
P
= 575
P
= 212
(115)
P
= 460

Customer
Total Relationships
=607
P
P
= 1,394

(113)
P
= 99

(343)
P
= 1,051

(69)
=538
P

Production
and
Cable Distribution
Business Channels CPI Middle East
P
=575
P
=212
(115)
P
=460

(102)
P
=110

Total
P
=1,394
(286)
P
=1,108

The customer relationships acquired in a business combination relate to the core subscribers of
Sky Cable’s postpaid, prepaid and platinum, broadband and other Sky Cable’s subsidiaries at
conversion date who have sustained relationship with Sky Cable and its subsidiaries for more than
one year (see Note 4a).
The cable channels include Lifestyle Channel, Cinema One and Myx Channel acquired by CPI
from Sky Vision. Based on ABS-CBN’s analysis of all the relevant factors, there is no
foreseeable limit to the period over which this business is expected to generate net cash inflows
for ABS-CBN and therefore, assessed to have an indefinite life. As such, yearly amortization has
been discontinued in 2001. The carrying amount is net of previously recognized amortization
amounting to =
P115 million. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, cable channels were tested for
impairment.
Production and distribution business for the Middle East operations represents payments arising
from the sponsorship agreement between Arab Digital Distribution (ADD) and ABS-CBN Middle
East. This agreement grants ABS-CBN the right to operate in the Middle East with ADD as
sponsor for a period of 25 years.
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2009

2008

P
=2,561
71

=2,681
P
55

–
441
P
=3,073

218
141
=3,095
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Tax credits with TCCs
Pension asset (Note 22)
Deposits - net of allowance for impairment losses
of P
=4,833, and =
P4,615 in 2009 and 2008,
respectively (see Note 25)
Deferred charges and others
a. Tax Credits

Tax credits represent claims of ABS-CBN and Sky Cable from the government arising from
airing of government commercials and advertisements. Pursuant to PD No. 1362, these will
be collected in the form of TCCs which ABS-CBN can use in paying for import duties and
taxes on its broadcasting equipment. ABS-CBN expects to utilize these tax credits within the
next 10 years or until 2019.
In 2008, Sky Cable recognized a provision for impairment of tax credits amounting to
=100 million included in the “General and administrative expenses” account in the
P
consolidated statement of income.
b. Deposits
Deposits are payments for options to purchase shares of stock of Bayantel (net of allowance
for impairment loss of =
P2,217 million in 2009 and 2008) and Sky Vision (net of allowance for
impairment loss of =
P2,616 million and =
P2,398 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively) from
Lopez at a pre-agreed price. The options will be exercised by the Parent Company when the
underlying shares of the associates are listed in the PSE in connection with their initial public
offering.
The Parent Company recognized an impairment loss of =
P218 for its deposits in Sky Vision in
2009. No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007.
c. Deferred Charges
Deferred charges as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 amounting to P
=243 million and
=107 million, respectively, mainly pertain to the excess of cost over revenue from installation
P
of decoders and set-top boxes. Amortization of deferred charges amounted to =
P47 million,
=30 million and P
P
=40 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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2009

2008

P
=1,377

=1,567
P

2,629
1,364
893
449
965
953
460
1,037
P
=10,127

5,858
1,367
527
336
1,129
852
468
378
=12,482
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Trade
Accrued expenses:
Interest (see Note 20)
Production costs and other expenses
Salaries and other employee benefits
Taxes
Current portion of obligations for program rights
Due to related parties (see Note 25)
Deferred revenue
Other accrued liabilities

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days term.
Accrued interest includes PCC’s overdue and accrued interest amounting to =
P133 million as of
December 31, 2008 which were restructured as a Yield Recapture Obligation (YRO)
(see Note 20).
Accrued expenses are usually payable within the next financial year.
Obligations for program rights represent liabilities to foreign and local film suppliers for program
rights purchased by the Company. The liabilities are non-interest-bearing and are payable in equal
monthly, quarterly or semiannually installments over a period of one or two years.
Deferred revenue pertains to payments received before broadcast and subscription fees billed or
received in advance.
Other accrued liabilities include statutory liabilities.
20. Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings
2009
Current Noncurrent
Parent Company
ABS-CBN
Sky Cable
PCC
ABS-CBN International

P
=2,933
609
–
–
16
P
=3,558

Benpres Holdings

P
=12
7,102
692
500
46
P
=8,352

108

Total

Current

P
=2,945
7,711
692
500
62
P
=11,910

=8,642
P
902
–
213
17
=9,774
P

2008
Noncurrent

Total

=
P12
6,828
691
–
63
P
=7,594

P
=8,654
7,730
691
213
80
P
=17,368

(Amounts in Millions)
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2009
Current Noncurrent
7.875% Notes
LTCPs
4.2% Perpetual Convertible
Bonds

Total

Current

2008
Noncurrent

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=2,058
875

P
=–
–

P
=2,058
875

P7,128
=
1,514

=
P–
–

=
P7,128
1,514

–
P
=2,933

12
P
=12

12
P
=2,945

–
=8,642
P

12
=
P12

12
=
P8,654

a. 7.875% Notes
The Parent Company issued on June 17, 1997 US$150 million of the 7.875% Notes listed in
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The 7.875% Notes which matured on December 19, 2002,
bear interest at 7.875% per annum, net of withholding taxes, payable in arrears in equal semiannual installments in June and December of each year. At the option of the Noteholders, the
Parent Company will redeem all (but not less than all) of such holder’s 7.875% Notes at any
time upon the occurrence of the Restructuring Event as defined in the Indenture, which
excludes the event described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, at 100% of the
principal amount thereof, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption and any
additional amounts in accordance with the terms of the 7.875% Notes.
At the option of the Parent Company, the 7.875% Notes may be redeemed at 100% of the
principal amount thereof, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption and any
additional amounts in accordance with the terms of the 7.875% Notes, in whole or in any part,
at anytime by giving 30 to 45 days notice to Noteholders on certain conditions as defined
under the terms of the 7.875% Notes.
The 7.875% Notes constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Parent
Company and shall at all times rank pari-passu and without any preference or priority among
themselves. The payment obligations of the Parent Company under the 7.875% Notes shall,
save for such exceptions as may be provided by mandatory provision of law and subject to the
terms of the 7.875% Notes, at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and
future unsecured obligations.
The 7.875% Notes provide certain restrictions with respect to, among others, incurrence of
debt and merger or consolidation, except in certain circumstances.
In 2002, the Parent Company defaulted on its principal and interest payments on the 7.875%
Notes. The terms of the 7.875% Notes provide that the principal amount, together with
accrued interest thereon and all other amounts due and payable, become immediately due and
payable.
The Parent Company has made good faith semi-annual interest payments on the 7.875% Notes
since 2002.
In 2009, the Company purchased Notes with a value of US$110 million (P
=5,079 million) from
various creditors, at an average price of 62% of the principal amount. The related gain from
the said purchase amounted to US$145 million (P
=4,392 million) and was recorded under
“Gain on extinguishment of debt” in the 2009 consolidated statement of income.
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- 62 b. LTCPs
On August 9, 1996, the Philippine SEC approved the issuance of =
P3 billion worth of LTCPs to
finance the Parent Company’s investments in real property development, telecommunications,
infrastructure projects and power-related projects of its subsidiaries and associates.
The LTCPs were offered and issued in two series, “A-1” for P
=1,000 million and “A-2” for
=2,000 million. Series A-1 was fully paid in 2001. Series A-2 was supposed to be repaid in
P
one lump sum on October 1, 2003 with interest at 1-1/8% above the 91-day TB rate, also
payable quarterly in arrears.
The LTCPs provide certain restrictions and requirements with respect to, among others,
incurrence of mortgage, pledge, lien or other encumbrance over the whole or any part of the
Parent Company’s assets or revenue, merger or consolidation, sales, lease, transfer or
otherwise disposal of all or substantially all of its assets, dividend distribution and
maintenance of certain financial ratios.
The Parent Company also defaulted on its interest payments on the LTCP’s in 2002 and on its
principal in 2003. The terms of the LTCP provide for the payment of penalties should there
be an event of default on interest and/or principal computed at 24% per annum from the date
of default.
In 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Parent Company purchased LTCPs with face value of
=644 million, =
P
P480 million and P
=10 million at 64% and 60% of the principal amount of debt,
respectively. The purchase resulted in a gain on acquisition of debt amounting to
=236 million, =
P
P189 million and P
=4 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The gain
was recorded under “Gain on extinguishment and acquisition of debt” in the consolidated
statements of income.
c. 4.2% Perpetual Convertible Bonds (Bonds)
The 4.2% Bonds, listed in the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and issued in registered form in
denomination of US$1.49 each, bear interest from November 26, 1994 at 4.2% per annum, net
of withholding taxes, determined at a fixed exchange rate and payable annually in arrears on
November 30 of each year commencing on November 30, 1995. The Bonds may be
converted on or after November 26, 1995 into fully paid common shares of the Parent
Company by reference to the Philippine Peso equivalent of the US Dollar-denominated
principal amount of the Bonds, determined at a fixed exchange rate, and at an initial
conversion price of =
P4.20 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. The Bonds are
redeemable at the option of the Parent Company, in whole or in part, at any time after
November 26, 1998 at a price equal to the principal amount of the Bonds or market price of
the shares issuable upon conversion, whichever is higher, subject to certain conditions.
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 29,449 units have been converted into 324,337,262
common shares. Certain number of shares equivalent to 3,421,410 shares, are reserved to
cover any conversion of the outstanding Bonds into common shares and stock dividends
declared during the year.
The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and subject to certain exceptions,
unsecured obligations of the Parent Company and shall at all times rank pari-passu and
without any preference or priority among themselves and at least equally with all other present
and future unsecured obligations of the Parent Company, except for such exceptions as may
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- 63 be provided by applicable legislation. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, =
P12 million of the
Bonds are outstanding.
As discussed in Note 1b, the Parent Company is currently negotiating with the creditors to address
all its financial obligations. Interest and other finance charges, including penalties recognized by
the Parent Company amounted to P
=548 million in 2009, =
P991 million in 2008 and =
P1,211 million
in 2007, shown as part of “Finance costs” in the consolidated statements of income.
ABS-CBN
Current

2009
Noncurrent

Total

Current

2008
Noncurrent

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

Bank loans
Term loans:
SCA:
Tranche B
Tranche C
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO)
Syndicated loans for Sky Cable Debt
Security Bank Corporation (Security
Bank)
Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI)
Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI)
Obligations under capital lease

= 400
P

=
P–

=
P400

=738
P

=
P–

=
P738

–
–
104
–

1,810
403
1,182
1,260

1,810
403
1,286
1,260

–
–
40
–

1,794
403
1,286
1,217

1,794
403
1,326
1,217

–
–
–
105
= 609
P

991
981
400
75
P
= 7,102

991
981
400
180
P
= 7,711

–
–
–
124
=902
P

989
979
–
160
P
=6,828

989
979
–
284
P
=7,730

a. Bank Loans
This represents peso and dollar-denominated loans obtained from local banks which bear
average annual interest rates of 5% in 2009 and 9% in 2008.
b. Term Loans under the Senior Credit Agreement (SCA)
On June 18, 2004, ABS-CBN entered into an SCA with several foreign and local banks
(Original Lenders) for a US$120 million dual currency syndicated term loan facility for the
purpose of refinancing existing indebtedness incurred for the construction of the Eugenio
Lopez, Jr. Communications Center, additional investment in the cable TV business and
funding capital expenditures and working capital requirements of ABS-CBN. The SCA is
classified into three groups namely:
�
�
�

Tranche A, a floating rate facility (3.5% + LIBOR) amounting to US$62 million
Tranche B, a floating rate facility (3.5% + MART1 T-bill) amounting to =
P2,688 million
Tranche C, a fixed rate facility (3.5% + FXTN) amounting to =
P560 million

The term loans have all been availed of in March 2005. ABS-CBN’s obligations under the
SCA is secured and covered by a Mortgage Trust Indenture (MTI) which consists of
substantially all of ABS-CBN’s real property and moveable assets used in connection with its
business and insurance proceeds related thereto. Further, ABS-CBN’s obligation under the
SCA is jointly and severally guaranteed by its principal subsidiaries.
The SCA contains provision regarding the maintenance of certain financial ratios and limiting,
among others, the incurrence of additional debt, the payment of dividends, making
investments, the issuing or selling of ABS-CBN’s capital stock or some of its subsidiaries, the
selling or exchanging of assets, creation of liens and effecting mergers. As of December 31,
2009 and 2008, ABS-CBN is in compliance with the provisions of the SCA.
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- 64 On January 11, 2007, ABS-CBN signed a commitment letter with ABN Amro Bank N.V., BPI
Capital Corporation and ING Bank N.V. (together, the Mandated Lead Arrangers,) to arrange
and underwrite on a firm commitment basis the refinancing/restructuring of the existing longterm loans. Consequently, the execution copies of the agreement amending the SCA facility
were signed on March 27, 2007.
The major amendments to the existing agreement that were agreed-upon with the Mandated
Lead Arrangers are as follows:
�

Additional amount available for drawdown amounting to US$5 million. The additional
amount for drawdown was subsequently drawn on March 29, 2007.

�

Bullet repayment schemes for Tranche B and Tranche C maturing in March 2012 while
maintaining the original structure of the Tranche A facility with a final due date of until
June 2009. Interest payments on a quarterly basis.
All outstanding US dollar- denominated loans under Tranche A amounting to
US$27 million (P
=1,132 million), were fully paid on December 18, 2007 from the proceeds
of the =
P1,350 million term loan from BDO.

�

Reduction from 3.50% to an average of about 2.20% of the applicable margins added to
the benchmark interest rates from 3.5% to about 2.25% for Tranche A and 2.15% for both
Tranche B and C.

�

All other assets, except for the Quezon City Broadcast Complex and certain broadcast
machinery and equipment contained therein, are removed from the MTI and no longer
form part of the security package.

�

Certain mandatory prepayment provisions are removed.

�

No financial ratio requirement on ABS-CBN’s parent company financial statements while
maintaining a financial ratio requirement on a consolidated basis but at more relaxed
thresholds.

�

ABS-CBN is allowed to make interest-bearing advances and guarantees to Sky Vision of
up to P
=400 million.

�

ABS-CBN is allowed to convert into equity outstanding advances amounting to
US$30 million including interest and P
=437 million, respectively, made to Sky Vision by
ABS-CBN and CPI (see Note 4a).

On September 14, 2007, the relevant parties to the SCA facility executed the First Amendment
Agreement. The amendments centered mainly on the following provisions:
�

Allow ABS-CBN to incur additional unsecured financial indebtedness;

�

Increase the amount of support that ABS-CBN can extend to Sky Vision and/or Sky Cable
from =
P400 million to P
=2,250 million.
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- 65 The amendment of the SCA facility substantially modified the terms of Tranche C.
Accordingly, this resulted in the derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a
new liability. Loss on derecognition of debt, included as part of “Gain on acquisition and
exchange of debt” account in the 2007 consolidated statement of income, amounted to
=16 million (P
P
=11 million, net of tax) (see Note 30).
On December 19, 2007, the relevant parties to the SCA facility executed the 2nd Amendment
Agreement. The amendments centered mainly on the removal of the pro-rata requirement in
cases of prepayment.
c. Term Loan Facility with BDO
On December 13, 2007, ABS-CBN together with BDO signed a =
P1,350 million secured
facility to refinance the entire Tranche A of the SCA facility equivalent to US$31 million.
The refinancing effectively extended the maturity from June 2009 to December 2012 with an
interest rate of 3mPDSTF plus 2.15%.
The BDO facility contains provision regarding the maintenance of certain financial ratios and
limiting, among others, the incurrence of additional debt, the payment of dividends, making
investments, the issuing or selling of ABS-CBN’s capital stock or some of its subsidiaries, the
selling or exchanging of assets, creation of liens and effecting mergers. As of December 31,
2009, ABS-CBN is in compliance with the provisions of the BDO facility.
ABS-CBN’s obligation under the BDO facility is jointly and severally guaranteed by its
principal subsidiaries.
d. Syndicated Loans for Sky Cable Debt
In the invitation dated July 27, 2007, ABS-CBN invited holders of outstanding loan
obligations of Sky Cable evidenced by promissory notes issued under the Facility Agreement
dated July 2, 2004 among Sky Vision, Sky Cable, Home Cable and certain institutions and
Equitable PCI Bank - Trust Banking (“Sky Cable Debt”) to offer to:
�

sell their Sky Cable Debt to ABS-CBN for up to 70% of the principal amount of the Sky
Cable Debt (“Cash Offer”); or

�

exchange their Sky Cable Debt for notes at up to 100% of the principal amount of the Sky
Cable Debt to be exchanged (“Exchange Offer”).

Holders of =
P944 million Sky Cable Debt opted for the Cash Offer while holders of
=854 million opted for the Exchange Offer. The total loans acquired by ABS-CBN amounted
P
to =
P1,798 million or 66% of Sky Cable total outstanding debt of =
P2,800 million. Thus,
ABS-CBN became Sky Cable’s creditor.
Cash Offer. On September 20, 2007, ABS-CBN settled the =
P944 million Sky Cable loans in
the amount of =
P662 million. To finance the settlement of the loans, ABS-CBN signed a
syndicated loan for =
P800 million with ING Bank N.V. and Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.,
Manila Branch with Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., Manila Branch acting as the facility agent.
The loan is unsecured and unsubordinated with an interest rate of 3mPHIBOR plus 2.75% per
annum and payable on September 20, 2012. The total amount of money withdrawn is
=662 million.
P
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- 66 Exchange Offer. On September 18, 2007, ABS-CBN successfully signed a syndicated loan
for P
=854 million with the previous lenders of Sky Cable, namely, United Coconut Planters
Bank, Bank of the Philippine Islands, Mega International Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., Olga
Vendivel and Wise Capital Investment & Trust Company, Inc., with Banco De Oro - EPCI,
Inc. acting as the facility agent. The loan is unsecured and unsubordinated with a fixed
coupon of 2% with payable on September 18, 2014.
ABS-CBN’s obligation under these facilities is jointly and severally guaranteed by its
principal subsidiaries.
Both loan facilities contain provisions regarding the maintenance of certain financial ratios
and limiting, among others, the incurrence of additional debt, the payment of dividends,
making investments, the issuing or selling of ABS-CBN’s capital stock or some of its
subsidiaries, the selling or exchanging of assets, creation of liens and effecting mergers. As of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, ABS-CBN is in compliance with the provisions of the two
facilities.
Debt discount which represents the difference between the nominal value and fair value of the
debt issued related to the Exchange Offer amounted to =
P298 million as of December 31, 2007.
ABS-CBN recognized “Day 1” profit of =
P206 million (P
=144 million, net of tax) in 2007 which
represents the difference between the fair value of Sky Cable Debt acquired and the fair value
of the consideration given (i.e., ABS-CBN debt and cash). This was included as part of “Gain
on extinguishment and acquisition of debt” account in the 2007 consolidated statement of
income.
On February 21, 2008, ABS-CBN and the remaining third party creditors of Sky Cable
approved the 2nd amendment of the Sky Cable Debt under a Facility Agreement. The
amendment included the rescheduling of the principal amortization to commence in
December 2011 with final maturity in September 2016.
e. Term Loan Facility with Security Bank
On August 15, 2008, ABS-CBN successfully signed a =
P1,000 million loan facility with
Security Bank jointly arranged by BPI Capital Corp and SB Capital Investment Corp. This
was fully drawn on August 27, 2008. The funds are used for capital expenditure and general
corporate purposes. The loan is unsecured, unsubordinated and guaranteed by certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries. The loan interest rate is 3mPDSTF plus 2.15% per annum, payable
of August 27, 2013.
f.

Term Loan Facility with BPI
On September 30, 2008, ABS-CBN successfully signed a P
=2,000 million loan facility with
BPI Asset Management and Trust Group as Investment Manager for ALFM Peso Bond Fund,
Inc., Bank of the Philippine Islands Asset Management and Trust Group as Trustee for various
Trust Accounts, The Philippine American Life and General Insurance Company and The
Insular Life Assurance Company, Ltd., as Fixed Loan Lenders and Allied Banking
Corporation and Allied Savings Bank as Variable Loan Lenders. This was jointly arranged by
BPI Capital Corp and SB Capital Investment Corp. The funds are used for capital expenditure
and general corporate purposes. The loan facility is unsecured and unsubordinated and
guaranteed by certain of the ABS-CBN’s subsidiaries.
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- 67 On October 30, 2008, the Company availed P
=1,000 million from the Fixed Loan Lenders with
fixed loan interest rate of 7yrPDSTF plus 1.5% per annum. The loan is payable on
October 30, 2015.
On September 30, 2008, the Company signed the Combined Facility Agreement with Security
Bank Corporation, lender of the facility agreement executed on August 15, 2008, BPI Bank of
the Philippine Islands Asset Management and Trust Group as Investment Manager for ALFM
Peso Bond Fund, Inc., Bank of the Philippine Islands Asset Management and Trust Group as
Trustee for various Trust Accounts, The Philippine American Life and General Insurance
Company and The Insular Life Assurance Company, Ltd., as Fixed Loan Lenders and Allied
Banking Corporation and Allied Savings Bank as Variable Loan Lenders, all lenders of the
facility agreement executed on September 30, 2008, together with BPI Capital Corp and SB
Capital Investment Corp acting as joint arrangers of both facilities. The agreement shall
combine both loan facilities in all material respects to be administered by BPI Asset
Management and Trust Group acting as facility agent.
The debt issue Cost on the term loan facility with Security Bank and BPI which represents
documentary stamp taxes, arranger, underwriting and other legal fees amounted to
=33 million.
P
On January 5, 2009, the Company availed P
=400 million from the Variable Loan Lenders with
a variable loan interest rate of 3mPDSTF plus 2.15% with a final maturity on January 5, 2014.
Sky Cable
Under the Debt Restructuring Agreement (DRA) dated July 2, 2004, the restructured loans, which
bear interest equal to the 90-day MART1 rate or the 91-day treasury bill rate in the absence of
MART1, plus 1%, is payable in seven years inclusive of a two-year grace period, in 20 unequal
consecutive quarterly amortizations commencing on September 30, 2006.
On February 21, 2008, ABS-CBN and the remaining third party creditors of Sky Cable approved
the 2nd amendment to the Facility Agreement. The amendment includes the rescheduling of the
principal amortizations to commence in December 2011 with final maturity in September 2016.
The agreement provided for certain requirements and restrictions with respect to, among others,
the maintenance of certain financial ratios, capital expenditures and business acquisition outside
the business plan, incurrence of additional debt, declaration of cash dividends, amendments of its
Articles of Incorporation or By-laws, reorganization, undertaking a quasi reorganization, reducing
its capital or change its fiscal year. In 2009 and 2008, Sky Cable was unable to comply with the
debt services coverage ratio, which is one of the financial ratios required by its creditors in the
agreements. However, in December 2009 and November 2008, respectively, Sky Cable was able
to serve a waiver from the majority of its creditors as required by the agreement.
The terms of the collateral trust indenture covering a portion of Sky Vision and Sky Cable’s loans
provide that Sky Cable shall at all times maintain the required collateral value, which consists of
various property and equipment (see Note 12e) sufficient to cover at least 200% of the total
outstanding amount of the loan.
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- 68 PCC
a. On February 27, 2004, PCC, together with its creditors, agreed to restructure PCC’s long-term
debt. The restructured debt, which bears an interest rate equal to MART1 plus a spread
ranging from 2.0% to 4.5% per annum, net of taxes, is payable in 15 quarterly installments
commencing on May 21, 2006.
This loan, together with the YRO, was fully paid in 2009.
b. On April 7, 2009, PCC acquired a term loan from BDO in which half of the loan bears a
MART1 rate plus 2.5% and the other half bears fixed rate of 8.5%. Both are payable in
installments commencing on April 16, 2010.
The loan is supported by deed of pledge of Sky Cable’s shares of stocks in PCC and
continuing surety agreement executed by Sky Vision.
ABS-CBN International
2009
Current Noncurrent
Term loan
Obligations under capital
lease (see Note 34)

Total

Current

2008
Noncurrent

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=1

P
=46

P
=47

=1
P

=
P48

P
=49

15
P
=16

P
=46

–

15
P
=62

16
P17
=

15
P
=63

31
P
=80

On August 19, 2008, ABS-CBN International availed of a loan from Citibank, North America
amounting to US$1.05 million (P
=50 million). The loan has a term of 20 years and can be repaid
starting on the 15th year.
Schedule of Maturities and Repayments
Repayments of long-term debt of the Company based on nominal values are scheduled as follows:
Year

Amount
(In Millions)

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 onwards

P
=3,558
461
4,072
1,258
2,561
=11,910
P

Details of unamortized transaction costs and debt discount, presented as a deduction from the
Company’s long-term debt as of December 31, are as follows:
2009
Debt discount
Transaction costs

P
=220
114
P
=334

Benpres Holdings

116

2008

2007

=256
P
144
=400
P

P
=9
102
=111
P

(Amounts in Millions)
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- 69 The 2007 amortization includes transaction costs of US$860,000 (P
=36 million) as of prepayment
date of the Tranche A. this should have been amortized until the final maturity of the Tranche A
in June 2009 had it not been prepaid in December 2007.
Debt issue costs are amortized over the term of the loans using the effective interest rate method as
follows:
Transactions Costs
SCATranche B

BDO Facility

Syndicated
Loans

Security
Bank/BPI
Facilities

Debt
Discount

Total

P
=39
44
47
51
34
P
=220

P
=73
80
69
61
51
P
=334

(Amounts in Millions)

2010
2011
2012
2013
2013 - 2015

=
P17
18
5
–
–
=40
P

P
=4
4
2
–
–
P
=10

P
=8
9
9
5
5
P
=36

P
=5
5
6
5
7
P
=28

Amortization of debt issue costs are as follows:
2008

2009

2007

(Amounts in Millions)

Debt discount (charged to interest
expense) (see Note 30)
Transaction costs (charged under
amortization of debt issue
costs) (see Note 30)

P
=36

=33
P

=9
P

29
P
=65

24
=57
P

102
P
=111

2009

2008

P
=185
184
47
18

=–
P
168
12
18

133
10
P
=577

103
83
=384
P

21. Other Noncurrent Liabilities
(Amounts in Millions)

Due to a related party (see Notes 4c and 25)
Customers’ deposits
Deferred credits
Asset retirement obligation
Obligations for program rights - net of current
portion (see Note 19)
Other noncurrent liabilities

Customer deposits relate to Sky Cable’s subscription agreement with customers. Customers’
deposits are initially recognized at fair value. The discount is recognized as deferred credits and
amortized over the estimated remaining term of the deposit as other income. Customers’ deposits
are refunded to the customers upon termination of service.
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- 70 22. Pension Plans
The Company’s pension plans are composed of funded (Parent Company, ABS-CBN and Sky
Cable) and unfunded (other subsidiaries), noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans, except
for ABS-CBN International (contributory), covering substantially all of its permanent employees.
The benefits are based on years of service and compensation during the last year of employment.
In November 2008, the BOD authorized the amendment of the Benpres Holdings Corporation
Retirement Plan to increase the retirement benefit from 150% of the final monthly salary of the
employee to 200% of the final monthly salary and remove the personal retirement account feature
of the Retirement Plan, provided that any funds in the personal retirement funds shall revert to the
general fund of the Retirement Plan. The employees agreed to the changes on the Retirement
Plan.
The following tables summarize the components of the Company’s net benefit expense (income)
recognized in the consolidated statement of income and the funded status and amounts recognized
in the consolidated statement of financial position for the plan:
Net Benefit Expense
2009

Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial loss (gain)
Gain recognized due to asset limit
Curtailment gain
Past service cost
Benefits paid out of the Company’s fund
Net pension expense

Pension Asset (Liability) 2009

P
=83
125
(24)
(35)
–
–
1
–
P
=150
Parent
Company

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of obligation
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain)
Pension asset (liability) (see Note 18)

Pension Asset (Liability) 2008

P
=203
(117)
86
(15)
=
P71
Parent
Company

2008

2007

(Amounts in Millions)

=144
P
128
(28)
11
–
(5)
15
20
=285
P

ABS-CBN

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=611
(1,762)
(1,151)
361
(P
=790)

ABS-CBN

P
=129
77
(24)
25
(1)
–
6
–
P
=212

Total
P
=814
(1,879)
(1,065)
346
(P
=719)

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of obligation
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain)
Pension asset (see Note 18)
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P
=130
(98)
32
23
=
P55

(P
=356)
569
213
579
P
=792

(P
=226)
471
245
602
P
=847
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- 71 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Company follow:
2009

2008

P
=1,016
667
125
83
(12)
–
–
–
P
=1,879

(P
=753)
935
128
144
(98)
295
21
(5)
=667
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Actuarial loss (gain) on obligation
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Effect of business combination
Past service cost
Curtailment gain
Defined benefit obligation at end of year
Changes in the fair value of plan assets of the Company follow:

2009

2008

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual contribution
Actuarial gains (losses)
Expected return on plan assets
Effect of business combination
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

P
=486
199
105
24
–
–
P
=814

=367
P
115
(39)
28
16
(1)
=486
P

Actual return (loss) on plan assets

P
=128

(P
=11)

(Amounts in Millions)

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets of the
Parent Company are as follows:
2009
57%
40
3

Shares of stock
Government instruments
Other securities and debt instruments

2008
34%
29
37

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets of
ABS-CBN are as follows:
Cash
Investment in FXTN/FRTN
Investment in government securities and bonds
Investment in stocks
Others

2009
–%
39
37
13
11
100%

2008
23%
42
18
14
3
100%

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing
on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.
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- 72 The Parent Company expects to contribute =
P8 million to its defined benefit obligation in 2010.
ABS-CBN expects to contribute =
P310 million to its defined benefit obligation in 2010. Sky Cable
does not expect to contribute to its pension plan in 2010.
The principal assumptions used based on January 1, 2009, 2008 and 2007 actuarial valuation in
determining obligations for the Parent Company’s plans are shown below:
2009
Discount rate
Expected rate of return on plan assets
Future salary rate increase

2008

2007

12–16
5–7
8–10

7–12
5–9
9–10

(In Percentage)

11–12
5–11
5–10

Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:
2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

(Amounts in Millions)

Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

=1,879
P
813

P667
=
486

=
P953
367

P
=921
248

=
P365
166

Deficit
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments on plan assets

=1,066
P
49
67

=181
P
(28)
(16)

P
=586
(18)
1

=
P673
(90)
23

=
P199
–*
–*

* Not required to be disclosed in 2005.

23. Equity and Minority Interests
Details of authorized and issued capital stock as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are as
follows:
Number of Shares

Amount
(In Millions)

Common shares - P
=1 par value
Authorized shares

5,500,000,000

P
=5,500

Issued shares

4,581,544,408

=
P4,581

24. Earnings Per Share (EPS) attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
computations:
2009

2008

2007

=11,901
P

=2,920
P

=
P5,365

1

1

1

=11,902
P

=2,921
P

=
P5,366

(Amounts in Millions, except Number of Shares)

(a) Income attributable to equity holders of the parent
Interest on convertible bonds and amortization
of bond issue cost
(b) Net income attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company - diluted
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2009

2007

(Amounts in Millions, except Number of Shares)

(c) Weighted average number of common
shares - basic (see Note 23)
Conversion of bonds (see Note 20)
(d) Adjusted weighted average common shares diluted

=4,581,544,408 =
P4,581,544,408
=4,581,544,408 P
P
3,421,410
3,421,410
3,421,410
4,584,965,818

4,584,965,818

4,584,965,818

P2.5976
=
2.5959

P0.6373
=
0.6371

P
=1.171
1.170

Per share amounts:
Basic (a/c)
Diluted (b/d)

There have been no other transactions involving shares or potential shares between the financial
reporting date and the date of completion of these consolidated financial statements.
25. Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or
common significant influence.
In addition to the related party transactions as discussed in Notes 8, 11 and 19, transactions of the
Parent Company with related parties involve deposits for options to purchase shares of stock of
Bayantel and Sky Vision at a pre-agreed price from Lopez (see Note 18).
As discussed in Note 20, certain obligations of ABS-CBN are jointly and severally guaranteed by
its principal subsidiaries.
The outstanding balances of the Company resulting from the related party transactions as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 are carried in the following accounts in the consolidated statement
of financial position:
2009

2008

P
=4,833

=4,833
P

3,986
953
130

3,938
852
189

(Amounts in Millions)

Deposits - net of allowance of P
=4,833 million in
2009 and P
=4,615 million in 2008 (see Note 18)
Advances to associates - net of allowance for
impairment loss of =
P3,458 million in 2009 and
=3,389 million in 2008 (see Note 12)
P
Due to related parties (see Notes 19 and 21)
Due from related parties (see Note 8)
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- 74 Significant transactions of ABS-CBN with associates and related parties follow:
2009
Associates:
Blocktime fees paid by ABS–CBN to Amcara
Management fees charged to Sky Cable(a)
Blocktime fees paid by ABS-CBN to Amcara
License fees charged by CPI to Sky Cable(a), PCC and
Home Cable
Interest on noncurrent receivable from Sky Cable
(see Notes 11 and 30)
Other related parties:
Expenses paid by the Parent Company and subsidiaries
to Manila Electric Company (Meralco, an associate
of FPHC), Bayantel and other related parties
Termination cost charges of Bayantel, a subsidiary of
Lopez, Inc., to ABS-CBN Global
Airtime revenue from Manila North Tollways Corp.
(up to November 2008), Bayantel and Meralco
Expenses and charges paid for by the Parent Company
which are reimbursed by the concerned related
parties
(a)

2008

2007

(Amounts in Millions)

=25
P
1
–

=40
P
6
–

=
P–
21
54

–

27

105

–

30

35

523

541

425

187

267

277

65

56

74

19

16

28

Effective March 15, 208, Sky Cable became a subsidiary of ABS–CBN (see Note 4)

The related receivables from related parties, presented under “Trade and other receivables”
account (see Note 8) and payables to related parties, presented under “Trade and other payables”
account (see Note 19) and “Due to a related party” (see Note 25) under “Other noncurrent
liabilities” account (see Note 21) in the consolidated statements of financial position, are as
follows:
2009

2008

P
=63
9
7
6
2
2
2
2
2
2
−
1
22
P
=120

=63
P
13
7
6
3
2
2
2
−
1
78
1
1
=189
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Due from:
Luzon Communities Holdings, Inc.
ABS-CBN Foundation, Inc.
Lopez Inc.
Goldlink Securities and Investigation Services
Sky Foundation, Inc.
Corporate Information Solutions, Inc.
Knowledge Channel Foundation, Inc.
Rockwell Land Corporation
Sky Guide, Inc.
Star Cinema
Benpres Publishing, Inc.
Mobile Ventures Holdings, Inc.
Others
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Due to:
Bayantel
Sky Vision
BTI (see Note 4)
Amcara
Lopez
Sky Guide, Inc.
Others

2009

2008

P
=228
228
277
69
29
−
307
P
=1,138

=−
P
259
–
70
53
35
435
=852
P

a. License Fees Charged by CPI to Sky Cable
CPI has an existing cable lease agreement (Agreement) with Sky Cable for the airing of the
cable channels (see Note 17) to the franchise areas of Sky Cable and its cable affiliates. The
initial Agreement with Sky Cable is for a period of five years effective January 1, 2001,
renewable on a yearly basis upon mutual consent of both parties. Said Agreement was
renewed for one year in 2006 and 2007 and under negotiation for 2008. Under the terms of
the Agreement, CPI receives license fees from Sky Cable and its cable affiliates computed
based on agreed percentage of subscription revenue of Sky Cable and its cable affiliates. As
the owner of the said cable channels, CPI develops and produces its own shows and acquires
program rights from various foreign and local suppliers.
b. Blocktime Fees Paid by Studio 23 to Amcara
ABS-CBN and Studio 23 own the program rights being aired in UHF Channel 23 of Amcara.
ABS-CBN and Studio 23 have an existing blocktime agreement with Amcara for its provincial
operations.
c. Management Fees Charged to Sky Cable
ABS-CBN renders management services to Sky Cable through designated employees.
d. Other transactions with associates include cash advances for working capital requirements.
Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
The transactions from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances as
of year-end are unsecured, interest-free payable on demand and settlement occurs in cash except
for the long-term receivables from Sky Cable. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables, except those disclosed in Notes 1 and 12.
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, allowance for impairment losses relating to advances to
associates amounted to =
P3,458 million and P
=3,389 million, respectively (see Note 12). This
assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the
related party and the market in which the related party operates.
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- 76 Compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Company
2008

2007

=749
P
46
29
–
=824
P

P
=484
44
22
1
P
=551

2008

2007

P
=3,108

=2,511
P

P
=2,715

748
980

668
685

566
447

529
228

505
228

549
192

357
137
93
541
P
=6,721

195
178
100
671
=5,741
P

102
184
100
881
P
=5,736

2008

2007

P
=2,900

=2,708
P

=
P2,823

1,170

1,092

972

551

692

853

791
875
P
=6,287

706
956
=6,154
P

645
1,200
P
=6,493

2009
Compensation
Pension benefits (see Note 22)
Other employee benefits
Termination benefits

P
=772
40
107
–
P
=919

(Amounts in Millions)

26. General and Administrative Expenses
2009
Personnel expenses (see Note 22)
Depreciation of property and equipment
(see Note 13)
Contracted services
Facilities related expenses
(see Notes 25 and 34)
Taxes and licenses
Provision for doubtful accounts
(see Note 8)
Advertising and promotions
Amusement and recreation
Other expenses (see Note 25)

(Amounts in Millions)

27. Production Costs
2009
Personnel expenses and talent fees
(see Note 22)
Facilities related expenses
(see Notes 25 and 34)
Amortization of program rights
(see Note 17)
Depreciation and amortization of
property and equipment
(see Note 13)
Other program expenses (see Note 25)

(Amounts in Millions)

Other program expenses of ABS-CBN consist of production expenses including, but not limited
to, set requirements, prizes, transportation, advertising and other expenses related to the
promotional activities of various projects during the year.
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2009
Facilities related expenses
(see Notes 25 and 34)
Personnel expenses (see Note 22)
Amortization of program rights
(see Note 17)
Termination costs (see Note 25)
Inventory cost
Depreciation and amortization
(see Note 13)
Other expenses

2008

2007

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=1,411
1,248

=1,238
P
879

=
P582
229

477
194
192

478
229
224

243
285
282

732
2,490
P
=6,744

474
2,176
=5,698
P

16
1,365
P
=3,002

Other expenses consist mainly of installation costs, licenses and royalties, service fees and
delivery charges.
29. Agency Commissions, Incentives and Co-producers’ Share
2009
Agency commissions
Incentives and co-producers’ share

P
=2,000
819
P
=2,819

2008

2007

=1,876
P
800
=2,676
P

P
=1,890
811
P
=2,701

(Amounts in Millions)

Industry rules allow ABS-CBN to sell up to 18 minutes of commercial spots per hour of television
programming. These spots are sold mainly through advertising agencies which act as the buying
agents of advertisers, and to a lesser extent, directly to advertisers. Substantially, all gross airtime
revenue, including airtime sold directly to advertisers, is subject to a standard of 15% agency
commission.
Incentives include early payment and early placement discount as well as commissions paid to
ABS-CBN’s account executives and cable operators.
ABS-CBN has co-produced shows which are programs produced by ABS-CBN together with
independent producers. Under this arrangement, ABS-CBN provides the technical facilities and
airtime and handles the marketing of the shows. The co-producers shoulder all other costs of
production. Revenue earned on these shows is shared between ABS-CBN and the co-producer.
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- 78 30. Other Income/Expenses
Finance Costs
2008

2007

P
=1,346
32
23
31

=1,569
P
46
48
26

P
=1,554
40
22
16

29
–
P
=1,461

24
–
=1,713
P

102
59
P
=1,793

2008

2007

P
=338
39

=116
P
49

P
=140
–

–
P
=377

30
=195
P

35
P
=175

2008

2007

2009
Interest expense (see Note 20):
Long-term debt
Obligations under capital lease
Bank loans
Bank service charges
Amortization of debt issue costs
(see Note 20)
Hedge cost (see Note 33)

(Amounts in Millions)

Interest Income
2009
Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 6)
Notes receivable (see Note 7)
Long-term receivables from Sky Cable
(see Note 11)

(Amounts in Millions)

Other Income (Expenses)
2009
Rental income (see Note 34)
Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Royalty income
Management fees (see Note 25)
Mark-to-market gains (losses)
(see Note 33)
Reversal of estimated liabilities from
guarantees and commitments
(see Note 11)
Reversal of allowance for impairment
losses on investments and advances
to related parties - net (see Note 12)
Others (see Note 18)

P
=129
(44)
37
39
(1)
–
–
28
P
=188

(Amounts in Millions)

=109
P
(2,209)
24
14
216
1,082
22
278
(P
=464)

P
=110
3,242
39
78
(348)
–
241
59
=3,421
P

Others mainly pertain to income from gate receipts, studio tours, management fees and other
miscellaneous revenue.
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The components of consolidated deferred tax assets and liabilities of ABS-CBN are as follows:
2009

2008

P
=366

=322
P

(257)
197

(272)
112

144

160

(128)
107
68
17
128
P
=642

(65)
89
57
56
144
=603
P

P
=491
17
4
P
=512

=551
P
82

(Amounts in Millions)

Accrued pension obligation and other
employee benefits
Capitalized interest, duties and taxes
(net of accumulated depreciation)
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for impairment loss on property
and equipment
Gain on acquisition and exchange of debt
(net of accretion)
Accrued expenses
MCIT
NOLCO
Others
Deferred tax liabilities:
Excess of the fair value over the book value
of net assets of Sky Cable (see Note 4)
Gain on acquisition and exchange of debt
Others

–

=633
P

The details of unrecognized deductible temporary differences, NOLCO and MCIT are as follow:
Parent Company:
NOLCO
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
MCIT
Accrued retirement and unamortized past service
cost
ABS-CBN:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for impairment loss on property and
equipment
NOLCO
Accrued retirement expense and others
Unearned revenue
MCIT

2009

2008

P
=2,983
1,084
10

=521
P
4,419
30

8

13

1,295

1,509

642
284
158
8
3
P
=6,475

559
491
135
63
11
=7,751
P

(Amounts in Millions)

The Company did not recognize any deferred tax assets on these temporary differences, NOLCO
and MCIT because management believes that the Company may not be able to generate sufficient
taxable profit that will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be
utilized.
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- 80 In 2009, MCIT and NOLCO amounting to =
P40 million and =
P513 million expired and written off,
respectively. NOLCO amounting to =
P7 million was claimed as deduction by ABS-CBN against
normal taxable income.
MCIT and NOLCO which can be claimed as tax credit against future regular corporate income tax
as follows:
Parent Company
Year Paid/Incurred

Expiry Date

2007
2008
2009

December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2012

MCIT

NOLCO

P
=7
2
1
=10
P

=
P72
38
2,873
=
P2,983

MCIT

NOLCO

P
=19
25
27
=71
P

=
P194
117
29
=
P340

(Amounts in Millions)

ABS-CBN
Years Incurred

Expiry Dates

2007
2008
2009

December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Millions)

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, deferred income tax liability has not been recognized on
undistributed earnings of ABS-CBN Global, holding company of ABS-CBN’s foreign
subsidiaries, amounting to P
=749 million and P
=282 million, respectively, since ABS-CBN is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference. The undistributed earnings are earmarked for
expansion in ABS-CBN’s foreign operations.
The reconciliation of statutory income tax rate to effective tax rates applied follows:
Statutory income tax rate
Income tax effects of the following:
Equity in net earnings of associates
Interest income subjected to final tax
Change in value of unrecognized
deferred tax assets
Nondeductible expense
Change in tax rates
Nondeductible interest and others
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2009
30%

2008
35%

2007
35%

(31)
(3)

(5)
(37)

(14)
(1)

3
3
–
3
5%

20
8
(5)
7
23%

(6)
(5)
–
5
14%
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- 81 32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Company’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise interest-bearing
loans and borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, AFS financial assets,
and trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to fund the
Company’s investments in associated companies and to raise fund for operations.
The Parent Company holds equity in subsidiaries and associates, which may or may not result in
receipt of dividends in a given year and has various other financial assets and liabilities which
arise directly from its operations.
ABS-CBN enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps and cross
currency swaps. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from
ABS-CBN’s operations and its sources of finance.
The main risks that may arise from the Company’s financial instruments are foreign currency
exchange risk and revaluation risk, interest rate risk, cash flow (liquidity) risk, liquidity risk and
credit risk. The BOD reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarized below.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk and Revaluation Risk
Volatility in foreign currency exchange rates may expose the Parent Company to economic and
accounting losses related to large direct and indirect foreign currency-denominated obligations.
Extraordinary fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may affect reported operational
profits and deficit, potentially reducing the ability of subsidiaries and associates to declare
dividends.
The risk was eased by the debt buyback undertaken in 2009 and 2008, which directly reduced the
Parent Company’s foreign currency debt by US$249 million and US$43 million, respectively.
ABS-CBN’s primary exposure to the risk in changes in foreign currency relates to ABS-CBN’s
long-term debt obligation. Before the prepayment of all outstanding dollar loan obligations under
Tranche A of the SCA facility, approximately 26% of ABS-CBN’s borrowings are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the operating unit. These were all covered by
cross currency swaps which have all been terminated as a result of the prepayment of the
underlying loan obligation. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, there no outstanding derivative
contracts and all of ABS-CBN’s loan obligations are in Philippine currency.
It is ABS-CBN’s policy to enter into cross currency swaps to manage this risk and eliminate the
variability of cash flows due to changes in the fair value of the foreign currency-denominated debt
with maturity of more than one year.
Other than the debt obligations, ABS-CBN has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure
arises when the transaction is denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
operating unit or the counterparty.
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- 82 The following tables show the Company’s significant foreign currency-denominated financial
assets and liabilities and their Philippine Peso equivalents as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Other noncurrent assets
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loans
and borrowings
Obligations for program
rights
Net foreign currencydenominated
financial assets
(liabilities)

2009
Original Currency
(Amounts in Thousands)
United
Arab
Emirates
Swiss
Dirham
Franc
GBP
AUD
(AED)
(CHF)

Norway Denmark
Kroner
Kroner
(NOK)
(DKK)

Sweden
Kroner
(SEK)

Saudi
Arabia
Riyal
Peso
(SAR) Equivalent

USD

EUR

JPY

CAD

22,036

3,654

27,978

779

–

436

698

–

35

–

22

2,341 1,376,376

97,289
95,046
214,371

188
10
3,852

234,907
–
262,885

1,227
–
2,006

740
20
760

1,062
30
1,528

1,261
334
2,293

293
–
293

905
–
940

113
–
113

654
–
676

807 4,830,683
– 4,398,720
3,148 10,605,779

84,308

1,353

280,788

312

583

1,057

10,362

–

–

–

–

42 4,359,138

45,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

– 2,075,000

11,061
140,369

–
1,353

–
280,788

–
312

–
583

–
1,057

–
10,362

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
511,040
42 6,945,178

74,002

2,499

(17,903)

1,694

177

471

293

940

113

676

3,106 3,660,601

(8,069)

2008
Original Currency

(Amounts in Thousands)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other noncurrent assets
Financial Liabilities
Short-term loans
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loans and
borrowings
Estimated liabilities from
guarantees and
commitments
Obligations for program rights
Net foreign currencydenominated financial
assets (liabilities)

USD

EURO
(EUR)

AUD

United Arab
Emirates
Dirham
(AED)

Peso
Equivalent

JPY

CAD

GBP

1,253
–
297
1,550

–
–
(115)
(115)

–
–
(49)
(49)

99
4,735
1,325
6,159

759,732
763,263
455,773
1,978,768

14,229
15,776
8,154
38,159

470
(658)
661
473

4,079
(7,082)
9,843
6,840

5,000
11,455

–
235

–
13,452

–
–

–
89

–
38

–
7,557

237,600
521,428

150,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,128,000

–
–
–

–
–
89

–
–
38

–
–
7,557

6,890,000
422,502
15,199,530

(204)

(87)

(1,398)

(13,220,762)

145,000
8,891
320,346

–
–
(235)

–
–
13,452

(282,187)

(708)

(6,612)

1,550

In translating the foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities into peso amounts,
the Company used the following exchange rates as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:
Currency
USD
EUR
JPY
CAD
AED
GBP
AUD
CHF
NOK
DKK
SEK
SAR

2009
46.20
66.66
0.51
44.47
12.62
74.19
41.14
44.81
8.00
8.96
6.43
12.36
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2008
47.52
66.63
0.53
39.17
12.91
70.09
32.22
–
–
–
–
–
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- 83 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in foreign
currency exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s income before
income tax and equity. The impact on the Company’s equity already excludes the impact on
transactions affecting the net income.
Increase (Decrease)
in P
= to Foreign Currency
Exchange Rate
USD
EUR
JPY
CAD
GBP
AUD
AED
CHF
NOK
DKK
SEK
SAR

EUR
JPY
CAD
GBP

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
(Amount in Millions)

3%
3%
4%
-6%
4%
-5%
5%
-2%
2%
-5%
1%
-1%
3%
-6%
2%
-4%
2%
-16%
4%
-6%
6%
-8%
3%
0%

P
=103
(103)
7
(10)
–
–
4
(2)
–
(1)
–
–
(3)
6
–
(1)
–
(1)
–
–
–
–
1
–

Increase (Decrease)
in =
P to Foreign Currency
Exchange Rate
USD

2009

2008

3%
-1%
1%
-1%
1%
-4%
2%
-3%
2%
-2%
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Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
(Amount in Millions)

P
=402
134
(–)
–
(4)
–
1
(2)
–
–
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Increase (Decrease)
in =
P to Foreign Currency
Exchange Rate
AUD

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
(Amount in Millions)

4%
-7%
3%
-1%

AED

–
–
(1)
–
2007

Increase (Decrease)
in =
P to Foreign Currency
Exchange Rate
JPY

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
(Amount in Millions)

14%
-4%
5%
-5%
5%
-4%

CAD
AED

–
–
–
–
–
–

The change in currency rate is based on the Company’s best estimate of expected change
considering historical trends and experiences. Positive change in currency rate reflects a weaker
peso against foreign currency.
The Company computes for the percentages of changes in exchange rates for the foreign
currency-denominated accounts by comparing the year-end closing rates or existing foreign
currency exchange rates with the forward foreign currency exchange rates three months before and
after financial reporting date. The Company assumes the trend for the six months period to be
their exposure on foreign currency fluctuations.
Interest Rate Risk
Fluctuations in interest rates affect the company’s capital availability or cash flow risk as they
expose the Parent Company to variable cash requirements in relation to debt with floating interest
rates, including goodwill interest which is based on LIBOR and PDST-F.
The term sheet circulated by the Parent Company to creditors on December 19, 2008 includes
fixed interest rates for both Philippine Peso and US$ obligations.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity analysis to a reasonable possible change in
interest rates for the next 12 months as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, with all other variable
held constant, of the Parent Company’s income before income tax. There is no other impact on
the Parent Company’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statement of
income.
Increase (Decrease)
in Basis Points
2008
2009
Change in interest rate

Benpres Holdings

+34
-34

132

+9
-9

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
2008
2009
(Amount in Millions)

(P
=231)
231

(P
=1,105)
1,105

*SGVMC213025*�
2009 Annual Report

- 85 ABS-CBN’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rates relates primarily to
ABS-CBN’s debt obligations with floating interest rates.
To manage this mix in a cost-efficient manner, ABS-CBN entered into interest rate swaps, in
which ABS-CBN agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal
amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. Before the
prepayment of all outstanding loan obligations under Tranche A of the SCA facility and after
taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 43% of ABS-CBN’s
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. However, in 2007, the derivative contracts that cover
these swaps have been terminated as a result of the prepayment of the underlying loan obligation.
Without the existence of any swaps, ABS-CBN’s loan with fixed rate of interest is at about 25%
of the total loans at the end of 2009 and 26% as at end of 2008.
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the ABS-CBN’s consolidated
financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

Within One to Two
One Year
Years

Two to
Three
Years

Four
Three
to Four
to Five
Years
Years
(Amounts in Thousands)

More than
Five Years

Transaction
Costs and
Discount

Total

2009
Interest-bearings
loans and
borrowings:
Fixed rate
Floating rate

P133,014
=
508,500

P
= 60,929
449,718

P
= 424,206
3,667,636

P
= 3,070
1,255,820

P
= 856,000
629,338

P
= 1,038,932
288,573

(P
= 277,083) P
= 2,239,068
(74,621)
6,724,964

2008
Interest-bearings
loans and
borrowings:
Fixed rate
Floating rate

P
=165,963
993,783

P
=126,480
108,000

=
P51,391
448,718

=
P420,421
3,547,636

=
P1,740
1,055,820

P
=1,896,096
339,410

(P
=340,870) =
P2,321,221
(100,184)
6,393,183

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than three
months. Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the
instrument. The other financial instruments of ABS-CBN that are not included in the above tables
are noninterest-bearing and are therefore not subject to interest rate risk.
As of December 31, 2009, benchmark interest rates, 3-month PDST-F, decreased by 270 basis
points since the end of 2008. Looking at past trends, however, this has not always been the case
with several periods showing some upward adjustments due to several market pressures. Based on
these experiences, ABS-CBN provides the following table to demonstrate the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of ABS-CBN’s
income before income tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on
the ABS-CBN’s equity other than those already affecting net income.
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Effect on Income
Before Income Tax
2008
2009

ABS-CBN:
Increase by 2%
Decrease by 2%
Sky Cable and PCC:
Increase by 1%
Decrease by 1%

(P
=120)
120

(P
=105)
105

(19)
19

(9)
9

Cash Flow (Liquidity) Risk
This risk refers to the Parent Company’s exposure to the risk of lower returns on its investments or
the necessity to borrow due to shortfalls in cash or expected cash flows, or variances in their
timing. The restructuring plan is based on cash flows from dividends and asset sales and these
may not come in as expected.
The Term Sheet circulated by the Parent Company to creditors on December 19, 2008 offers bullet
payment of the principal amount at 12.5 years from Effective Date (the date on which such
Signing Creditors accept the terms and conditions set out in the Term Sheet).
ABS-CBN seeks to manage its funds through cash planning on a weekly basis. This undertaking
specifically considers the maturity of the both financial investments and financial assets and
projected operational disbursements. As part of its liquidity risk management, ABS-CBN
regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flows. As a general rule, cash balance should be
equal to =
P200 million at any given time to compensate for operation exigencies in the periodic
absence of cash inflow.
It is ABS-CBN’s objective to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank credit and investment facilities. As such, ABS-CBN continuously
assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities. In
2008, ABS-CBN closed two fund raising activities with final maturity of up to 2015. However in
2009, ABS-CBN did not carry out any fund or capital raising activity. Currently, the debt
maturity profile of the Company ranges from 3.7 years to 7.0 years.
Also, ABS-CBN places funds in the money market only when there are surpluses from
ABS-CBN’s requirements. Placements are strictly made based on cash planning assumptions and
as much as possible, covers only a short period of time.
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents amounting to P
=4,454 million and P
=4,422 million as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, with maturity of less than one year are used to fund
the Company’s immediate liquidity requirements.
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 based on contractual payments.
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Within
One Year

One to
Two Years

Three to
Four Years

2009

Four to
Five Years

More than
Five Years

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings
Obligations for program rights
(see Note 21)
Convertible bonds
Customers’ deposits
(see Note 21)

= 9,218
P

=
P–

P
=–

P
=–

P
=–

=
P9,218

4,204

1,095

4,507

1,503

3,138

14,447

965
–

32
–

32
–

69
–

–
12

1,098
12

–
= 14,387
P

–
P
= 1,127

184
P
= 4,723

–
P
= 1,572

–
P
= 3,150

184
P
= 24,959

Within
One Year

One to
Two Years

Three to
Four Years

Four to
Five Years

More than
Five Years

Total

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans
and borrowings
Estimated liabilities from
guarantees and commitments
Obligations for program rights
Convertible bonds
Customers’ deposits

P
=12,482

=
P–

P
=–

P
=–

P
=–

=
P12,482

10,316

894

1,149

4,409

3,852

20,620

6,905
1,129
–
–
=30,832
P

–
32
–
–
=
P926

–
32
–
168
P
=1,349

–
32
–
–
P
=4,441

–
7
12
–
P
=3,871

6,905
1,232
12
168
P
=41,419

The financial liabilities of the Parent Company, except for trade and other payables, are due and
demandable since the Parent Company defaulted at maturity date. Interest is accrued and is
expected to be paid until such time that the liabilities are fully repaid. The Parent Company is
currently negotiating with its creditors for a restructuring of the direct and indirect obligations,
thus the maturity profile of financial liabilities above exclude interest.
Credit Risk
The Parent Company has advances in subsidiaries and associates but these comprise less than 5%
of assets. Trade receivables refer to accounts under ABS-CBN, which are managed at the
ABS-CBN level. The Parent Company does not offer credit terms for the provision of services as
a holding company.
ABS-CBN is exposed to credit risk from operational and certain of its financing activities. On
ABS-CBN’s credit risk arising from operating activities, ABS-CBN only extends credit with
recognized and accredited third parties. ABS-CBN implements a pay before broadcast policy to
new customers. To improve collections over ABS-CBN’s trade receivables, ABS-CBN grants
discounts on early payment. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Such determination takes into consideration the age of the receivable and the current solvency of
the individual accounts.
With regard to ABS-CBN’s financing activities, as a general rule, ABS-CBN transacts these
activities with counterparties that have a long credit history in the market and outstanding
relationship with ABS-CBN. The policy of ABS-CBN is to have the BOD accredit these banks
and/or financial institutions before any of these financing activities take place.
With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of ABS-CBN, which comprise trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, AFS equity investments, and receivables from
related parties, ABS-CBN’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
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- 88 There is no requirement for collateral over trade receivables since ABS-CBN trades only with
recognized and accredited counterparties.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is partly represented by the carrying amounts of the
financial assets that are reported in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Credit Risk Exposures. The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to on- and offstatement of financial position credit risk exposures (including derivatives) of ABS-CBN, without
considering the effects of collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation
techniques as of December 31:
2009

2008

P
=4,454

=4,222
P

5,715
130
–

5,082
189
5,310

–
470
P
=10,769

16
954
=15,773
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (excluding advances
to suppliers)
Due from related parties (see Note 25)
Notes receivable
Financial assets at FVPL Derivative assets not designated as accounting
hedges (included as part of “Other current
assets”)
AFS financial assets

Credit Quality per Class of Financial Asset. The credit quality of financial assets is being
managed by ABS-CBN using internal credit ratings. The following tables show the credit quality
by class of financial assets based on ABS-CBN’s credit rating system as of December 31, 2009
and 2008:
2009
Neither Past Due nor Impaired
Past Due but
Low
Moderate
High not Impaired
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in banks
Cash equivalents
Trade receivables:
Airtime
Subscriptions
Others
Nontrade receivables
Due from related parties
AFS financial assets

Impaired

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=1,693
2,761

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=1,693
2,761

5
84
22
19
–
–
P
=130

324
45
24
13
–
–
P
=406

1,003
189
298
183
2
469
P
=6,598

1,423
358
922
167
64
–
P
=2,934

415
110
52
59
64
–
P
=700

3,170
786
1,318
441
130
469
P
=10,768
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Neither Past Due nor Impaired
Past Due but
Low
Moderate
High not Impaired
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in banks
Cash equivalents
Notes receivable
Trade receivables:
Airtime
Subscriptions
Others
Nontrade receivables
Due from related parties
Total loans and receivables
Financial assets at FVPL Derivative assets*
AFS financial assets

Impaired

Total

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=–
–
–

P
=–
–
–

=
P1,475
2,747
5,310

=
P–
–
–

=
P–
–
–

=
P1,475
2,747
5,310

14
53
57
23
–
147

312
26
246
20
–
604

1,040
407
326
224
–
11,529

765
402
367
184
189
1,907

406
104
65
41
–
616

2,537
992
1,061
492
189
14,803

–
–
=147
P

–
–
P
=604

16
954
=
P12,499

–
–
=
P1,907

–
–
=
P616

16
954
=
P15,773

*Included as part of “Other current assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The credit quality of the Parent Company’s financial assets was determined as follows:
High Credit Quality. This includes deposits or placements to counterparties with good credit
rating or bank standing. For receivables, this covers, as of report date, accounts with good credit
standing.
Low Credit Quality. This includes deposits or placements and receivables to counterparties that
are not classified as “high credit quality.”
The credit quality of the financial assets of ABS-CBN was determined as follows:
High Credit Quality. This includes deposits or placements to counterparties with good credit
rating or bank standing. For receivables, this covers, as of report date, accounts of good paying
customers, with good credit standing and with no history of account treatment for a defined
period. This also include claims from Elite subscribers, advance payers, airtime and channel lease
with advance payment arrangements, related parties with offsetting arrangement and existing
employees.
Moderate Credit Quality. For receivables, this covers accounts of standard paying customers,
those whose payments are within the credit term, and new customers for which sufficient credit
history has not been established. This also includes claims from Superior subscribers, airtime and
channel lease and related parties without offsetting arrangement.
Low Credit Quality. For receivables, this covers accounts of slow paying customers and those
whose payments are received upon demand at report date. This also includes claims from Special
subscribers.
Trade Receivables
These represent amounts collectible from advertising agencies, advertisers or trade customers
arising from the sale of airtime, subscription, services and/or goods in the ordinary course of
business.
Airtime. This account refers to revenue generated from the sale of time or time block within the
on-air broadcast hours on television and radio.
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- 90 Subscription Fees. This account refers to revenue generated from regular subscriber’s fees for
either: (1) access to programs aired through DTH and cable television systems, or (2) direct sale of
publications to subscribers.
Others. This account refers to other revenue generated from the sale of goods and services.
Nontrade Receivables
These represent claims, arising from sources other than the sale of airtime, subscription, services
and goods in the ordinary course of business, that are reasonably expected to be realized in cash.
The tables below show the aging analysis of past due but not impaired receivables per class that
the Company held as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. A financial asset is past due when a
counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.
Neither Past
Due nor
Impaired

2009
Past Due but not Impaired
30 Days
Less than 30
and Over

Impaired

Allowance

Total

(Amount in Millions)

Trade receivables:
Airtime
Subscription fees
Others
Nontrade receivables
Due from related parties

= 1,332
P
317
343
279
2
= 2,273
P

Neither Past
Due nor
Impaired

P
= 308
127
159
27
–
P
= 621

P
= 1,115
231
764
139
64
P
= 2,313

2008
Past Due but not Impaired
30 Days
Less than 30
and Over

P
= 415
110
52
59
64
P
= 700

Impaired

(P
= 349)
(91)
(44)
(48)
(64)
(P
= 596)

Allowance

P
= 2,821
694
1,274
456
66
P
= 5,311

Total

(Amount in Millions)

Trade receivables:
Airtime
Subscription fees
Others
Nontrade receivables
Notes receivable
Due from related parties

P
=1,366
487
629
267
5,310
66
=8,125
P

P
=137
83
44
25
–
–
P
=289

P
=628
318
323
159
–
124
=
P1,552

P
=406
104
65
41
–
–
P
=616

(P
=281)
(94)
(26)
(39)
–
–
(P
=440)

P
=2,256
898
1,035
453
5,310
190
P
=10,142

Based on the cash flow projection, past due receivables are expected to be collected within 2010.
Capital Management
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to arrive at a debt restructuring
agreement with its creditors in order to maximize shareholder value and to ensure that it maintains
healthy capital ratios and strong credit ratings while viably supporting its business to maximize
shareholder value.
Capital refers to the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company. As discussed
in Note 1(b), the Parent Company defaulted on its principal and interest payments on its long-term
direct and indirect obligations. The Parent Company’s BSMP plans to address all its financial
obligations.
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- 91 The following are the Parent Company’s long-term direct and indirect obligations covered by the
BSMP:
2009

2008

P
=2,950
12

=8,642
P
12

–

6,905

(Amount in Millions)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Convertible bonds
Estimated liabilities from guarantees
and commitments

Under the BSMP, cash is reserved for debt service and working capital requirements. The Parent
Company has no material commitments for capital expenditures and has not made any major
investments since 2002. Proceeds of asset sales are placed in short-term financial instruments
under the Parent Company’s ISO-certified Money Market Operations procedure. Payment
requirements for goodwill interest and operating expenses are withdrawn using the same process.
ABS-CBN’s approach focuses on efficiently allocating internally generated cash for operational
requirements and investments to grow the existing business as well as to deliver on its
commitment of a regular dividend payout at a maximum of 50% of the previous year’s net
income. Shortages if any and acquisitions or investments in new business are funded by the
incurrence of additional debt largely capped by existing loan covenants on financial ratios.
As evidenced by the quarterly financial certificates that ABS-CBN issued to its lenders, all
financial ratios are within the required limits all throughout 2009 and 2008 as follows:
Financial Ratios
Debt to earnings before income
tax, depreciation
and amortization
Earnings before income tax
to financing cost
Debt service coverage ratio

Financial Ratios
Debt to earnings before income
tax, depreciation
and amortization
Earnings before income tax
to financing cost
Debt service coverage ratio

Required

1st Quarter

2009
2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

Less than or equal to 2.25

1.54

1.44

1.37

1.37

Greater than or equal to 3.00
Greater than or equal to 1.10

3.86
1.39

3.83
1.26

3.83
2.36

4.16
4.25

2008
2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

Required

1st Quarter

Less than or equal to 2.25

1.10

1.20

1.33

1.49

Greater than or equal to 3.00
Greater than or equal to 1.10

4.86
2.10

4.72
2.31

4.96
1.30

4.38
1.95

The following table shows the financial ratios that Sky Cable is required to maintain in accordance
with the DRA in December 31, 2009 and 2008:
Financial ratios
Current ratio
Total liabilities to equity
Debt service coverage ratio

Required
Greater than or equal to 0.34
Less than or equal to 26.89
Greater than or equal to 1.62

2009
0.87
0.84
0.94

2008
0.87
0.65
0.88

In 2009 and 2008, Sky Cable did not comply with the debt service coverage ratio as required by
the creditors in the agreement. In December 2009 and on November 3, 2008, Sky Cable received
a waiver of this ratio from the majority of its creditors as required by the agreement.
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The following table sets forth the carrying values and estimated fair values of consolidated
financial assets and liabilities recognized as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. There are no
material unrecognized financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.
Carrying
Amounts
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Notes receivable
Trade and other receivables - net
Advances to associates
AFS financial assets
Financial assets at FVPL Derivative assets designated as
accounting hedges*
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
at amortized cost:
Trade and other payables**
Interest-bearing loans
and borrowings
Estimated liabilities from
guarantees and commitments
Obligations for program rights
Customers’ deposits ***

2009
Fair Values

Carrying
Amounts

2008
Fair Values

(Amounts in Millions)

=4,454
P
–
5,249
–
470

=4,454
P
–
5,249
–
470

P4,222
=
5,310
4,831
4
954

=
P4,222
5,310
4,831
4
954

–
=10,173
P

–
=
P10,173

16
=15,337
P

16
P
=15,337

=8,844
P

=8,844
P

=11,228
P

P
=11,228

12,041

12,623

17,369

17,972

–
1,097
184
=22,166
P

–
1,109
156
=
P22,732

6,905
1,215
168
=36,885
P

6,905
1,297
166
P
=37,568

*** Included in “Other current assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
*** Excludes taxes payables.
*** Included as part of “Other noncurrent liabilities” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of
financial instrument for which it is practicable to estimate such value:
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Notes Receivable, Trade and Other Receivables and Trade and Other
payables, Current portion of Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings and Estimated Liabilities
from Guarantees and Commitments. Due to the short-term nature of transactions, the fair values
of these instruments approximate the carrying amounts as of reporting date.
AFS Financial Assets. The fair values of publicly-traded financial instruments were determined
by reference to market bid quotes as of reporting date. Investments in unquoted equity securities
for which no reliable basis for fair value measurement is available are carried at cost net of
impairment.
Obligations for Program Rights. Estimated fair value is based on the discounted value of future
cash flows using the applicable risk-free rates for similar types of loans adjusted for credit risk.
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- 93 Noncurrent Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings. Fair value was computed based on the
following:
Debt Type

Fair Value Assumptions

Term loan

Estimated fair value is based on the discounted value of future
cash flows using the applicable risk free rates for similar types
of loans adjusted for credit risk. The interest rates used to
discount the future cash flows have ranged from 4.5% for those
that are dollar-denominated and from 5.3% to 6.7% for those
that are peso-denominated.

Other variable rate loans

The face value approximates fair value because of recent and
frequent repricing (i.e., 3 months) based on market conditions.

Customers’ Deposits. The fair values were calculated by discounting the expected future
cashflows at prevailing credit adjusted MART1 interest ranging from 5.6% to 11.5% as of
financial reporting date.
Derivative Instruments
Cross Currency Swaps. In 2004, ABS-CBN entered into long-term cross currency swaps that
hedge 100% of the Tranche A Principal against foreign exchange risk. Under these agreements,
ABS-CBN effectively swaps the principal amount of certain US dollar-denominated loans under
the SCA into Philippine Peso-denominated loans with payments up to June 2009.
ABS-CBN is also obligated to pay swap costs based on a fixed rate of 8.0% on a notional amount
of =
P353 million, 5.125% on a notional amount of =
P55 million, 3-month PHIREF minus 2.9% on a
notional amount of =
P2 billion and 3-month PHIREF minus 3.1% on a notional amount of
=264 million.
P
On December 18, 2007, ABS-CBN prepaid all its outstanding loan obligations under Tranche A of
the SCA facility amounting to US$27 million (equivalent to =
P1,132 million). This made it
necessary for ABS-CBN to unwind the existing cross currency swaps. On December 20, 2007,
ABS-CBN paid =
P393 million to unwind the hedges. CTA amounting to =
P232 million previously
recorded in equity were recognized in the 2007 consolidated statement of income (see Note 30).
Interest Rate Swaps. To manage the interest rate exposure from the floating rate loans, ABS-CBN
also entered into USD interest rate swaps and PHP interest rate swaps which effectively swap
certain floating rate loans into fixed-rate loans. In 2007, the USD interest rate swaps have been
terminated as a result of the prepayment of the outstanding loan obligations under Tranche A of
the SCA facility. ABS-CBN received a total of US$12 million (equivalent to =
P539 million) as net
settlement for the unwinding of the interest rate swaps. CTA amounting to =
P44 million previously
recorded in equity were recognized in the 2007 consolidated statement of income (see Note 30).
Hedge Accounting Implications of Swaps. ABS-CBN’s principal-only currency swaps and USD
interest rate swap are designated as cash flow hedges on October 1, 2005 to manage ABS-CBN’s
exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to foreign exchange and interest rate risks of the
underlying debt obligations. Since the critical terms of the swaps and the outstanding debt
obligations coincide, the hedges are expected to exactly offset changes in expected cash flows due
to fluctuations in foreign exchange and the prime rate over the term of the debt obligations.
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- 94 From October 1, 2005 up to December 31, 2005, the effective net mark-to-market losses that have
been deferred in equity for these cash flow hedges amounted to 53 million (34 million, net of tax).
Prior to designation as cash flow hedges, the principal-only currency swaps accounted for markto-market losses in the consolidated statement of income of about 32 million (net of 316 million
gain on the swap differentials), while the USD interest rate swap accounted for mark-to-market
gains in the consolidated statement of income of 48 million.
As previously discussed, in December 2007, ABS-CBN terminated all outstanding cross currency
swap and interest rate swap contracts as a result of the prepayment of all the outstanding Tranch A
loan of the SCA facility. The net mark-to-market losses amounting to =
P277 million previously
recorded in equity were recognized in the 2007 consolidated statement of income (see Note 30).
As part of the transition adjustments as of January 1, 2005, ABS-CBN initially recognized an
aggregate amount of =
P117 million (P
=76 million net of tax), representing the fair value for the
principal-only currency swaps (net of the impact of the foreign exchange restatement) and the
USD and PHP interest rate swaps. This amount is initially recorded as a credit adjustment in CTA
(“initial CTA”) and will be amortized using the effective interest rate method over the remaining
term of the underlying related loans. Amortization of the initial CTA amounted to P
=54 million in
2007. This is recorded as a reduction in interest expense (see Note 30).
In 2006, the Company made a reassessment of its outstanding cross currency swap and interest
rate swap. The valuation of each swap transaction was remeasured to conform with the values
derived by each of the counterparties to the hedges. This recalibration resulted in the increase of
the derivative liability and decrease of the derivative asset by 105 million and 26 million,
respectively, in 2006.
The aggregate total of P
=131 million was then recorded in equity and was transferred to the 2007
consolidated statement of income when ABS-CBN terminated the hedge contracts as a result of
the prepayment of all outstanding Tranche A loans of the SCA facility in 2007.
In 2007, movements in the CTA in relation to derivative instruments are as follows:
Amounts

(In Millions)

Balance at beginning of year
Amounts taken to equity
Reversal of tax effect
Amounts transferred to profit and loss:
Due to the termination of hedged item
and related cross currency swap
Due to the termination of hedged item
and related interest rate swap
Amortization of initial CTA
Less tax effects of items taken directly to equity
Balance at end of year
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- 95 Embedded Derivatives. Sky Cable bifurcated embedded derivatives from its various nonfinancial
contracts. These are denominated in USD which is not the functional currency of Sky Cable or its
counterparty. The total notional amount as of December 31, 2008 amounted to $0.7 million. The
fair value of the embedded derivative assets as of December 31, 2008 amounted to P
=16 million.
The net movements in fair value changes of the Company’s derivative instruments as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
2009

2008

(Amounts in Millions)

Balance at beginning of year
Net changes in fair value of derivatives:
Not designated as accounting hedges

P
=16
–
(1)
15
(15)
P
=–

Less fair value of settled instruments
Balance at end of year

P–
=
33
–
33
(17)
=16
P

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are observable, either directly or directly.
Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
that are not based on observable market data.
The Company’s AFS investments carried at fair value as of December 31, 2009 based on Level 1
amounted to P
=175 million (see Note 15).
As of December 31, 2009, the Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value which is
based on Levels 2 and 3.
34. Commitments
Parent Company
a. Commitments to Purchase Bayantel Shares from Bayantel Shareholders
These commitments are fully discussed in Note 12d.
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- 96 ABS-CBN
b. Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessee
ABS-CBN and subsidiaries lease office facilities, space and satellite equipment. Future
minimum rentals payable under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows as of
December 31:
2008
2009
(Amounts in Millions)

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
After five years

P
=325
1,511
38
P
=1,874

=218
P
933
61
=1,212
P

c. Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessor
ABS-CBN has entered into commercial property leases on its building, consisting of the
ABS-CBN’s surplus office buildings. These non-cancelable leases have remaining
non-cancelable lease terms of between 3 to 5 years. All leases include a clause to enable
upward revision of the rental charge on a predetermined rate.
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows
as of December 31:
2009

2008

P
=13
27
P
=40

=12
P
38
=50
P

(Amounts in Millions)

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
d. Obligations under Finance Lease

ABS-CBN and ABS-CBN International has finance leases over various items of equipment.
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts together
with the present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows:
2009

2008

P
=132
80
212
17
195
120
P
=75

=165
P
191
356
41
315
140
=175
P

(Amount in Millions)

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Less amounts representing finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments
Less current portion
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- 97 e. Deal Memorandum with DirecTV
On June 1, 2005, ABS-CBN and ABS-CBN International entered into a 25-year Deal
Memorandum (Memorandum) with DirecTV in which ABS-CBN granted DirecTV the
exclusive right via satellite, internet protocol technology and satellite master antenna
television system or similar system, to display, exhibit, perform and distribute certain
programs of ABS-CBN that are listed in the Memorandum. ABS-CBN International may
engage in any marketing plan mutually agreed by both parties. All costs under any mutually
agreed marketing plans shall be shared equally between DirecTV and ABS-CBN
International.
As provided in the Memorandum, all rights, title and interest in and to the content, discrete
programs or channels not granted to DirecTV are expressly reserved by ABS-CBN. All
programming decisions with respect to the programs shall be in ABS-CBN’s commercially
reasonable discretion, including the substitution or withdrawal of any scheduled programs,
provided that ABS-CBN agrees that the programs will consist substantially the same content
and genre provided for in the Memorandum.
The Memorandum also provides for the following license fees to be paid by DirecTV to
ABS-CBN:
�

A license fee for each existing DTH subscriber of ABS-CBN International or a new
subscriber who becomes an activated subscriber during the migration period (from
June 2005 to February 2006); and

�

An additional license fee for each activated subscriber who becomes an activated
subscriber during the migration period that remains a subscriber for 14 consecutive
months.

The Memorandum also provides that subscription revenues, computed as the current and stand
alone retail price per month for a subscription to the The Filipino Channel multiplied by the
average number of subscribers, shall be divided equally between DirecTV and ABS-CBN
International.
Starting July 2005, existing DTH subscribers of ABS-CBN International have been migrating
to DirecTV. License fees earned from DirecTV amounted to =
P548 million in 2007
(representing additional license fee for each subscriber who became activated during the
migration period and remained a subscriber for 14 months). ABS-CBN International’s share
in the subscription revenue earned from subscribers that have migrated to DirecTV amounted
to =
P830 million in 2009, =
P797 million in 2008 and P
=772 million in 2007.
On January 17, 2006, ABS-CBN and DirecTV agreed to amend the Memorandum entered in
June 1, 2005 to include, among others the extension of the migration period from
February 2006 to August 2006. The contract on license fee of ABS-CBN with DirectTV
ended in October 2007.
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- 98 Sky Cable
f.

Purchase Commitments
Sky Cable has commitments with various program suppliers for a period of 1 to 5 years.
Channel license fees are based on fixed and variable rates. Estimated fees for the next three
years are as follows:
Year

Amount*
(In Millions)

2010
2011
2012

=
P48
10
1

* Includes variable fees based on the number of active subscribers
as of December 31, 2008.

The estimated fees include channel license fees contracted by Sky Cable for its subsidiaries,
amounting to =
P61 million, for which Sky Cable will be reimbursed.
35. Contingencies and Other Matters
a. ABS-CBN has contingent liabilities with respect to claims and lawsuits filed by third parties.
The events that transpired last February 4, 2006, which resulted in the death of 71 people and
injury to about 200 others led ABS-CBN to shoulder the burial expenses of the dead and
medical expenses of the injured, which did not result in any direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material to ABS-CBN. ABS-CBN has settled all of the funeral and medical
expenses of the victims of the tragedy. Given the income flows and net asset base of
ABS-CBN, said expenses do not constitute a material financial obligation of ABS-CBN, as
ABS-CBN remains in sound financial position to meet its obligations.
As of April 12, 2010, the claims in connection with the events of February 4, 2006 are still
pending and remain contingent liabilities. While the funeral and medical expenses have all
been shouldered by ABS-CBN, there still exist claims for compensation for the deaths and
injuries upon evaluation of these claims, the amount of which have not been declared and
cannot be determined with certainty at this time. ABS-CBN’s management is nevertheless of
the opinion that should there be any adverse judgment based on these claims, this will not
materially affect the Company’s financial position and performance.
b. In 1972, ABS-CBN discontinued its operations when the government took possession of its
property and equipment. In the succeeding years, the properties were used without
compensation to ABS-CBN by Radio Philippine Network, Inc. (RPN) from 1972 to 1979, and
Maharlika Broadcasting System (MBS) from 1980 to 1986. A substantial portion of these
property and equipment was also used from 1986 to 1992 without compensation to ABS-CBN
by People’s Television 4, another government entity. In 1986, ABS-CBN resumed
commercial operations and it was granted temporary permits by the government to operate
several television and radio stations.
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- 99 ABS-CBN, together with Chronicle Broadcasting System, filed a civil case on January 14,
1988 against Ferdinand E. Marcos and his family, RPN, MBS, et. al., before the
Sandiganbayan to press collection of the unpaid rentals for the use of its facilities from
September 1972 to February 1986 totaling =
P305 million plus legal interest compounded
quarterly and exemplary damages of P
=100 million.
ABS-CBN’s BOD resolved on June 27, 1991 to declare as scrip dividends, in favor of all
stockholders of record as of that date, whatever amount that may be recovered from the
foregoing pending claims and the rentals subsequently settled in 1995. The scrip dividends
were declared on March 29, 2000. In 2003, additional scrip dividends of =
P13 million were
recognized for the said stockholders.
On April 28, 1995, ABS-CBN and the government entered into a compromise settlement of
rental claims from 1986 to 1992. The compromise agreement includes payments to
ABS-CBN of P
=30 million (net of government’s counterclaim against ABS-CBN of
=68 million) by way of tax credits or other forms of noncash settlement as full and final
P
settlement of the rentals from 1986 to 1992. The TCCs were issued in 1998.
c. In relation to the consolidation of Sky Cable and Home Cable in 2004, a competitor television
broadcasting company (complainant) filed a case before the National Telecommunications
Commission (NTC) for unlawful merger and unlawful cross-ownership and common control
and operations of telecommunications companies and cable companies with a prayer for cease
and desist order. As of April 12, 2010, the hearing of this case is ongoing before the NTC.
Another case that stemmed from the said NTC case is also ongoing before the supreme court.
It is the opinion of Sky Vision’s legal counsels that the case filed by the complainant is
without legal basis and would not have material impact to the financial statements.

36. Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
2009
Noncash investing and financing
activities:
Acquisition of program rights on
account
Acquisition of minority interest
Acquisition of property and
equipment under capital lease
Payment of bonus through the
issuance of treasury shares by
ABS-CBN
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2008

2007

(Amounts in Millions)

P
=411
277

=773
P
–

=
P670
–

37

96

280

–

–

55
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SHAREHOLDER ASSISTANCE/INVESTOR RELATIONS

BENPRES HOLDINGS CORPORATION
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 449 2345

Cybele Lucero-Regalado
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 449 2418
F (632) 634 3009
Email ir_benpres@benpres.com.ph

ABS-CBN BROADCASTING CORPORATION
Sgt. Esguerra Avenue corner Mother Ignacia Street
1101 Diliman, Quezon City
T (632) 924 4101 to 22

STOCK AND TRANSFER AGENT
Securities Transfer Services, Inc.
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 631 8024 ext. 6151 to 6156

SkyCable Corporation
33/F East Tower, PSE Centre
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 636 9292
BAYAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS
HOLDINGS CORPORATION
BayanTel Corporate Center
Maginhawa corner Malingap Streets
Teachers Village East
1101 Diliman, Quezon City
T (63-2) 449 3000

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Sycip Gorres Velayo and Co.
SGV Building
6760 Ayala Avenue
Makati City
T (632) 891 0307

FIRST PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS CORPORATION
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 631 8024

LEGAL COUNSEL
The Law Firm of Quiason Makalintal
Barot Torres and Ibarra
21/F Robinsons – PCIBank Tower
ADB Avenue corner Poveda Road
Pasig City
T (632) 631 0981

First Gen Corporation
3/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 449 6400
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